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INSPIRED
BY YOU

To inspire hope is a cherished goal that we equally share 
and strive to achieve with each of our esteemed clients. Such 
values help build a workplace that thrives on positive energy 
and increases motivation which in turn inspires new Ideas, 
creating progress.

Progress coupled with strength and unity, drives success. We 
continue to be proud of our people’s relentless attitude and 
continuous dedication. We believe in their potential as much 
as we believe in the potential of all our clients in the Micro 
Finance & SME sectors.

At Berendina we strive to offer people hope, to inspire 
progress and achieve success!
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VISION

MISSION

STRATEGIC GOAL

Create an empowered, equitable society where poverty 
does not exist.

Ensure that the poor has access to quality microfinance and 
enterprise development services at the lowest possible cost, 
ensuring a prosperous future for this sector of society, in a 
financially sustainable manner.

To reduce poverty in the areas we work by reaching 100,000 
families consisting of minimum 30% minority communities and 
75% of women in a financially sustainable manner, by the end 
of 2016.
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ABOUT
THIS REPORT

This Annual Report covers the operations of Berendina Microfinance 
Institute (Guarantee) Limited (“BMI”) for the period from 1st January 2015 
to 31st December 2015. It provides a comprehensive discussion and 
analysis of the strategies that shaped our activities and performance 
during the year, as well as the future outlook for the organisation. The 
report covers our entire operations in Sri Lanka.

As an organisation which strongly believes in sustainable development, 
we have attempted to fairly represent the economic, social and 
environmental impacts caused by our daily activities. We aim to 
provide relevant financial and nonfinancial information with adequate 
discussion in order to fully represent our operations during the 
reporting period. Furthermore, the organisation’s outlook for the future 
is discussed in relation to our immediate and long-term social, financial 
and environmental goals.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
the Sri Lankan Financial Reporting Standards (LKAS/SLFRS) issued by 
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka. Assurance on the 
financial statements is provided by Ernst and Young.
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BMI at a Glance

69,839
CLUSTER 
MEMBERS

LKR

1.826 BN

LOAN 

PORTFOLIO

AVERAGE LOAN SIZELKR  36,606US$ 251

EDS
PARTICIPATION

28,140

INVESTMENT INSTAFF TRAININGLKR 3.62 MN

ACTIVEBORROWERS
69,590

PAR 1 DAY0.41% PAR 30 DAY0.37%

FEMALE
BORROWERS

81%

NO OF
BRANCHES17

NO OFDISTRICTS06

CASE LOADPER MFO 800
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Backed by our founder Berendina Stichting of the 
Netherlands, BMI was incorporated in the year 2007 as 
a not-for-profit organisation. While Berendina Stichting 
has continued to be our main donor and sponsor, over 
the course of the past 9 years BMI has been able to 
support the livelihoods of over 70,000 individuals through 
financial inclusion and job creation by providing both 
microfinancing and enterprise development services.

As an organisation focusing primarily on the impoverished, 
our key objective is to provide the necessary financial and 
non-financial assistance to poor communities in order to 
uplift their standard of living. The services offered by BMI 
can be classified into two main categories, namely the 
provision of Micro Credit and Enterprise Development 
Services.

Statistics reveal that the poorest 20% of Sri Lanka’s 
population receive less than 5% of the country’s total 
income. BMI’s target market consists of impoverished 
communities at the periphery of the economy. Given 
that these individuals are unable to provide collaterals 
required by banks, they are greatly hindered by the lack 
of access to formal credit at reasonable and affordable 
borrowing costs. in a convienient way Therefore all 
our efforts are geared towards changing the lives of 
these individuals by ensuring that the grassroots of our 
economy have access to equitable funding options, 
knowledge and skills. This, we believe, would give them 
the best possible chance to raise themselves out of 
poverty. 

ABOUT BMI
WHO WE ARE

WHAT WE DO
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Micro Credit
Micro Credit services of BMI involve the disbursement of 
small-sized, medium-tenured loans at affordable interest 
rates. Funding is provided for a range of purposes, 
including developing micro enterprises, constructing and 
renovating houses, agriculture, dairy and emergency. 
We believe micro credit has the potential to stimulate 
the establishment of new businesses owned by the poor 
while also enabling existing micro enterprises to grow and 
diversify their activities.

Enterprise Development Services (EDS)
The Micro Credit services are boosted by the 
organisation’s EDS initiative. The objective of the EDS 
service is to ensure the long-term sustainability and 
growth of the borrowers’ business ventures by developing 
a wide variety of their skills, which primarily includes their 
technical skills, business management skills and financial 
literacy. There is also an emphasis on the importance of 
attitudinal changes amongst the rural and plantation 
communities. Lack of self-confidence is one such key 
factor which hinders their progress. Additionally, BMI 
also provides councelling services and facilitates market 
linkages for its clientele via a dedicated team of skilled 
employees the organization has deployed for this 
purpose.

Our Credit Channels
BMI uses three key modes of delivery for its credit 
disbursement. The most commonly used method 
is the Cluster-based lending which involves the 
provision of credit to cluster members in informal 
credit groups. BMI also provides credit to plantation 
and estate sector workers through the Estate Worker 
Housing Co-operative Society (EWHCS) while agent-
based lending comprises disbursing loans to cluster 
members through a cluster leader, or designated 
cluster member, particularly in the event of an 
emergency.

Cluster-based Lending
The cluster-based lending approach utilized by BMI for 
its Micro Credit operations is a model now commonly 
used by other MFIs in Sri Lanka. Through this approach, 
each of BMI’s clusters consists of around 10 informal credit 
groups, each of which has 3 members. Borrowers are 
required to form groups with individuals of their choice 
and loans are extended to individual members. Prior to 
disbursement, BMI conducts a comprehensive assessment 
of the member’s credit worthiness. Once the loan is given, 
regular follow-ups are carried out on how the loan is 
being utilised. This approach allows the organisation to 
deal with well-defined, recognised groups and enables 
a wider coverage as well as better monitoring. Cluster 
members meet monthly to repay loans and submit new 
loan applications. By end-2015, BMI catered to around 
2,832 clusters, serving a member base of approximately 
69,839 individuals.

Lending through plantation co-operative
BMI was the first MFI to extend its services to plantation 
workers, a relatively under-served segment of the labour 
force given the perception of high risk attached to these 
workers. BMI disburses credit facilities to estate sector 
workers through the Estate Worker Housing Co-operative 
Society (EWHCS). By end of 2015, BMI is catering to over 
7,742 clients in 46 estates in the Nuwara Eliya and Kegalle 
Districts.

Agent-based lending
In addition to the provision of micro credit through 
clusters, BMI also serves its rural clientele by providing 
loans for emergency situations such as critical illness of 
a family member, funerals and educational needs of 
children. As a segment that is generally overlooked by 
financial institutions, these low-income families typically 
face numerous challenges in obtaining credit during the 
times of emergency. While these individuals have the 
option of accessing informal money lending sources, the 
high interest rates and unfavourable terms exert added 
pressure on the borrowers.

BMI emergency loans are disbursed through Agents, who 
are typically leaders or designated cluster members 
from well-performing clusters. BMI lends in bulk to these 
selected agents, who in turn disburse loans to cluster 
members. This lending scheme plays a vital role in 
supporting these low-income households during their 
times of need, many of which have no viable alternative. 
In 2015, BMI had 525 active agents, through whom it 
disbursed emergency loans.
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About BMI Contd.

How we work with others
Partnerships
The strength of our partnerships has played a crucial 
role in our success story. Over the years, our commitment 
to our cause has enabled BMI to consistently create new 
partnerships with a range of local and international 
bilateral organisations and development agencies. In 
addition to obtaining funding, these partnerships have 
also facilitated transfer of technical knowledge.

SLSB

SLSB, formerly The National Development Trust Fund, is 
BMI’s longest-standing credit partner, with the partnership 
dating back to 2007. SLSB provides refinancing loans to 
BMI through its Microfinance unit.

Etimos

Etimos is a transnational cooperative consortium 
including over 280 organisations across the globe. Etimos 
Lanka was established in 2007, as a company registered 
under the Board of Investment (BOI). BMI partnered Etimos 
in 2009.

Stromme Microfinance

SMAGL is the leading not-for-profit wholesale lenders 
for the microfinance sector in Sri Lanka. The partnership 
with them commenced in 2009, and since then BMI has 
received both financial and technical support from this 
organisation.

NDB

As BMI’s first commercial banking partner, NDB provided 
funding to BMI through its Small and Medium Enterprises 
loan scheme in 2012.

DFCC Bank

The partnership between BMI and DFCC commenced 
in 2012. DFCC offered funding under a guarantee in the 
form of a Stand by Letter of Credit by Grameen Credit 
Agricole Microfinance Foundation in Luxembourg and 
also provided new clean loan to BMI in 2015.

HNB

BMI joined hands with HNB in 2012. Initially, the loan 
facility was given based on the security of loan guarantee 
from United Prosperity; a web-based fund-raising 
organization in USA. In the year under review, HNB 
granted a loan facility at very competitive terms, the best 
ever in the history of BMI.

Commercial Bank

Commercial Bank became BMI’s partner in 2014 with 
the loan facility through their Development Credit Unit to 
further expand BMI loan portfolio 
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Plan Sri Lanka

Plan is one of the largest and the oldest children’s 
development organisations in the world and Plan Sri 
Lanka’s history dates back to 1981. BMI partnered with 
Plan Sri Lanka in 2012 for a three year project having an 
objective of economic empowerment in Plan families at 
MaNuPa and Kahatagasdigiliya areas in Anuradhapura 
district, through micro loans and enterprise development 
services. Currently BMI serves around 3,524 Plan families 
under this programme.

HelpAge

BMI further expanded its coverage to senior citizens, 
another underserved community. BMI partnered with 
HelpAge in 2013. The partnership has the primary 
objective of empowering senior citizens through 
microfinancing. Currently, the grants obtained through this 
partnership has been utilised to provide loans for income 
generating ventures for senior citizens in Kegalle, Nuwara 
Eliya, Anuradhapura and Trincomalee areas.

YBSL

YBSL become BMI’s partner in 2015 with the loan facility to 
disbursed micro loans among young entrepreneurs age 
between 18 to 35 years 

Memberships
BMI has also obtained memberships in several national 
and international microfinance industry associations, 
which has enabled knowledge sharing and improved 
BMI’s visibility. The organisation is a member of the 
Microfinance Practitioners’ Association, the coordinating 
body for microfinance activities in the country. 
Additionally, membership in the Banking With The 
Poor Network and financial and social performance 
reporting to the Microfinance Information Exchange 
(MIX) has enhanced BMI’s international visibility. BMI also 
has membership in the Start and Improve Your Business 
Association (SIYB).

Contributing Towards Collective Learning
BMI’s expertise in microfinance and development 
activities has meant that we regularly get selected to 
share our knowledge and showcase our proficiency 
to other parties. This provides us the ideal platform to 
contribute towards collective learning. Over the years, 
our business practices and operational model have 
drawn numerous MFIs as well as both international and 
local development organisations to study our activities in 
order to expand and improve their own operations.

In March 2015, BMI facilitated an exposure visit for Child 
Fund Sri Lanka whereby a group of 90 participants 
visited the BMI branches in Valaichchennai, Trincomalee, 
Serunuwara and Thampalgamuwa. The objective of the 
visit was to gain an understanding about BMI’s overall 
operations and learn from BMI’s experience in the sector. 
During the 3-day visit, the group observed BMI’s branch 
operations by visiting a cluster meeting in progress 
and also visited a few clients in the area. Similarly, in 
December 2015, a team of 11 delegates from Self-
help Development (CSD) in Nepal visited BMI with the 
aim of sharing knowledge and to obtain an overall 
understanding of BMI operations. CSD is an organization 
that supports MFIs by helping to create and enhance skills 
and knowledge of self-help groups and organizations at 
the grassroot level.
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LOAN PORTFOLIO

15.4%

“The 3-year Strategic and Business Plan 

outlined in 2014 was put into effect 

during the year and it has shown

positive results in 2015”

CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE
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LOAN PORTFOLIO

15.4%

“The 3-year Strategic and Business Plan 

outlined in 2014 was put into effect 

during the year and it has shown

positive results in 2015”

As we come to the end of another financial year, I am 
pleased to present to you the Annual Report and the 
Audited Financial Statements for Berendina Microfinance 
Institute (Guarantee) Limited for the financial year ended 
31st December 2015. This review will be my final review as 
Chairman of BMI as I will be moving on to new challenges 
that await me. Further details on this will be revealed 
towards the end of this review.

BMI’s Founding Principles
Berendina Microfinance Institute (BMI) is an organization 
that has always aimed to create an empowered, 
equitable society devoid of poverty, by ensuring that the 
poor have the means to access quality microfinance and 
enterprise development services at the lowest possible 
cost. This, we believe, will ensure a prosperous future for 
these poor families and bring happiness into their lives 
as well as the communities they live in. However, it must 
be pointed out that, despite the proliferation of financial 
institutions in all parts of the island, the inability for these 
individuals to acquire loans at a reasonable interest rate 
continues to be a challenge, which makes our work all the 
more critical.

BMI uses microfinance as a poverty alleviation tool, not 
as a finance tool that generates large profits as is seen 
in other microfinance institutions (MFIs) in the country. 
While microfinance is our primary focus for poverty 
alleviation, Berendina as a group also concentrates 
our efforts on areas such as education of bright children 
from poor families, water, sanitation, elders and youth, 
among others. Empowering women has also been a key 
focus of BMI from inception as the organization strongly 
believes that empowering women and enabling income 
generation has a positive, cascading effect on the entire 
household leading to a better quality of life for the whole 
family mainly due to the fact that women contribute 
larger portions of their income to household consumption.

The founding principles of BMI encapsulate several 
aspects when aiming for the goal of poverty alleviation. 
While disbursing the loan we do not insist on physical 
collaterals from the borrowers since our target market 
consists of individuals who do not have the access to 
formal credit at reasonable and affordable rate owing 
to their inability to provide collateral required by banks. 
Moreover, we are of the strong opinion that credit alone is 
not sufficient for an individual to start and build a business 
venture. It has to be what we call Credit Plus, i.e. credit 
backed up by the passing on of a wide range of relevant 
skills and knowledge that helps them grow their business. 
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Chairman’s Review Contd.

As a responsible organization, BMI emphasizes on 
transparent and ethical practices at all times. All of BMI’s 
funds are sourced from reputed organizations such as 
banks, MFI lenders, NGOs and charity organisations. 
Additionally, it must be emphasized that BMI charges 
a very low interest rate that is sufficient to cover the 
organization’s overheads and generate a reasonable 
profit required for sustainability of the operations. This is 
in contrast to the exorbitant interest rates charged by the 
several purely profit-oriented microfinance institutions 
in the country, a scenario that has made life difficult for 
these segments of society to escape poverty and improve 
their lives.

By the end of 2015, I am proud to state that we have 
an active borrower base of nearly 70,000 individuals 
in various poverty-stricken areas across the island. 
Through careful planning and prudent measures, we 
have been able to successfully support the initiation of 
entrepreneurial ventures, expansion of existing ventures 
and acquisition of assets as well as boost agricultural 
and dairy activities. We have also sought to support the 
marginalised sectors of the society, such as plantation 
sector workers, rural women and senior citizens, providing 
them hope of a brighter future.

Sri Lanka’s Microfinance Landscape
With the political upheaval in 2015, the microfinance 
industry made some progress in 2015 as steps were taken 
by the new Government to fast-track the introduction 
of the Microfinance Act. We are hopeful that this Act 
will be enacted as soon as possible in 2016 as it will 
help to rein in all MFIs and bring them all on to the same 
page so that the customer is eventually able to reap the 
benefits. It must be stated that other than BMI, there are 
only a handful of NGOs and companies that engage 
in microfinance services that operate in a responsible 
manner and portray a genuine interest in the well-being 
of the clients. Currently, as a result of so many purely profit-
oriented financial institutions being in the market, there 
has been an oversupply of funds for borrowers to tap into 
which has unfortunately led to instances where individuals 
from vulnerable communities would borrow from several 
financial institutions, struggle to make repayments and fall 
further into debt.

The year in review
There was a consistently high demand for microfinancing 
facilities during the year and, as in previous years, several 
financial institutions entered the market to cater to this 
need. Demand for BMI’s products remains high and our loan 
portfolio recorded a 15.4% growth during the year, slightly 
lower than the 18% recorded in 2014.

Through Berendina Micro Investments Company Limited 
(BMIC), a not-for-profit company established by us in 
2014, we were able to obtain a LKR 240 million loan - a 
significantly high figure - from Grameen Credit Agricole 
Microfinance Foundation in Luxembourg. Hatton National 
Bank (HNB) also granted us a loan of LKR 200 million 
during the year which is in addition to the LKR 100 million 
they provided us in 2014. We were able to obtain both 
loans at very favourable terms and condition and it was 
a timely boost in our quest to increase our funding levels. 
Meanwhile, BMIC continued its steady progress during 
the year by widening its outreach with the addition 
of branches in Horowpathana in the Anuradhapura 
District and in the Kaluvanchikudy, Arayampathy and 
Chenkalady areas of the Batticaloa District.

The 3-year Strategic and Business Plan outlined in 2014 
was put into effect during the year and it has shown 
positive results in 2015, which is the first of the 3 years in 
question. The plan was devised with assistance from 
Goodwill Consultancy, a leading Dutch microfinance 
capacity building company and Uvades Consulting 
Limited, an organization headed by a senior Sri Lankan 
based overseas. During the year under review we 
commenced the implementation our state-of-the-art IT 
solution. The system is expected to be up and running in 
the Head Office and most, if not all, BMI branches by the 
end of 2016.

Development and retention of our human capital 
was challenging as in previous years. Several training 
programmes, focusing on technical and soft skills, were 
conducted with the help of internal experts and external 
trainers while employee benefits were increased to 
motivate the staff to continue performing at the highest 
level possible. Key, high-performing staff members 
were sent abroad for training and exposure. We also 
introduced a recognition programme to identify the 
top-performing individuals across all branches. The key 
attribute of this programme is the stringent selection 
process that was put in place in order to properly identify 
the most deserving candidates based on several criteria

The role of sustainability
At BMI, sustainability is a key aspect that is embedded 
into our culture and is aligned with our goal of creating 
opportunities for equitable growth. As always, we will 
continue to focus on adding value to individuals and 
groups within vulnerable communities, taking them away 
from poverty and towards a future full of hope.
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Given the low interest rate we offer, which gives us a 
significant edge over most of the other MFIs, and the 
growing demand for microfinancing services, we foresee 
a continuous growth in our outreach in the coming years. 
Our increasing partnerships with various organizations, 
increased access to both foreign and local funding and 
robust internal systems and procedures will also help us 
to demonstrate business sustainability. Additionally, with 
a legal framework in Sri Lanka looking more promising 
in the near future, BMI will be better placed to provide 
service to our clientc while other MFIs, primarily the 
purely profit-driven ones, will have to make significant 
adjustments to their business model in order to compete 
within the new environment which curtails some of their 
questionable activities and provides more benefits and 
security to the client. Meanwhile, our continued focus on 
acquiring, developing and retaining our best talents will 
be instrumental in ensuring that we provide the best to our 
clients at all times.

We also emphasize on environmental sustainability as the 
very nature of our activities also gives us the opportunity 
to preserve and enrich our environment. We shall continue 
to build awareness amongst our client base about the 
importance of preserving the environment for future 
generations and will furnish them with the requisite 
knowledge to create positive environmental change 
through their micro enterprises.

Future Outlook
The main expectation for the immediate future is the 
introduction of the Microfinance Act which will provide a 
robust regulatory framework to govern the operations 
of the country’s growing MFIs. Some of the key changes 
that we anticipate are changes that give BMI the right 
to accept deposits from customers, granting of the 
opportunity to access foreign funds and permission to 
carry out operations in any district in Sri Lanka.

BMI will continue to search for marginalised communities 
we can serve, creating opportunities for sustainable 
economic growth. We will expand our branch network in 
areas where we can provide these groups easy access 
to our services. In parallel, we will focus on developing 
our human capital by enhancing the current work 
environment while concurrently equipping all team 
members with the skills and knowledge required to thrive 
in this fast-changing industry.

Acknowledgements
I would like to take this opportunity to inform that I 
relinquished my duties as the Chairman of the Berendina 
Group on 31st December 2015 and hence this shall 
be my final review. I shall be focusing all my energies on 
Give2Lanka, a not-for-profit organization that provides a 
fundraising hub for varying institutions to raise funds. The 
new Chairman, Mr. Anura Atapattu, is no stranger to the 
Berendina Group and I am very confident that under his 
leadership the Group will reach even greater heights and 
leave an indelible mark in our battle to alleviate poverty 
in Sri Lanka.

I wish to state my appreciation to the Board of Directors 
for the support extended to me, not only during the 
year, but also in the years prior. On behalf of the Board 
of Directors, I express my sincere gratitude to Berendina 
Stichting, our funding partners and parties who provided 
us financial loans and guarantees. I am also indebted to 
the wonderful BMI team who have never failed to impress 
me with their hard work, dedication and passion. Last but 
not least, I would like to say a big “Thank you” to our loyal 
clients who not only placed their trust in us by making on-
time repayments but also demonstrated their desire to 
improve their business ventures and their lives by regularly 
attending the cluster meetings and trainings we offer. 
Such enthusiasm and determination from them is a sure 
sign that BMI has a special place in their hearts and will 
continue to do so for years to come.
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Dulan De Silva
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30 March 2016



Berendina Microfinance Institute (Guarantee) Limited
Annual Report - 2015

Berendina Microfinance Institute (Guarantee) Limited
Annual Report - 2015

16

DIRECTORS’ MESSAGE



Berendina Microfinance Institute (Guarantee) Limited
Annual Report - 2015

Berendina Microfinance Institute (Guarantee) Limited
Annual Report - 2015

17



Berendina Microfinance Institute (Guarantee) Limited
Annual Report - 2015

Berendina Microfinance Institute (Guarantee) Limited
Annual Report - 2015

18

Directors’ Message Contd.

As Berendina Microfinance Institute (Guarantee) Limited 
arrives at the conclusion of another financial year, it is 
time for us to glance back at the 12 months of 2015 and 
take you through the highlights of what can be termed as 
another challenging year. We are proud to state that BMI 
stood firm in the face of numerous challenges and is now 
better equipped to face the uncertainties that tomorrow 
brings.

Microfinance Landscape 
2015 witnessed a significant change in the political 
landscape of the country as a new Executive President 
took office in January and a new government came 
into power by August. This change in government had a 
relatively positive impact on the Microfinance industry 
as one of the milestones in the government’s “100 day 
programme” was to fast-track the introduction of the 
Microfinance Act. Although they were unable to get 
the Act successfully passed through the due legislation 
process during the year itself, it must be noted that certain 
progress was made which makes BMI hopeful that the Act 
will come into effect in the near future.

However, one area of concern is the increase of purely 
profit-oriented Microfinance Institutions (MFIs) providing 
lending services with unfavourable terms and conditions 
to the poor. This situation is bound to worsen into the 
future until the Microfinance Act is introduced, after which 
it will come under control to a certain extent. Eventually, 
over time this negative environment will come to an end, 
thereby providing a level playing field for all MFIs.

Consistent Performance
BMI was able to record a steady performance during the 
year having continued its upward growth trajectory for 
another year. The steady demand for BMI’s microfinance 
products meant that our loan portfolio registered a 
15.4% growth during the year, a slight dip from the 18% 
recorded in 2014. We were able to achieve 98% of this 
year’s annual growth target which was, in fact, higher than 
the industry average for not-for-profit Non-Governmental 
Organisations (NGOs).

During 2015, BMI’s Interest Income rose by 21% YoY to 
reach a record LKR 438 million driven by the interest 
income generated from the organization’s micro credit 
loan facilities. BMI recorded its highest-ever profit after 
taxation of LKR 77 million during the year, an impressive 
71% increase from the LKR 46 million achieved in 2014. 

Key Highlights of the Year
Funding Boost

During the previous financial year, we established a new 
public, not-for-profit company named Berendina Micro 
Investments Company Limited in order to overcome our 
funding limitations. This new company allowed BMI to 
access much-needed foreign loans, thereby improving 
our funding levels significantly. The first loan we obtained 
through this new company was a LKR 240 million loan 
from Grameen Credit Agricole Microfinance Foundation 
in Luxembourg. It must be pointed out that this is a 
remarkably high figure and it highlights the confidence 
this lending organization has in BMIC even though it’s a 
newly-formed company. We were also granted a second 
loan from Hatton National Bank (HNB) amounting to LRK 
200 million on top of the LRK100 million we obtained 
from them in 2014. Both loans were granted at very 
competitive terms and further boosted our funding levels. 
Additionally, BMI was also able to secure a collateral-free 
loan for LKR 100 million from DFCC Bank.

EDS Programme

Our Enterprise Development Services (EDS) programme, 
which ensures the long-term sustainability and growth 
of the borrowers’ business ventures by developing their 
technical skills, business management skills and financial 
literacy, continued to serve those in need of such services. 
During the course of another eventful year for the EDS 
team, we conducted 1,351 training sessions, up from 
the 1,180 conducted in 2014 while serving over 29,140 
clients, a significant increase from the 22,436 clients 
served in 2014.

Financial Literacy training, which focuses on the vital 
aspect of educating BMI clients on how to properly 
manage their finances, continued to play an important 
role in the client education process. During the year 2015, 
12,002 BMI clients underwent training via 604 Financial 
Literacy training programmes.

In addition to the primary list of Type “A” Services, BMI also 
offers Type “B” Services that focused on areas such as 
business follow-up and counselling services, facilitating 
of market linkages between clients as well as clients and 
external parties and assisting clients in the registration 
process of small businesses, among many others. During 
the year, BMI provided such services to more than 3,542 
clients without charging any fee. 
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Berendina Suwasahana

Berendina Suwasahana benefit scheme, which supports 
BMI clients during difficult times in their lives, assisted 
1,976 individuals (LKR 2.86 million) for hospitalization and 
920 individuals (LKR 4.58 million) for funeral expenses. 

Best Entrepreneur Awards

The “Best Entrepreneur Awards”, an event held every 
two years, was conducted during the year under review. 
170 entrepreneurs from 17 branches in 6 districts took 
part in this competition for the 5 National-level and 20 
Regional-level awards. After a stringent selection process, 
BMI handed out awards with cash prizes, plaques and 
certificates to the respective winners. 

WPF Best Field Officer Award

Mr. Dilshan Ranasingha, a Micro Finance Officer from the 
Mawanella branch of BMI who also won “Best Employee 
of the Year 2013”, was selected as one of the top 
finalists of 2015 Asia Field Officer appreciation awards 
conducted by Whole Planet Foundation (WPF).

Overseas Tour for Best Employees

The “Best Employees” in 2013, which included a group 
of 12 best performing staff from the Head Office and 
branches, were given a foreign tour in September. 
BMI selected “BASIX Academy for Livelihoods and 
Micro-Enterprise Promotion” in Hyderabad, India as a 
facilitator for this excursion that exposed them to present 
management practices in neighbouring countries while 
also serving to develop staff capacity and motivation.

Exposure Visit Facilitation

BMI organized two exposure visits with the objective of 
sharing among the industry practitioners both locally 
and internationally. During March 2015, a group of 
90 individuals from Child Fund Sri Lanka visited BMI 
branches in Valaichchenai, Trincomalee, Serunuwara and 
Thampalgamuwa. Similarly, in December, a team of 11 
delegates from Center for Self-help Development (CSD) of 
Nepal visited BMI.

IT Solution

Having carried out the preliminary work for acquiring 
a new IT solution that is specifically designed and 
developed for microfinance organizations in 2014, 
during the year under review we commenced the next 
phase of the implementation process. The data of this 
cutting-edge solution will be hosted on the cloud with 
remote access via mobile devices such as laptops, tablets 
and smartphones using ADSL connections and mobile 
broadband dongles.

The selected vendor, a reputed IT firm in India, sent a 
team to BMI and mapped out the initial scope of the 
system and obtained necessary approvals from BMI. 
Subsequently, they have developed the initial system 
and soon will be conducting online demonstrations 
for feedback. They are expected to return to carry out 
the pilot run in the Head Office and two branches. On 
successful completion of the pilot run, the system will 
be scaled up across all branches and is expected to be 
running smoothly by the end of 2016.

Mobile Payments

During the previous financial year, we partnered with 
a leading mobile operator and commenced a pilot 
initiative for a mobile payment solution that allowed 
clients to pay directly to our account through their mobile 
phone, saving time and money for both the client and BMI 
employees. This initiative has shown slow progress due to 
various issues at the client end. However, we are hopeful 
that we can rekindle their interest for this new technology 
which will undoubtedly make the loan repayment process 
faster and more efficient for all parties concerned.

Human Capital

BMI has earned a reputation amongst MFIs as 
an organization that provides probably the best 
microfinance-related training to its employees. While 
this is a positive development, the downside is that our 
employees are regularly headhunted by other MFIs, 
especially the ones that generate higher profits through 
higher interest rates and thereby have greater income 
to offer more competitive salaries and incentives. These 
competitors are of the belief that hiring BMI staff with 
in-depth knowledge of BMI’s operational systems and 
procedures is an asset to them. Despite a few setbacks, 
we have been able to combat this issue of staff turnover 
by introducing various mechanisms that boost our 
chances of retaining the best talents. It is heartening to 
note that some employees who joined other MFIs have 
also returned to BMI, a clear indication that our culture 
and work environment is at a very high level within the 
industry.

Bright Student Scholarships

During the year, BMI partnered with Berendina 
Employment Center (BEC) to provide financial assistance 
for Bright Student Scholarships (BSS). Through BSS, BEC 
is currently providing scholarships for 1,000 students at 
Grade 5, O/L and A/L with plans to expand the program 
to provide 5,000 scholarships by year 2020. BMI initiated 
a fund raising activity using EDS coupons from the BMI 
client base. Accordingly, around 21,000 EDS coupons 
were donated by clients to the value of LKR 5.9 million.
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Looking Ahead
We are hopeful that the progress made in the 
Microfinance Act in 2015 will be sustained in 2016 and 
that the Act will come into effect during the year. This 
would mean that all MFIs will have to fall in line with the 
regulatory framework put in place by reducing their 
interest rates and their pursuit of profit. We believe that 
this would provide BMI with the opportunity to diversify 
our product portfolio into savings and micro insurance. 
Additionally, we are hopeful of other extensions of 
external borrowing facilities for government and private 
organizations.

BMI will continue to support Lanka Microfinance 
Practitioners’ Association (LMFPA) to successfully carry 
out and further improve the existing activities of the 
LMFPA, such as member profile publication, lobbying 
and capacity development activities. Additionally, BMI 
will continue to back the introduction of a microfinance-
focused Credit Information Bureau to gather credit and 
financial information on borrowers and prospective 
borrowers of MFIs as this is a much-needed entity for 
the industry to curb the financial indiscipline that is 
unfortunately spreading amongst the clients. 

While BMI loans sizes remained more or less the same 
during the last few years, BMI attempted to rectify this 
by partnering with Sri Lanka Savings Bank (SLSB). This 
partnership was not successful due to resource capacity 
of the bank to deploy staff for credit appraisals and 
therefore resulted in a limited number of loans. However, 
BMI will continue to work on increasing its loan sizes for 
graduating clients depending on funding availability.  BMI 
believes this will help to reduce the occurrence of multiple 
borrowing, especially from high interest rate lenders.

We intend to expand our outreach by opening branches 
in specific locations such as the Northern Province as 
well as untapped areas deep in the Batticaloa District. 
Meanwhile, as mentioned above, the progress on the new 
IT solution will be closely monitored in order to have it fully 
deployed in all branches by the end of 2016. 

Acknowledgements
It is with regret that we inform of the departure of our 
Founding Chairman Mr. Dulan de Silva from the Berendina 
family as he pursues new challenges in life. His review for 
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partners and numerous other parties who have all played 
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year of success. We are also thankful to the Corporate 
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Korakallimadu is one of BMI’s operation villages located 
in the Koralaipattu South Divisional Secretariat in the 
Batticaloa District. There are 250 direct beneficiaries with 
6 clusters in this village. Koralaipattu VC/KO/02 is one of 
the cluster which took an Emergency Loan for their cluster 
members for various emergency purposes. There are 
30 members in this cluster with more than 90% cluster 
attendance. The BMI MFO has observed a 100% cluster 
recovery which meant that they were eligible to obtain an 
Emergency Loan. 

Ms. Viramuttu Maheswary, the leader of this cluster 
for the past 18 months, expressed her feeling about 
the Emergency Loan stating, “Berendina is the first 
microfinance company which is providing us this kind 
of assistance. Our village people always struggle to 
manage their emergency needs such as unexpected 
deaths, children’s educational needs and many others. 
Some of our clients’ children are sometimes unable to 
go to school due to lack of school books, stationery and 
uniforms but now the situation is manageable thanks to 
these Emergency Loans. We received an Emergency Loan 
of LKR 25,000 on September 2015 and from October to 

December 2015, we were able to assist 26 clients out 
of 30 clients. 30% of clients felt they did not have any 
urgent needs at that time and advised us to give those 
loans to the needy people. While 50% of clients took 
this loan for their medicinal expenses, Mrs. Sathananthy 
used this money to purchase a pair of shoes for her son. 
Her son refused to go to school because he doesn’t have 
shoes and the school disciplinary committee informed 
him not to come to school without shoes. He felt he was 
discriminated against due to his shoes and he told his 
mother that he was unable to go to school without shoes 
as fellow students look at him in a different way. So she 
came to cluster leader, took an emergency loan and 
purchased the shoes for her son. Now he is able to go 
to school without any problems and can focus on his 
studies. This made me proud as a leader as we are able 
to make a difference in these people’s lives. I thank BMI 
for providing this opportunity for us. We expect that the 
provided amount will be increased in the future so that 
we can help more people in their urgent needs. Also, the 
system of monitoring, documentation and training is very 
useful for us to carry forward this loan system.”

Emergency funding that makes a 
big difference



Berendina Microfinance Institute (Guarantee) Limited
Annual Report - 2015

Berendina Microfinance Institute (Guarantee) Limited
Annual Report - 2015

22

BOARD OF DIRECTORS



Berendina Microfinance Institute (Guarantee) Limited
Annual Report - 2015

Berendina Microfinance Institute (Guarantee) Limited
Annual Report - 2015

23

Dulan De Silva
Chairman

Skills and Experience:

Pioneer in the Microfinance and development sector 
of Sri Lanka. Extensive senior consultancy experience 
in Microfinance in over 15 countries in Asia and Africa 
working with World Bank, Asian Development Bank, 
United Nations Development Programme, and Food 
and Agriculture Organisation, among others. Holds a 
Master’s Degree in Business Administration from Florida 
State University, USA and is an Associate Member of the 
Chartered Institute of Management Accountants, UK.

Current Appointments:

Chairman - Berendina Development Services (Gte)   
 Limited

Chairman - Berendina Employment Centre (Gte) Limited

Director - Palm Foundation

Anura Atapattu
Director

Skills and Experience:

Extensive management and consultancy experience 
in Microfinance and enterprise development services, 
for local and international organisations including 
World Bank, Asian Development Bank, United Nations 
Development Programme, Women’s World Banking and 
Mix Market. He holds a Master’s of Business Administration 
from the University of Lincoln, UK, a Postgraduate Diploma 
in Economic Development, Certificate in Agriculture 
Extension and Rural Development from the University of 
Reading and a B.Sc. in Agriculture (Special) Sri Lanka.

Current Appointments:

Director  - Berendina Development Services (Gte) Limited

Chairman - Berendina Micro Investments Company   
 Limited

Director - Berendina Employment Center (Gte) Limited

Director - Development Facilitators (Pvt) Limited

Jagath Godakanda
Director

Skills and Experience:

Independent Consultant for local and international 
organisations in enterprise development. He holds a B.Sc. 
in Agriculture (Special) (Sri Lanka) and a Postgraduate 
Diploma in Business Management from the National 
Institute of Business Management.

Current Appointments:

Director - Berendina Development Services (Gte) Limited

Director - Berendina Employment Center (Gte) Limited
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Residing in the Panathawa village in the Galigamuwa 
District secretariat division in Kegalle, Mr. H.A. Jayathileka 
has been in business for making and sewing men’s clothes 
since 2005. Following his move to Hanwella town, Mr. 
Jayathileka was able to develop sales to a small-scale 
business. However, the business was marred by a robbery, 
temporarily halting its functioning. During this period, it 
became difficult to bear the rising household expenses 
given the financial downturn that occurred. 

In 2010, Mr. Jayathileka joined the Berendina programme 
and took an initial loan of Rs. 25,000/- and purchased 
the needed raw materials and took steps to re-start 
his business. Following the success of his initial loan, 
he borrowed Rs. 50,000/- as a second loan to further 
develop his business. The business began to flourish, thus 
additional space was required to accommodate the 
people and material. In order to expand the premises, 

Mr. Jayathileka entered in to a further loan scheme of Rs. 
75,000/- and enlarged the prevailing premises. He further 
obtained a loan of Rs. 100,000/- and further expanded 
his business. Currently, a full time and part time employee 
have been recruited to the business venture. 

Business development center provided training and 
meterials for making curtains and this help Mr. Jayathileka 
to expanded his business to embroidering curtains which 
became an important part of the business and an avenue 
to gain an additional income. Having participated in SIYB 
training programmes and increasing his knowledge on 
growing his business, Mr. Jayathileka earns a monthly net 
of Rs. 25,000-30,000/-. Given this, he is planning to extend 
his business further in the future to include in women’s 
clothes

Business Development
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Corporate Management Team Contd.

Charith Fernando
General Manager - Operations

Indunil Ekanayake
General Manager – Finance 

Ishan Rajika
Operations Manager

Dakshina Chandrasekara
Assistant Manager IT

Kapila Subasinghe
Head of  HR and Administration

Piumi Abeyratne
Manager - Fund Raising and MIS

Prasanna Perera
Senior Internal Auditor

Saman Manathunga
Senior Accountant

Rajesh Khanna
Manager -  
Enterprise Development Services
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T. G. E. Sarathchandra
Internal Auditor 

K. P. S. Dhammika
Training Co-ordinator

Lakmal Premasiri
Senior IT Officer

Savitha Herath
Admin Executive

Sarbdeen Viswaj
Internal Auditor

M. Amjad Hassan
Internal Auditor

T M A P Jayathilaka
Internal Auditor
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Regional Management Team Contd.

Anuradhapura 
Region

Nuwara Eliya 
Region

A.E.L.D. Amarasingha 
Branch Manager, Kahatagasdigiliya

W.A.P.D.K. Wanigasundara  
Branch Manager,  Thirappane

L.A.S.P. Wijesundara 
Area Manager, Anuradhapura

H.M.J.L. Gunasinghe 
Branch Manager, Ipalogama

J.P.Y.R. Jayasinghe 
Branch Manager, MaNuPa

S.T. Prasanna 
Assistant Branch Manager, Ragala

M.P. Joney  
Branch Manager, Dickoya

E. N. Dulari Jayaratne 
Area Manager, Nuwara Eliya

N.A.A.C.J. Kumara 
Branch Manager, Ginigathhena

V.R. Kumara 
Branch Manager, Kotmale



Berendina Microfinance Institute (Guarantee) Limited
Annual Report - 2015

Berendina Microfinance Institute (Guarantee) Limited
Annual Report - 2015

31

R.G.S.S. Gunathilake 
Branch Manager, Dehiowita

B.M.P. Ratnayake  
Area Manager, Kegalle

A.D.S.L. Nandasiri 
Branch Manager, Mawanella

B.L.W.P. Kumara 
Branch Manager, Bulathkohupitiya

N.M.C.D. Navaratne 
Assistant Branch Manager, 
Galigamuwa

S. Rajeswaran 
Branch Manager, Serunuwara

N. Nithiyanandan  
Branch Manager, Thampalakamam

E. Thiruchelvam 
Area Manager, Trincomalee

P. Vathanan 
Assistant Branch Manager, 
Kuchchaveli

S. Ravichandran 
Branch Manager, Trincomalee

Kegalle 
Region

Trincomalee 
Region

Batticaloa Region
N. Satheeskumar 
Branch Manager, Valaichchenai

Yoganathan Rajany 
Area Manager - Batticaloa



32

Berendina Microfinance Institute (Guarantee) Limited
Annual Report - 2015

Mrs. S. Mary Julita is 37 years old and is a resident of 
Kumpirupitty East in Trincomalee district. She and her 
husband have two sons and a daughter studying at the 
Kumpirupitty School. In 1990, the family was displaced 
due to the war and moved to India. Following their arrival 
in the island in 2010, they were resettled in this area. 
At the time they had no house, nor any amenities or a 
source of income. Due to their past, Julita and her family 
faced numerous social and health problems as they were 
mentally, physically and emotionally affected by the 
changes occurring around them.

Julita joined the Berendina programme in 2011. At the 
time, her husband was employed as a labourer at a 
hotel with a monthly income of LKR 10,000. In 2011, Julita 
received her first loan of LKR 20,000 to build a temporary 
house on their own land. Following this, a second loan was 
obtained in 2013 of LKR 40,000 which was used to build 
proper toilet facilities for their home. Due to the limited 
family income via her husband’s job, Julita obtained a 
loan of LKR 60,000 in 2015 to start a grocery shop.

She participated in Berendina training programmes 
of papadam-making, imitation jewellery making and 
financial literacy training, which aided Julita in running 
her shop. With a regular monthly income of LKR 16,000-
18,000, Julita is able to purchase amenities for their 
house and continue developing her shop to increase 
business. She has purchased a freezer for her shop which 
has provided an additional income opportunity. With 
their monthly income, Julita and her husband are able to 
manage the cost of their children’s tuition and school fees, 
stationery, transportation and their food cost.

Julita hopes to build a permanent shop and include a 
glass showcase. With the availability of a school nearby, 
Julita wants to expand her shop to include various 
services starting with a photocopy machine as no such 
facilities are available in the village.

Rebuilding from scratch
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Operational Review

Sri Lanka’s Poverty Levels in 2015
With the end of the long-standing conflict in 2009, Sri 
Lanka has witnessed a boost in economic activity which 
has resulted in a notable drop in the poverty levels 
across the island. The common indicator used to measure 
poverty is the Poverty Head Count Ratio (PHCR) which is 
calculated based on the results of the Household Income 
and Expenditure Survey (HIES). The PHCR dropped from 
8.9% in 2009/10 to 6.7% in 2012/13, revealing that 
approximately 1.3 million individuals were below the 
poverty line, in comparison to 1.8 million in 2009/10.
 
While Sri Lanka was able to successfully achieve the 
Millennium Development Goal (MDG) of reducing poverty 
by half between 1990-2015 the country now has to 
overcome the hurdle of eradicating all forms of poverty 
across the island while focusing on minimising regional 
disparities and income inequality. In 2012/13, the PHCR 
in the estate and rural sectors was substantially higher 
than that in the urban sector. BMI’s approach of opening 
branches and conducting operations in parts of the 
island, where poverty is widespread - including the estate 
sector - is an attempt by the organization to bridge this 
income inequality gap by leveraging microfinance and 
EDS.

An analysis of the district figures reveal that the PHCR 
varied from 1.4% in Colombo District to 28.8% in Mullaitivu 
District. A substantial poor population was reported in 
Ratnapura, Kurunegala, Galle, Batticaloa, Moneragala 
and Badulla Districts. BMI currently has branch operations 
in Batticaloa while plans are being made to extend the 
branch network to Mullaitivu and Mannar Districts.

BMI and Poverty Alleviation
Sri Lanka’s growth agenda emphasizes on the 
achievement of a more balanced development 
through accelerated rural development whilst ensuring 
the betterment of rural villages and emergence of 
villages as ‘micro-centres of growth’. It is well known 
that financial inclusion plays a key role in achieving 
sustainable economic growth and development. 
Regional development activities are focused on growth 
through financial inclusion, whereby affordable finance, 
awareness building and training programmes are 
provided for the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises 
sector. Over the years, this approach has shown success 
with the proportional contribution of the Western Province 
to national GDP declining as other provinces, especially 
the more poverty-stricken ones, continue to grow in 
importance.

At BMI, the primary focus is on poverty alleviation and BMI 
branches are operational in 6 districts across the island 
where poverty-stricken areas can be widely found. BMI 
assesses these families’ poverty levels in two ways through 
the Progress out of Poverty Index (PPI) and per head 
family income.

• Progress out of Poverty Index (PPI) - The PPI is an 
internationally recognized poverty measurement tool 
which BMI has been piloting in recent years, and was 
fully implemented in 2015. After successful piloting, BMI 
collects family information using a comprehensive PPI 
questionnaire at the time of loan disbursement for all 
loans. A PPI score of 39 is used as the first entry-level criteria 
to absorb new families to the BMI loan programme. This 
means that if a family obtains a score of 39 or less on the 
PPI questionnaire, it indicates that the particular family 
is in poverty, which also reveals that their per capita 
income is less than US$ 2.50 per day. With this, BMI was 
able to mainstream the PPI Index to better serve the 
poverty-stricken families in line with BMI’s Vision. Further, PPI 
measures the progression of these client’s families through 
various income brackets in line with the different loan 
cycles. For this, BMI takes PPI information of a randomly 
selected sample of clients from all branches and analyses 
the overall improvement in the living standards of the 
families before and subsequent to providing BMI services. 
This is also done when a client graduates from one loan 
cycle to the next.

• Per head family income - The second entry level criteria 
BMI utilized is the “per head family income”, which is in 
order with the international poverty line. According to this, 
per head family earning below LKR 9,750/- per month – 
which equals to two times the international poverty line 
(US$ 2.5 per day) - is eligible for a loan by a new family. 
This criterion is for those who are above 39 PPI score 
but BMI staff identifies them as poor. This situation may 
arise due to issues or variances in PPI score for certain 
geographical locations as the PPI score is made for the 
country as a whole.

Along with the loan programme, BMI also offers 
Enterprise Development Services (EDS). The objective of 
EDS is to ensure the long-term sustainability and growth 
of the borrowers’ business ventures by giving them 
the opportunity of furthering their technical, business 
management and financial management skills as well as 
soft skills such as leadership, communication, motivation 
and positive thinking. EDS also encourages clients to 
start new businesses and thereby creates employment 
opportunities. Additionally, it also helps to uplift the 
living condition of families through various soft skills 
development programmes such as Financial Literacy 
programme and motivational programme.
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Scientific evidence of the impact on poverty 
alleviation  
The PPI analysis done in the year under review revealed a 
progressive result of poverty outreach of the organization. 
In 2015 27.98% of clientele is considered as living under 
$2.5/Day income bracket. The Sri Lankan poverty 
Head Count Index (HCI) for 2012/2013 has been 6.7% 
whereas BMI had 6.2 % of people less than NPL and it 
was increased to 7% in 2014 which was found to be a 
very good achievement in poverty outreach. However, 
this rate has declined to 5.7% in 2015. While BMI believes 
that NPL or HCI should have gone down over 5.7% in 
2015, BMI intends to take measures to increase its poverty 
outreach further on. 

CLIENTS POVERTY RATES FOR THREE YEARS
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In 2015 overall poverty rate has reduced in comparison 
to 2014, in all poverty lines. BMI displayed a higher 
poverty outreach in 2014, which can be attributed to the 
opening of a new branch in the Batticaloa region at the 
end of 2013. 

CLIENTS POVERTY RATES FOR THREE LOAN CYCLES (2015)
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BMI clients also have progressed from poverty when 
moving from one loan cycle to another. Providing loans 
and technical assistance to income generation activities 
is the predominant characteristic of BMI and this has 
resulted in facilitating emerging micro-entrepreneurs. 
Close to 75% of loan portfolio comprises of business 
starting and business development loans, as well 
as a significant proportion has been allocated for 
Agricultural and Dairy loans. Therefore, many people 
who were struggling to find a strategy to support their 
livelihood have started their own income generation 
activity and have progressed by qualifying for second 
and third loans.  Likewise, Asset Building loans also has a 
significant contribution to poverty reduction of BMI clients 
because the PPI tool is taking assets owned by the client 
into consideration, when analyzing the progress out of 
poverty.
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Sri Lanka’s Microfinance Industry
Sri Lanka’s microfinance landscape includes a wide 
range of institutions which provide microfinancing 
facilities to low income households. These institutions 
include development banks, co-operative societies, 
Non-Governmental Organisations (NGOs), Guarantee 
companies, public and private companies, community 
organisations, Government institutions as well as 
other financial institutions such as commercial banks 
and finance companies. Despite the large number of 
organizations in the market, only BMI and a few other 
Microfinance Institutions (MFIs) are focused primarily on 
utilizing microfinance for poverty alleviation as the main 
objective.

The microfinance industry has caught the attention of 
the finance industry and as a result, 2015 witnessed 
an increasingly growing number of organizations 
entering the market to offer microfinancing services 
to customers. While some of them are registered with 
the Lanka Microfinance Practitioners’ Association, the 
pioneer in microfinance networking among microfinance 
practitioners in Sri Lanka, others are not registered and 
continue to operate independently. 

As the clients are presented with a wider choice of MFIs, 
it has led to an unfortunate ground situation where 
individuals from these poor communities borrow from 
different MFIs under varying terms and conditions without 
having a proper understanding of their repayment 
capability. This has given rise to circumstances where 
multiple borrowings and over-indebtedness are 
widespread while financial indiscipline has also become 
a common feature that can be found among these 
individuals. The purely profit-oriented MFIs play a 
significant part in the deterioration of the situation as they 
readily give out loans without proper background checks 
on the repayment capability of the client, give multiple 
loans and follow unethical, and at times aggressive, 
methods to recover their loans. 

Another scenario that has unfolded is due to the high 
interest rates charged by these MFIs, they tend to write-off 
the client’s debt if there is difficulty in making recoveries as 
they have already made enough profit due to the high 
interest rate. This affects the financial discipline of these 
borrowers as they wrongly get the notion that not making 
all the loan repayments is a distinct possibility, irrespective 
of who the MFI is. This affects the day-to-day operations 
of organizations such as BMI where the focus is primarily 
on using microfinance as a poverty alleviation tool and 
where lending takes place at the lowest possible rate in 
order to cover costs and generate a small profit margin 
for sustainability of the organization. 

With the arrival of a new Government during the year, the 
long-awaited Microfinance Act is expected to come into 
effect in 2016 bringing a much-needed legal framework 
to the industry. With the regulations in place, it is expected 
that the unethical as well as the purely profit-oriented MFIs 
will be forced to change the way they conduct business 
in the market, bringing their operations more in line with 
what BMI has been continuing all these years.

Multiple borrowings and financial indiscipline are the key 
reasons BMI witnessed a 10% client dropout during 2015, 
a figure similar to 2014. Client dropout takes place mainly 
due to BMI dropping them as a result of their continued 
poor performance in cluster attendance and repayments 
due to multiple borrowings and financial indiscipline. BMI’s 
approach to tackling these challenges include:

• Drive the “Financial Literacy” programme, a half-day 
programme where borrowers are educated on the 
various types of interest rates, recovery methods, their 
financial implications, importance of saving as well as 
their responsibilities and liabilities after borrowing.

• Screening of the educational video documentary that 
outlines the roles & responsibilities of both client and BMI 
prior to disbursement of loans

• Educate clients at Cluster Leader Programmes

• Conduct awareness programmes at every cluster 
meeting where BMI staff members deliver speeches on 
various related topics. During the year under review, the 
following topics were discussed.

Month Topic

January Employee Provident Fund

February About Berendina

March Kidney disease

April Prevent indoor accidents

May Counterfeited money / Forged money

June Interest rebate system for early loan 
settlements

July Innovative thinking

August Consequences of alcohol and drugs

September Little bit of law

October Bright Student Scholarship Program – BEC

November Bright Student Scholarship Program – BEC

December  What we should do to have a fresh 
environment?

Operational Review Contd.
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Key Highlights of 2015
Best Entrepreneur Awards

The sixth edition of the “Best Entrepreneur Awards”, an 
event held every other year, was conducted during the 
year under review. 170 entrepreneurs from 17 branches in 
6 districts took part in this competition for the 5 National-
level and 20 Regional-level awards. After a stringent 
selection process, BMI handed out awards with cash prizes, 
plaques and certificates to the respective winners. The 
winners were selected under 5 main categories:

• Best small entrepreneur

• Best micro entrepreneur

• Best upcoming entrepreneur

• Best entrepreneur for agriculture 

• Best entrepreneur for animal husbandry

In parallel to this, 3 BMI staff members were recognized 
for their outstanding contribution in developing of 
entrepreneurs.

WPF Best Field Officer Award

Mr. Dilshan Ranasingha, a Micro Finance Officer from the 
Mawanella branch of BMI who also won “Best Employee of 
the Year 2013”, was selected as one of the top finalists of 
2015 Asia Field Officer appreciation awards conducted 
by Whole Planet Foundation (WPF). The WPF piloted this 
programme in 2014, to acknowledge the achievements 
of field officers who are working for microfinance partners 
around the world. Eligibility criteria for this award states 
that the field officer should have gone beyond his/her role 
and made a positive contribution to the wellbeing of his/
her clients. Additionally, he/she should have overcome a 
particular obstacle that has positively contributed to the 
success of the MFI.

Compliance Certificate obtained in 51st Annual Report 
Awards

The BMI Annual Report of 2014 won a “Compliance 
Certificate” in the 51st Annual Report Awards 2015 
conducted by The Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
Sri Lanka. This is the first ever certificate received for a 
BMI Annual Report and was granted in recognition of the 
cohesive, clear and customized reporting, especially in 
compliance reports, under the “Not-for-profit organization 
including NGO” category. While this gives a clear 
identification of the current standard of stakeholder 
reporting at BMI, the organization intends to keep on 
improving the standard of reporting every year.

Best Employee Selection and Overseas Tour

The overseas tour which was given to the winners of the 
“Best Employee” in 2013 was organized in September 
2015. A group of 12 was selected including best 
performing staff in the Head Office and branches. BMI 
selected “BASIX Academy for Livelihoods and Micro-
Enterprise Promotion” in Hyderabad, India as a facilitator 
for this excursion. Apart from appreciating performance 
of best staff, the programme intended to give an exposure 
to best practise MFIs in neighbouring countries while also 
serving to develop staff capacity and motivation.

Improvements to Loan Products

BMI is known to keep a close watch on the developments 
in the country’s microfinance sector while also listening to 
the changing requirements of the client base. Accordingly, 
several loan products underwent changes in order to 
meet these requirements and bring them in line with best 
practices. These changes include:

• Increasing of loan sizes

• Adjusting of interest rates

• Making the loan repayment period more flexible

Deployment of PPI and Per Head Income entry criterea to all 
branches

Progress out of Poverty Index (PPI) and Per Head Income, 
which were piloted in 2014, were introduced to all 
branches in April 2015. Under this approach, BMI uses 
the cut-off mark of PPI as 39 and cut-off per head family 
income level as US$ 2.50 per day based on internationally 
accepted Poverty Line. This means that new families that 
are below the PPI score 39 or below family per head 
income of US$ 2.50 per day will only be eligible for BMI 
services.

Client Age Limit Increase

The elderly are another vulnerable segment in the society 
and statistics reveal that Sri Lanka’s elderly population 
continues to increase on a yearly basis. BMI’s partnership 
with HelpAge Sri Lanka, which supports senior citizens by 
providing income generation loans without the upper age 
limit, was continued in 10 branches. One of the notable 
changes carried out for the general loan programme of 
BMI during the year was the increase of the upper age limit 
of the clients from 58 to 60. This change was implemented 
by analysing the trend of the HelpAge loan programme 
in the past two years, where BMI found out that under this 
scheme the loan usage is effective while the repayment 
is 100%, which portrays no credit risk. With this decision, a 
greater number of elderly people will get the opportunity 
to obtain services of BMI’s general loan programme.
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Client Awareness Video

Creating client awareness is of paramount importance 
to the success of a microfinance programme. BMI 
understands that one way of communicating more 
effectively with Clients is by using the power of video 
technology. Resultantly, during the year, BMI initiated and 
produced a short but effective video documentary that 
focuses on two fictional characters - one who obtained 
a loan and carried out his duties in a proper, responsible 
manner while the other who was wasteful with his funds. 
This impactful video created awareness about the benefits 
of obtaining BMI loans and how a borrower can utilize the 
loan properly in order to get the maximum benefit and 
how improper usage can bring about hardships. It also 
drove home the message of how a person can maximise 
the impact of the loan funds by treating it as a tool to 
overcome poverty. Additionally, it shows the importance of 
attending EDS trainings that helps improve their knowledge 
levels and teaches them skills that can benefit both their 
business venture and day-to-day lives on the home front.

BMI Clients Boosts BEC’s Bright Student Scholarships

BMI join hands with sister company Berendina Employment 
Center (BEC) to provide financial assistance for Bright 
Student Scholarships (BSS). Through BSS, BEC is currently 
providing scholarships for 1,000 students at Grade 5, O/L 
and A/L with plans in the pipeline to expand this program 
to provide 5,000 scholarships by year 2020. With the 
intention of contributing to this compassion, BMI initiated 
a fund raising activity from the BMI client base island-wide. 
The clients were informed of this project at their cluster 
meeting with contributions being accepted by way of EDS 
coupon. Accordingly, around 21,000 EDS coupons were 
voluntarily donated by clients to the value of LKR 5.9 Mn.

BMI’s Knowledge Sharing Approach

As a responsible organisation that focuses on using 
microfinance to alleviate poverty, BMI is well aware of the 
important role of knowledge sharing among the industry 
practitioners both locally and internationally. One such 
mechanism is by using exposure visits which were carried 
out during the year as shown below:

Exposure visit facilitation for Child Fund Sri Lanka

During March 2015, BMI has facilitated an exposure 
visit for Child Fund Sri Lanka. A group of 90 participants 
visited BMI branches in Valaichchenai, Trincomalee, 
Serunuwara and Thampalgamuwa. The aim of the visit 
was to gain an understanding of the microfinance sector, 
associated operations, and procedures and learn from 
BMI’s experience in the sector. During this three-day visit, 
this group observed BMI branch operations by visiting a 
BMI cluster meeting in progress and also visited a few BMI 
clients in the area. 

Exposure visit facilitation for CSD Nepal

A team of 11 delegates from Center for Self-help 
Development (CSD) of Nepal visited BMI in December 
2015. CSD is an organization that supports MFIs by helping 
to create and enhance skills and knowledge of self-help 
groups and organizations at the grassroot level in order 
to enhance livelihoods of poor. Operations Manager and 
Enterprise Development Manager conducted two sessions 
for the team to give them a comprehensive understanding 
about BMI operational methods and Enterprise 
Development training programmes.

BMI Branch Network

Over the years, BMI has gradually widened its 
geographical reach into new districts and divisions in order 
to expand the client base. BMI currently operates a total 
of 17 branches, spread across 6 districts in the country. 
The branch network reflects BMI’s commitment towards 
the country’s poorest communities and the organization 
goes out of its way to find such communities to reach out 
to, thereby becoming an integral part of their clients’ lives.

In May 2015, BMI discontinued the operations of 
Yatiyanthota branch in the Kegalle District. Yatiyantota 
branch played the role of a wholesale lender to four co-
operatives formed and managed by BMI. The decision to 
close down was taken after their capacity was developed 
to a level where the Co-operative Board Members were 
able to manage independently with strong connections 
with the Sri Lanka Savings Bank (SLSB) and SMAGL as 
funding partners. Accordingly, members of co-operatives 
continue fulfilling their financial needs through the co-
operatives without any involvement by BMI.

Operational Review Contd.
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BMI Branch Locations

Colombo Head Office - Nawala

Address: No.152, 1st floor, Nawala Road, Nugegoda.
Tel: +94 11 4367632, 4367641, 4380830, 4209677 
Fax: +94 11 4209677
Email: info@berendina.org
Web: www.berendina.org

Kegalle District                                                                                 

Bulathkohupitiya

Address: Dedugala Road, Bulathkohupitiya.
Tel: 036-4930450
Email: bmibulath@gmail.com

Dehiowita

Address: No.10 Deraniyagala Road, Dehiowita.
Tel: 036-4930455
Email: bmidehiovita@gmail.com 

Galigamuwa

Address: No.82, Thuththiripitiya, Avissawella Road,   
Galigamuwa.
Tel: 035-4927738 
Email: galigamubmi@gmail.com

Mawanella

Address: 6/1/1, Hospital Circular Road, Mawanella.
Tel: 035-4928277
Email: mawanella@bmi.berendina.org

Anuradhapura District                                                                    

Thirappane
Address: No.52/B Alistana, Thirappane.
Tel: 025-4927368
Email: benthirap@gmail.com

Ipalogama

Address: Jayaganga Road, Kunchikulama, Ipalogama.
Tel: 025-4928281
Email: ipalogama.bmi@gmail.com

MaNuPa

Address: No.561/B,45/2, 4th Cross Road, New Bus Stand, 
Anuradhapura.
Tel: 025-4928656
Email: bmi.manupa@gmail.com

Kahatagasdigiliya

Address: No.190, Anuradhapura Road, 
Kahatagasdigiliya.
Tel: 025-4928657
Email: bmi.kahatagasdegiliya@gmail.com

Nuwara Eliya District                                                                 

Ginigathhena

Address: No.91/1A, Upper Floor, Hatton Road, 
Ginigathhena.
Tel: 051-4924380
Email: bmigini@gmail.com

Dickoya

Address: No.529/1, Main Street, Dickoya.
Tel: 051-4924379
Email: bmidickoya@gmail.com

Ragala

Address: No.14, Stafford Road, Ragala, Halgranoya.
Tel: 052-4925049
Email: ragalabmi@gmail.com

Kothmale

Address: No.86, Pudaluoya Road, Ambathalawa, 
Kothmale.
Tel: 052-4925010
Email: bmikothmale@gmail.com

Trincomalee District                                                                   

Trincomalee
Address: No.55, Kandasami Kovil Road, Trincomalee.
Tel: 026-4929033
Email: bmitrinconew@gmail.com

Serunuwara

Address: No.348/A, Kantale Road, Serunuwara.
Tel: 026-4924443
Email: serunuwara@bmi.berendina.org

Kuchchaveli

Address: Ward No.01, Kuchchaveli.
Tel: 026-4925603
Email: bmikuchchaveli@gmail.com

Thampalakamam

Address: Kinniya Road, Puthukuduyirippu, 
Thampalakamam.
Tel: 026-3207263
Email: bmithampalakamam@gmail.com

Batticaloa District                                                                      

Valaichchenai
Address: 1st floor,Pillaiyar kovil Road, Kiran, Batticaloa.
Tel: 065-4929058
Email: valaichchenai@bmi.berendina.org 
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Currently, the maximum loan size offers by BMI is LKR 
100,000 (US$ 684.9) eligible at the 4th loan cycle and 
above. The average loan size of BMI is LKR 36,606 (US$ 
250.72).

BMI’s micro credit programmes are designed to support 
clients at various stages of their lives, thereby enabling 
them to gradually lift themselves and their families out 
of poverty. Funding is provided for a variety of needs, 
ranging from business start-ups, business expansion, 
agriculture and asset building, among several others. 
Furthermore, BMI makes every possible attempt to 
provide assistance to the marginalised sectors of the 
economy such as women, senior citizens and plantation 
workers.

BMI’s Micro Credit Performance in 2015 
During the year 2015, BMI’s total micro credit 
disbursements grew to LKR 1.90 billion, a 13.6% increase 
over the LKR 1.68 billion recorded in 2014, making it 
the highest ever disbursements recorded by BMI. The 
number of loan disbursements has increased from 40,480 
to 41,118 during the year. The reasons for this higher 
disbursement can be attributed to BMI expanding its 
geographical coverage. Additionally, the number of 
estates BMI operates in has increased from 40 to 46 
during the year. While the higher loan amounts have been 
disbursed when clients graduate from one loan cycle to 
the next, the increase in loan sizes during the year have 
also resulted in the higher disbursement amount during 
the year.

Number and amount of loan disbursed during 2015

BMI disbursed a comparatively higher amount of 
loans in 2015 than 2014 when considering the overall 
disbursement. Hence, when comparing the product-
wise disbursement, a variation is visible. In 2015 the 
percentage of Business Starting Loans from the total 
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Micro Credit Services
The underprivileged rural communities across the poorest 
parts of Sri Lanka lack access and the resources to the 
formal credit system offered by both the state-owned 
institutions and private financial institutions. In keeping with 
the Vision of “creating an empowered, equitable society 
where poverty does not exist”, BMI has stepped in to resolve 
this longstanding issue by providing micro credit facilities 
that are strictly targeted towards these communities.

Given the clients’ background of various levels of poverty, 
it is vital that BMI’s micro credit offers them a feasible mode 
of borrowing and sets them on the right path to grow their 
business ventures while having access to further borrowings 
from the organisation as they develop.

Some of the key features of all loans disbursed by BMI 
include:

• The effective interest rates charged by BMI are the lowest 
among the private sector and other NGOs which engage 
in microfinancing in Sri Lanka.

• All loan interest rates, terms and conditions are very 
transparent where flat and effective interest rates are 
disclosed to clients on their loan cards.

• No deposit requirements or hidden charges.

• Highly streamlined internal processes that help to 
continuously improve loan processing time. Accordingly, 
facilities are granted within 7 working days after receipt of 
a loan application.

As a result of this approach by BMI, numerous benefits are 
passed on to clients, such as:

• Lowest interest rates, favourable terms and conditions and 
transparent interest rates mean that clients’ are presented 
with the best chance to ensure the success of their business 
ventures.

• Loan risk fund covers borrowers and/or family burden 
on the loan in case borrowers or breadwinners’ death or 
permanent disability.

• Under the Berendina Suwasahana scheme, cash benefits 
are available for funeral of client’s family members and 
hospitalization benefits for clients & one-year-old baby.

• Clients are educated on financial management through 
the Financial Literacy programme, giving them the 
opportunity to compare the borrowing costs relative to 
other institutions, if they so require.

• Vast range of Enterprise Development Services (EDS) 
available for clients for them to select based on their 
requirements. EDS goes beyond mere credit to provide 
practical knowledge about a vast area related to the 
client’s business venture as well as the development of soft 
skills

Operational Review Contd.
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portfolio has recorded as 30% which indicates a lower 
rate than 34% recorded in 2014. However, Business 
Development Loans showcases an increase of 5% in 
2015, which is 43% higher than the 38% recorded in 
2014. Here we can make an assumption that BMI clients 
have concentrated on obtaining loans to develop 
existing businesses which have already commenced 
and it is a positive indication of improvement of the 
sustainability of micro enterprises under BMI assistance. 
Further analysis revealed that the majority of Business 
Starting and Business Development Loans were taken for 
agri business, dress making and retail trading purposes. 
The percentage of Asset Building, Agriculture and other 
loans remains almost same this year. Majority of Asset 
Building Loans were taken for house and building repairs 
and also a considerable amount of loans were disbursed 
for the purpose of obtaining electricity. Serunuwara and 
MaNuPa branches recorded the highest number of loans 
in the Agricultural category.
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The limited access to foreign borrowing, which is being 
addressed through the incorporation of BMIC, and the 
non-expansion of the branch network during 2015 meant 
that BMI had limited opportunities to record significant 
growth. However, despite these limitations, BMI’s total 

outstanding loan book grew by 13% YoY to reach LKR 
1.83 billion by end-2015. Further, there was a 5% growth 
in the number of active clients, from 66,597 recorded 
in 2014 to 69,589 in 2015. This growth was recorded 
while over 6,000 borrowers dropped out from the BMI 
loan programme due to multiple borrowing, over-
indebtedness, poor cluster attendance and recovery 
issues. .

LOAN PORTFOLIO

(LKR MN)

0

500

1000

1500

2000

20142013201220112010

4
7

5

1
,5

7
8

2015

7
1

5

1
,1

4
6

1
,3

9
2 1
,8

2
6

ACTIVE BORROWERS

(THOUSANDS)

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

201420132012201120102007 2008 2009

0
4

2015

1
1

2
6

3
9

1
5

5
4

6
2 6

7

7
0

Major portion of the portfolio represents Income 
Generation Loans (Business Starting, Business 
Development, Agri & Dairy), which stands at 79%. The 
LKR 1.83 billion portfolio as at end December represents 
18%  Business Starting Loans, 59% Business Development 
and Expansion Loans, 18% Assets Building Loans, 1% Agri 
Loans and 1% Dairy loans as shown in the graph below.
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LOAN PORTFOLIO BY PRODUCT TYPE 
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Overall, BMI showed steady growth during the year as 
the organization consolidated its position by taking major 
strides in the implementation of the new IT system, which is 
expected to increase efficiencies and service levels in the 
coming years.

Promoting Entrepreneurs
BMI’s micro credit facilities helps realise the dreams 
of entrepreneurs by providing timely funding for their 
business ventures. Over the years, BMI loan disbursements 
have helped fund businesses ranging from agri business, 
dress making, tailoring, bakery products, food processing, 
and beauty culture to retail stores and small trading 
businesses. 

Once a client’s business shows progress, BMI provides 
facilities for expansion, enabling the business venture to 
grow from microenterprises to small and medium sized 
enterprises. Generally, BMI’s portfolio follows a 60-40 
approach, whereas more than 60% of the portfolio should 
be enterprise loans, including agriculture and dairy, while 
a maximum of 40% should go to asset building loans.
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Actions and Impact

• 12,317 Business Start-up Loans were disbursed during the 
year amounting to a total of LKR 357 million.

• 17,519 Business Development Loans were disbursed 
during the year amounting to a total of LKR 1.08 billion.

Agriculture
BMI’s agricultural loans are available in all districts the 
organization operates in. These loans are disbursed for 
the cultivation of several crops such as paddy, maize, 
vegetables and other field crops.

Given the nature of the agriculture industry, BMI does not 
recover loans on a monthly basis. Instead, BMI recovers 
loans as a bulk payment at the end of every six-month 
period. This gives the client the flexibility to repay in a 
more convenient manner depending on the cash flow 
available to him/her. 

As most of the agriculture clients engage agriculture as 
a business venture a strategic decision was made in mid-
2012 to recognise these clients as Agribusiness clients 
and allow them to access business loans, as they can 
obtain loans up to LKR 100,000, a much higher figure than 
the LKR 60,000 they were entitled to as Agriculture loans. 
As a result of this change, agriculture loan portfolio is 
gradually on the decline as clients shift to business loans.

Operational Review Contd.
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OUTSTANDING PORTFOLIO-AGRICULTURE
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Actions and Impact

• 951 Agriculture loans were disbursed during the year 
amounting to a total of LKR 18 million.

Dairy Farming
The controversy related to milk powder in recent years, 
gave rise to the demand in locally-produced fresh milk 
and milk powder. As a result of this development, BMI 
earmarked Dairy Farming as an industry that had the 
potential to grow significantly and increased emphasis on 
disbursing dairy farming loans in all operational districts. 

In Kantale area of Trincomalee, BMI partnered with 
dairy societies into clusters in 2014. These clusters were 
provided with loans based on cluster approach and 
training in 2015 and showed positive growth. In order to 
promote this sector, BMI continued to offer special loan 
product named “Dairy Loans” of LKR 75,000 at a very 
low interest rate of just 7.75%. The organisation plans to 
further expand this sector in coming years.

OUTSTANDING PORTFOLIO-DAIRY
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Actions and Impact

• 300 Dairy Loans were disbursed during the year 
amounting to a total of LKR 27.8 million. 

Asset Building
For thousands of families living in rural communities 
building their own home is a distant dream as the income 
they generate during their day-to-day lives is insufficient 
to generate the required savings to buy a piece of 
land or build a home on existing land. BMI’s micro credit 
facilities serve the needs of these families by providing 
funds for various types of home construction, repairs 
and expansion. In addition to purchasing of land and 
building of the house, some of the most common needs 
for which BMI provides funding are roofing, extensions,  
electrification, water connection and latrine construction. 

Additionally, these loans can also be obtained 
for purchasing a variety of assets such as bicycles, 
motorcycles, three-wheelers, electrical/electronic 
appliances and gold as well as for future-oriented 
investments such as children’s education. Up to 40% of 
BMI’s entire loan portfolio is generally allocated for Asset 
Building.
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Actions and Impact

• Total disbursements for asset construction during the year 
amounted to LKR 352 million.

• BMI funding enabled 8,590 families to construct houses or 
extend their houses during the year.

• BMI funding enabled 291 families to obtain electricity and 
water connection.

• 67 clients have obtained loans to finance a vehicle or do 
repairs to an existing vehicle.

• 33 families purchased lands and developed them.

• 185 families purchased household items such as furniture 
and electrical/electronic goods.

• 13 families obtained loans for children’s educational 
purposes.
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Empowering Women
Statistics reveal that rural Sri Lankan women face many 
hurdles in their attempts to generate income for their 
families. They have very limited access to formal credit or 
other financial services, their labour force participation 
rates are low and unemployment levels are relatively 
high. Empowering women has been a key focus of BMI 
and included as a strategic goal from inception as the 
organization strongly believes that empowering these 
rural women and enabling them to contribute to their 
families by generating income has a positive, cascading 
effect on the entire household. This is because women 
are known to contribute larger portions of their income to 
household consumption than males, invariably paving the 
way to a better quality of life for the entire family.

In 2015, BMI’s female borrowers increased to 56,371 
from the 53,087 borrowers recorded in 2014. In total, 
81% of BMI’s borrowers were female while Enterprise 
Development Services (EDS) programmes witnessed a 
95% female participation. Sewing and dress making, 
mosquito net preparing, curtain making, soft toys 
production and cloth painting were some of the EDS 
Technical Training programmes that were aimed at 
empowering women. A similar trend can be seen in 
branches where a majority of both the existing and new 
clients are female.

In BMI’s loan programmes, once a cluster is set up, a 
leader is appointed to coordinate with BMI and act as the 
central point of contact between the organization and 
the cluster members. Overall, approximately 99% of such 
cluster leaders are also females.

Due to their ability to access credit and, in a large 
number of instances, also single-handedly run a successful 
business venture, the decision making powers of these 
women in their household has increased. This has resulted 
in a greater level of respect and acceptance within their 
families and in their communities.
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Actions and Impact

• Total disbursements for women were around LKR 1.4 billion 
during the year, reflecting a 6% growth over 2014.

• During the year, BMI served a total female client base of 
56,370.

• Over 23,000 females were trained under the EDS 
programme.

Plantation Workers
Sri Lanka’s plantation sector workers are a marginalized 
community generally perceived to be high-risk and as a 
result, have very limited access to the formal financial 
system of the country. 

By initiating a loan scheme a few years ago, BMI stood 
out as one of only a handful of MFIs that cater to this 
underserved segment. This loan scheme provides access 
to funds that are utilized to pursue business opportunities 
and to uplift their living standards by courtesy of house 
renovations and construction of latrines. Majority of the 
loans are disbursed through the Estate Workers Housing 
Cooperatives. Further, loans are disbursed through the 
cluster system as well.

OUTSTANDING PORTFOLIO-ESTATE LOANS
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Actions and Impact

• During the year, BMI provided loan facilities in over 46 
estates in the Nuwara Eliya and Kegalle Districts.

• Overall, BMI disbursed LKR 100.8 million during the year, 
a figure that is 7.3% higher than the LKR 93.94 million 
recorded in 2014.

• During the year, BMI provided 74 loans amounting to LKR 
1.6 million for construction of their own latrines. 

• BMI also disbursed 297 bulk loans to corporatives as 
festival loans amounting to a total of LKR 39 million.

Operational Review Contd.
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Senior Citizens

As senior citizens are another segment of the population 
that is often overlooked by financial institutions, BMI tied 
up with HelpAge Sri Lanka in 2013, making BMI the only 
MFI in the country to have launched a programme to 
provide loans to the country’s elderly population. 

During the year, the upper age limit of 58 years 
was increased to 60 years in the BMI general loan 
programme. Accordingly without upper age limit, 
60 years onward senior citizen loans were provided 
through 10 of the 17 BMI branches. This programme 
is operational in 4 branches in the Kegalle District 
(Mawanella, Galigamuwa, Dehiowita, Bulathkohupitiya), 
2 branches each in Trincomalee District (Serunuwara 
and Kuchchaveli), Nuwara Eliya District (Kothmale and 
Ginigathhena) and Anuradhapura District (Ipalogama 
and Thirappane).

OUTSTANDING PORTFOLIO - SENIOR CITIZEN LOANS
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Actions and Impact

• Overall, BMI disbursed LKR 8.25 million during the year, a 
figure that is 8% higher than the LKR 8.9 million recorded 
in 2014.

• During the year, BMI served a total of 253 individuals under 
this category.

Emergency Loans
One of BMI’s unique loan categories is Emergency Loans 
which are mainly used by the clients for emergency 
purposes such as funerals, various illnesses etc. Sometimes 
clients use this loan to fulfil their urgent financial 
requirements. This loan is disbursed as a bulk loan by 
the branch to a cluster leader or a designated cluster 
member nominated as an “Active Agent” where he or she 
disburses in small loans of maximum LKR 5,000 (US$ 33.78) 
for emergency purposes to other cluster members. During 
the year under review, there were 525 active agents, a 
13% growth over the 466 recorded in 2014. In parallel, 
11,878 individual loans were disbursed during 2015, a 
21% growth compared to last year. 
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Actions and Impact

• During the year BMI disbursed 11,878 Emergency 
individual loans.

• During the year, there were 525 active ages.
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Enterprise Development Services (EDS)

The prevalence of poverty can be traced back to several 
root causes such as lack of resources, working capital, 
knowledge, enthusiasm, confidence and commitment. 
While BMI believes that ensuring that the poor have 
proper access to quality microfinancing facilities plays a 
vital role in the operations of the organization, providing 
only financial assistance does not guarantee the long-
term sustainability of their business ventures. What is 
required is to provide financial assistance together 
with several other entities such as practical business 
knowledge, financial literacy, positive attitude towards 
business, creating opportunities for the business to grow 
and even essential life skills. A combination of all this will 
provide the client the best possible platform to make 
their business venture a successful one and will give 
these individuals a great deal of confidence to face the 
challenges that they will invariably come across in their 
business and personal lives.

Having understood the various issues facing these 
individuals, BMI commenced the Enterprise Development 
Services (EDS) initiative back in the year 2007 to provide 
a boost to the credit support given to clients. EDS is the 
“credit plus” component of BMI’s strategy that places 
emphasis on developing a range of requisite skills of its 
target clientele. BMI is proud to be one of just a handful 
of organisations which provide such services to the rural 
communities and is known to be the only MFI that delivers 
a dedicated EDS component that is on par with the credit 
facilities given to clients. Accordingly, BMI engages in 
the provision of technical and business skill development 
training along with training programmes to develop soft 
skills such as leadership, communication and positive 
thinking.

BMI provides B type services such as business follow-up 
and counseling, creation of market linkages, provision of 
business information, facilitation of business registration, 
facilitation of livestock insurance, referring clients to 
other trainings and training follow ups to client as free 
value added services to improve the business ventures 
of rural level people. Enterprise development officers are 
trained to provide the services to clients to ensure survival 
of business for long run. And also BMI initiates special 
projects as C type services and this is end result of A and 
B type services. The project that starts by individual or 
group of people by using new product for the areas or, 
new or existing technology or, new market and resources 
while drawing ten or more business opportunities or 
employment opportunities for local individuals, can be 
defined as an innovative or special project.

Summary - BMI EDS Programmes for 2015
During the year 2015, BMI conducted 1,351 training 
sessions guiding nearly 29,140 clients, which reflected a 
30% growth compared to client coverage in 2014 where 
22,436 clients were trained in 1,180 training sessions. 
Following table depicts a summary of Type “A” and “B” EDS 
programmes conducted by BMI.

Training Category No. of 
Training 
Programmes

No. of 
Participants

EDS Type A Services

Technical Training - Agriculture 
and Livestock

214 3,214

Technical  Training- Non-
agriculture

271 5,336

Exposure visits 101 4,602

Financial Literacy 602 12,002

Entrepreneurship 
Development training

Viyapara Jaya 110 2,228

SIYB 54 1,079

Soft Skill Development Training 3 679

Total 1,351 29,140

EDS Type B Services

Business Counselling 1,986

Creation of Market Linkages 381

Provision of Business 
Information

505

Facilitation of Business 
Registration

351

Facilitation of Livestock 
insurance

214

Client Referred to Trainings of 
other Organization

105

Total 3,542

It also has the potential to generate an additional income 
for the organization in order to enhance the sustainability 
of the EDS service and increase operational self-
sufficiency of BMI.

Operational Review Contd.
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The steady growth of training programmes and 
participants highlights how BMI has prioritized on the 
expansion of the EDS services to clients on a yearly basis. 
Back in 2007, 19 training programmes covering a total 
of 298 participants were conducted for the entire year. 
This figure has risen exponentially to reach 1,355 training 
programmes and 29,140 participants by the year 2015. 
Throughout this period, a number of new trainings were 
introduced to develop the skills of clients. In the early 
stages, BMI focused on technical trainings while in the 
latter stages more attention was given to entrepreneur 
skills development by providing Financial Literacy, 
Viyapara Jaya and Start and Improve Your Business 
trainings. 

Comparison–BMI Training Participants 
(2015 vs 2014)
The following diagram compares the trend of 
participants at the various BMI EDS Training Programmes 
during the years 2015 and 2014.
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BMI training programmes showed an increase of 15% 
in 2015 when compared to 2014 resulting in an upward 
movement in the number of participants by 30% from 
22,436 to 29,140. Driven by the policy to provide 

Financial Literacy to all BMI clients, there was a significant 
256% increase in Financial Literacy training participants 
when compared to the previous year. This change in 
policy was a result of a marked improvement in clients’ 
attitude towards multiple borrowings and credit discipline 
amongst clients who had already undergone Financial 
Literacy training in previous years.

Viyapara Jaya and Start and Improve Your Business 
trainings, two training programmes that develop the 
entrepreneurship skills of the clients and convert others 
into entrepreneurs, witnessed an increase in the number 
of participants during the year when compared to the 
previous year. BMI limited the technical agriculture and 
non-agricultural, soft skills development trainings and 
exposure visit participation of clients in order to focus 
greater attention on increasing the quality of training.

BMI’s Training Expertise 

One of the key aspects that make BMI stand out from 
other MFIs is its significantly large internal and external 
training pool. Internal trainers such as MFOs, EDOs, 
Branch Managers and Area Managers of BMI have 
the knowledge and experience to carry out BMI’s own 
training programmes, namely Viyapaara Jaya and 
Financial Literacy. The primary job of these individuals is 
managing the day-to-day operational aspects of BMI. 
However, BMI has provided them with the opportunity 
and the necessary resources to function and grow 
as trainers in addition to their primarily role in the 
organization. They have acquired such level of expertise 
by undergoing rigorous training since joining BMI and 
gaining practical knowledge during their work in the field 
in various parts of the country where BMI operates in. This 
supplementary role has led to greater job satisfaction 
among these individuals as they are able to expand 
their skills and share their knowledge. This sustainable 
approach allows BMI to maximise utilization of internal 
resources and refrain from hiring full-time internal trainers.

Additionally, BMI also obtains the expertise of external 
trainers to conduct technical and entrepreneurial 
trainings. Such high levels of training skills among BMI 
employees have opened the doors for the organization 
to disseminate valuable microfinance knowledge to 
individuals or groups from outside BMI as and when the 
need arises. This allows BMI to share knowledge for the 
greater good of helping the less fortunate communities.
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Activities Carried Out in 2015  
Type “A” Services

“A” Type Services are trainings that enhance the soft skills 
of clients in order to develop their technical subject-wise 
knowledge while also boosting their entrepreneurial skills 
in the process.

Technical training programmes - Agriculture and Livestock

During the year under review, BMI conducted 214 
Agriculture and Livestock technical training sessions and 
provided services to 3,214 individuals. These programmes 
allow clients to widen their knowledge on the technical 
skills associated with agricultural cultivation and livestock 
development. Some of the most common crops that have 
been cultivated include papaya, passion fruit, pepper, 
ginger, tea, flowers and mushrooms while poultry and 
dairy management were also widely carried out. Overall, 
BMI has over 20 training products under this category.

Technical training programmes – Non-Agriculture

BMI also provided technical training in non-agricultural 
areas with a greater emphasis on women. Such training 
covered diverse areas such as confectionary and other 
food-based production, dress making, patchwork and 
curtain design, shoe manufacturing, handicraft production 
using waste paper, sewing machine repair and cosmetic 
jewellery making. Overall, BMI has over 30 training 
products under this category. All these business ventures 
for women have the potential to supplement the primary 
income source of a rural family. During the year, a total 
of 5,336 individuals were trained by BMI through 271 
technical training sessions. 

Exposure Visits 

Having understood the importance of actively supporting 
the agricultural ventures of the client base, a few years 
ago BMI commenced Exposure Visits through which the 
organization sought to expand the knowledge base 
and technical skills associated with such production by 
arranging visits to agricultural research stations, tea 
research institutes and several model farms. 

In 2015, BMI conducted several exposure visits to 
Agriculture Farm in Gannoruwa, Tea Research Institute in 
Thalawakale and the New Zealand Farm in Ambewela. 
Through these visits BMI’s clients were able to receive 
exposure to new techniques and methods in cultivation 
as well as livestock management development. It also 
encouraged some clients to venture into livestock business.  
By the end of December 2015, 101 such exposure visits 
were conducted by BMI and 4,602 clients have benefited.

Enhancing Financial Literacy

Introduced in 2012, Financial Literacy training focuses 
on the vital aspect of educating BMI clients on how to 
properly manage their finances and has played an 
increasingly significant role in their progress since launch. 
This training helps to increase client’s awareness about 
the habit of formal savings, importance of credit and 
educates them on the effective usage of funds in order 
to increase their well-being and to have a secure future. 
Additionally, it further educates clients on how to compare 
different interest rates of microfinance providers in the 
area in order to take a productive decision. 

During the year 2015, 12,002 BMI clients underwent 
training through 602 Financial Literacy programmes. 
This remarkable achievement contributed towards 
reducing multiple borrowing and over indebtedness due 
to aggressive marketing of high interest loans by profit-
oriented MFIs.

Entrepreneurial Skill Development Training 

The development of business and entrepreneurial skills of 
clients focusing on improving their business management, 
marketing, communication skills and leadership skills 
continue to be a critical success factor for BMI. As a 
result, entrepreneurial skill development was carried 
out through ‘Viyapara Jaya’ (Business Victory) and SIYB 
training programmes. During the year under review, BMI 
conducted 110 Viyapara Jaya training programmes 
with the participation of 2,228 individuals as well as SIYB 
training programmes for 1,079 clients.

Soft Skills Development and Motivational Training

While the lack of knowledge is one of the primary 
reasons behind the relatively lesser progress of some 
entrepreneurs in rural communities, BMI has also identified 
that the lack of qualities such as self-confidence and risk-
averse nature also contributed to this as it prevents these 
entrepreneurs from pursuing new ventures or expanding 
their existing ventures. In order to overcome this 
limitation, BMI continued the important soft skills training 
programmes. During the year, BMI conducted a series of 
training programmes in the Nuwara Eliya region using the 
services of Dr. Asoka Jinadasa, a leading author, speaker 
& corporate trainer. Three such training programmes were 
carried out for a total of 679 individuals. Dr. Jinadasa 
focused on motivating these individuals to come up with 
plans to make the most of their available skills and thereby 
grow in life.

Operational Review Contd.
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Type “B” Services
In addition to the primary list of services given above, BMI 
also offers Type B Services that includes:

• Business follow-up and counselling services

• Facilitating of market linkages between clients as well as 
clients and external parties 

• Assisting clients in the registration process of small 
businesses 

• Provision of business information

• Facilitation of livestock insurance process

During the year, BMI provided such services to more than 
3,542 clients without charging any fee. The organization 
recognizes that such services are very important for small 
and micro level entrepreneurs to establish their businesses, 
find new markets and expand their operations.

Type “C” Services
In addition to the general skill development, through 
Type C Services, BMI seeks to identify potential business 
opportunities in the regions where it operates. This 
allows it to encourage individuals to pursue such new 
business ventures and generate additional income 
for the household. BMI also subsequently provides 
the technical skill development training and financial 
assistance required to pursue these business ventures. 
The organization’s professional expertise in identifying the 
most suitable business opportunities and the subsequent 
assistance provided to its clients has increased the 
likelihood of success in most ventures.

New Projects in 2015
Bee Keeping

While bee keeping was commenced in MaNuPa in 2013, 
during the year it was introduced to 10 clients in the 
Kahatagasdigiliya area paving the way for them to earn 
an average annual income of LKR 20,000.

Betel Cultivation

During the year, 48 clients from Kahatagasdigiliya area 
commenced betel cultivation allowing them to potentially 
earn an additional average income of LKR 4,000 per 
month.

Black Pepper Cultivation

This was commenced in the Galigamuwa region, initially 
with 22 clients. Over 100 individuals were trained on black 
pepper cultivation and selected clients were provided 
plants while EDOs closely supported farmers throughout.

Mushroom Cultivation

This was commenced in the Valaichchenai area with 10 
clients. With a harvest coming to around 15kg, clients have 
the opportunity to earn as much as LKR 4,500 per month.

Papaya Cultivation

Papaya cultivation was commenced in MaNuPa, 
Serunuwara and Thambalagamuwa areas with a total 
of 28 clients. Red lady and local plant varieties were 
introduced to growers and plants were provided with 
assistance of the Department of Agriculture.

Plant Nursery Project

This project, commenced in Mawanella with 10 clients, 
has the potential to provide a relatively higher average 
monthly income ranging from LKR 25,000 to as high as LKR 
100,000.

Rose Flower Cultivation

This was commenced in the Kotmale area with a total of 
20 clients. Over hundred individuals were trained on rose 
cultivation and 20 clients commenced cultivation.

Ongoing Projects
Passion Fruit Cultivation

BMI commenced passion fruit cultivation in the North 
Central Province in March 2014 with 20 clients. It was 
commenced primarily to diversify the income source 
of farmers in the region and thereby reduce their 
vulnerability to fluctuations in rainfall that affect crops such 
as paddy. Clients started the cultivation with a small land 
area scale and subsequently expanded to larger land 
areas. They carry out other fruit and vegetable cultivations 
along with this and earn more income. Nearly 70 farmers 
earn LKR 20,000 per month while almost 40 other farmers 
earn LKR 30,000 per month. 

During 2015, passion fruit cultivation successfully 
continued in the Ipalogama areas with 154 BMI clients 
while Trincomalee was added as a new location. The 
project is now considered a lucrative venture which 
enables farmers to obtain a relatively stable source of 
income. Passion fruit training was delivered to over 200 
clients (as regular Type A service). A special screening and 
selection process was used to pick only interested clients. 
BMI assisted the clients by: 

• Linking a company as service provider and buyer 

• Providing plants to clients through the service provider

• Providing refresher trainings to clients

• Arranging regular visits, follow-ups and counselling of EDO
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• Maintaining market linkages and enabling stable prices

• Providing disease control and technical support 

• Sending clients to related technical trainings of other 
organization (Post harvesting department and Department 
of Agriculture)  

• Continuous credit support

Footwear Manufacturing

Commenced in November 2014, footwear manufacturing 
was continued by 50 clients in 2015. Amongst almost all 
these clients, vegetable and fruit cultivation is the primary 
occupation and shoe manufacturing and repairing is 
taken up during their leisure time. Manufacturing of ladies 
shoes, a business venture with a relatively-low initial capital 
investment, progressed reasonably well during the year as 
clients sold to local shops and retail businesses. Technical 
training sessions on shoe manufacturing took place in 
the Ipalogama and MaNuPa areas. While the average 
income of a client is LKR 8,000 to LKR 12,000 per month, it 
can increase to LKR 20,000 per month during the festival 
and crop harvesting seasons.

Rug Manufacturing 

Rug manufacturing was commenced in January 2013 in 
Ipalogama. Currently, 60 clients involving in this business 
venture where products are sold by clients to shops and 
individual buyers in the nearest city areas. These clients 
depend on vegetable and fruit cultivation as their primary 
income source with rug manufacturing being carried 
out during leisure time. The average income of a client is 
LKR 5,000 to LKR 10,000 per month. This increases to LKR 
15,000 per month during the festival and crop harvesting 
seasons.

The following table indicates the summary of current Type 
“C” services during the year.

Name of the 

Project

Branch Year of 

Commencement

Number 

of clients 

involved

Bee Keeping Kahatagasdigiliya 2015 10

MaNuPa 2013 25

Betel Cultivation Kahatagasdigiliya 2015 48

Black Pepper 

Cultivation

Galigamuwa 2015 22

Mushroom 

Cultivation

Valaichchenai 2015 10

Papaya 

Cultivation

MaNuPa 2015 20

Serunuwara 2015 3

Thambalagamuwa 2015 5

Passion Fruit 

Cultivation

Ipalogama 2014 154

Trincomalee 2015 10

Name of the 

Project

Branch Year of 

Commencement

Number 

of clients 

involved

Plant Nursery 

Project

Mawanella 2015 10

Rose Flower 

Cultivation

Kotmale 2015 20

Rug 

Manufacturing

Ipalogama 2013 60

Footwear 

Manufacturing

MaNuPa 2013 19

Ipalogama 2014 50

 Total Number of Clients 466

Best Entrepreneur Awards
The sixth edition of the “Best Entrepreneur Awards”, an 
event held every two years, was conducted during the 
year. 170 entrepreneurs from 17 branches in 6 districts 
took part in this competition for the 5 National-level and 
20 Regional-level awards. After a stringent selection 
process, BMI handed out awards with cash prizes, plaques 
and certificates to the respective winners. The winners 
were selected under 5 main categories:

• Best small entrepreneur

• Best micro entrepreneur

• Best upcoming entrepreneur

• Best entrepreneur for agriculture 

• Best entrepreneur for animal husbandry

In parallel to this, 3 BMI staff members were recognized 
for their outstanding contribution in developing of 
entrepreneurs. The event was held on 27th November 
2015 at MAS Fabric Park Auditorium, Thulhiriya with 
the attendance of Mr. Dulan de Silva, the Chairman of 
Berendina Group as the Chief Guest along with other 
Directors, all General Managers, Senior Managers as 
well as contestants. All the best entrepreneurs were also 
women.

National-level Award Winners
• Best Small Entrepreneur – Mrs. Shanika Harshani (MaNuPa 

Branch)- Packaging soya meat business

• Best Entrepreneur for Animal Husbandry - Mrs. D. M. W. K. 
Dissanayake (Thirappane Branch) - Dairy cow raring 

• Best Micro Entrepreneur - Mrs. S. A. T. Nadeeka (Dehiowita  
Branch) - Wedding service and tailoring.

• Best Upcoming Entrepreneur - Mrs. A. D. Wijelatha 
(Mawanella  Branch) - Brick manufacturing.

• Best Entrepreneur for Agriculture - Mrs. K. L. Damayanthi 
(Mawanella  Branch) - Orchid and Anthurium production.
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Financial Review

Income and Expenditure
During 2015, BMI’s Interest Income rose by 21% YoY to 
reach a record LKR 438 million with the loan portfolio 
growing by 15.4%. The interest income generated 
from the organization’s micro credit loan facilities 
continues to be the primary source of income of the 
organisation while proportionately a smaller portion of 
the income is generated by the various types of Enterprise 
Development Services (EDS) programmes carried out 
throughout the year.

The EDS programme continued to perform in a solid 
manner, demonstrating a growth of 30.4% to record an 
income of LKR 22.6 million during the year as against 
the LKR 17 million achieved in 2014. The important role 
played by EDS in the overall offering of BMI means that 
constant improvement is of paramount importance. 
As a result, there were a larger number of training 
programmes conducted during the year while BMI also 
focused on enhancing the quality of service delivered 
by adding more value to all such programmes which 
understandably resulted in the overall EDS related 
expenditure increasing by 15.3%.

BMI’s total overhead expenditure (excluding loan loss 
provisions) increased by 21% YoY to LKR 230 million 
including VAT and NBT. Staff expenses rose by 19%, 
lower than the 23.5% increase recorded in 2014 but still 
higher than the 10%-12% average increase recorded 
in years prior to 2014. Salary adjustments inline with 
government declared salary increament LKR 2500 and 
better incentives were instrumental in driving up staff-
related expenses. However, it must be noted that such 
mechanisms helped bring down the relatively high staff 
turnover from 25% in 2014 to 22.5% in the year under 
review. During the year, BMI’s interest and similar expenses 
increased by 14% YoY to LKR 139 million, reflecting the 
impact of the new funding avenues availed during the 
year.
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Microfinance Officers of BMI continued to meet the 
high standards they have maintained in the industry in 
terms of productivity, efficiency and professionalism by 
outperforming their industry counterparts in the number 
of loans handled. Each Microfinance Officer handled 
about 802 loans at the end of the year under review. As 
of end December 2015, BMI’s Operational Self Sufficiency 
(OSS) continued its upward trajectory of recent years by 
reaching 124%, compared to 117%, 114% and 104% 
recorded in years 2014, 2013 and 2012 respectively.
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Grants and Funds
BMI’s total unrestricted fund expanded marginally by 0.3% 
YoY to LKR 257 million cumulative over the years while 
total funding obtained through borrowings increased by 
9% YoY to LKR 1,336 million during the year. 

BMI received a grant from Plan Sri Lanka while loan 
funding was received primarily from Berendina 
Development Services (Guarantee) Limited, Stromme 
Microfinance Asia (Guarantee) Limited, Sri Lanka 
Savings Bank, DFCC Bank, Hatton National Bank (HNB) 
and Commercial Bank and Etimos continue its support. 
The loans from private banks underscore the trust 
and confidence these institutions have in the current 
operations as well as the future growth prospects of BMI.

A new sister company - Berendina Micro Investment 
Company Limited (BMIC) - a Public Limited Liability 
Company with not for profit orientation was formed 
towards the latter part of 2014 to engage in micro 
financing and business of similar nature in order to 
gain access to foreign borrowing under the External 
Commercial Borrowing Scheme (ECBS) introduced by 
the Government. In 2014, Berendina Micro Investment 
Company Limited (BMIC) was formed within the 
Berendina Group paving the way for BMI to access 
foreign loans and improve funding levels under the 
Exchange Control Act. Having commenced operations 
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in May 2015, BMIC opened 4 branches in the Batticaloa 
District. During the year, Grameen Credit Agricole, one of 
the leading existing funding partners of BMI, approved 
a foreign loan facility for BMIC amounting to EUR 1.5 
million (approx. LKR 240 million). In addition to this, at 
the beginning of the year, Whole Planet Foundation 
(WPF) approached BMIC for the purpose of serving poor 
communities in Sri Lanka. WPF approved a grant of US$ 
500,000 in July 2015 to support 2,221 new borrowers in 
Kaluwanchikudy branch over a 3-year period. BMIC was 
also successful in obtaining a funding facility combined 
with a loan and a grant from PLAN Sri Lanka, an existing 
funding partner of BMI. This fund is exclusively for BMIC 
and was allocated for a special loan programme in 
Batticaloa District, totalling LKR 2.36 million (US$ 16,164).

TOTAL EQUITY
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GRANTS & SUBSIDIES RETAINED EARNINGS

Loan Portfolio
BMI’s loan portfolio continued to record strong expansion, 
growing by as much as 15% to end the year on LKR 1,825 
million. All main loan categories showed solid growth 
during the year. These included Business Development 
Loans (23%), Asset Building Loans (10%), Business 
Expansion Loans (515%), Estate Festival Loans (119%) and 
Dairy Loans (14%). Despite a slight dip in performance 
Business Start-up Loans also performed creditably during 
the year.

Numerous factors contributed to the loan portfolio growth 
during the year.

• BMI’s approach to loan disbursement is based on 4 loan 

cycles. While the first loan cycle is given at a very low interest 
rate in order to minimize the burden on the client, as the 
client grows financially, the second, third and fourth loan 
cycles are disbursed at slightly higher interest rates. This 
results in a relatively higher income for the organization. 
During the year, a large number of clients moved up from 
the first to second and second to third loan cycles and third 
to fourth loan cycles. Thereby driving up the interest income 
due to the higher interest rates. However, it must be noted 
that the interest rates offered by BMI are still substantially 
lower than that of other MFIs in the country. Additionally, 
the amounts disbursed in the third loan cycle are higher, 
leading to portfolio growth.

• Although there were no new branches established during 
the year, the BMI team’s higher operational efficiency levels 
resulted in the organization being able to successfully 
reach out to new clients during the period and expand the 
client base successfully, thereby driving up client loans.

During the year under review, the Portfolio at Risk (1 day) 
declined to 0.8% - the lowest within the industry - from the 
1.33% recorded in 2014. Meanwhile, the Portfolio at Risk 
(30-days) also dropped to 0.37% from the 0.8% recorded 
in 2014. According to the LMFPA’s Microfinance Review, 
in 2012, the Sri Lankan microfinance industry revealed 
an overall PAR (30 days) of 11%. BMI continued to face 
difficulties in recovering loans from estate workers but 
despite this deliquent loans are adequately covered 
through loan loss provisions.
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Profitability
BMI recorded its highest-ever profit after taxation of LKR 
77 million in the year under review, a remarkable 71% 
increase from the LKR 46 million achieved in 2014. This 
surge was driven by the 21% increase in interest income, 
expansion in the product portfolio as well as the boost 
in EDS income. BMI was able to overcome numerous 
hurdles by way of increased players with greater financial 
resources operating in the market, new entrants to the 
market, higher operating expenses and a somewhat 
uncertain economic environment that prevailed in the 
country during the year under review

Future Outlook
BMI looks forward to the introduction of the long-awaited 
Microfinance Act as it would mean that MFIs that have 
questionable business practices would have to comply 
with the rules and regulations set forth, which would 
only help to enhance the market situation. Additionally, 
the clients that turn to microfinance to improve their 
lives would be better protected in the long run through 
a proper legal framework. BMI will need minimum 
adjustments to comply with the requirements of the 
Microfinance Act as the organization has been carrying 
out best practices in operations for several years. 

Meanwhile, BMI has laid out plans to open several 
branches in 2016 with at least 3 of them to be opened 
during the first half of the year.
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Communication Review

Sri Lanka’s microfinance landscape is fast becoming a 
crowded one as numerous new MFIs enter on a regular 
basis while existing MFIs expand operations to reach a 
wider target audience. Most of these MFIs are primarily 
profit-oriented ones and therefore carry out elaborate 
marketing campaigns to better connect with prospective 
customers and convince them to acquire loans from 
them. However, BMI’s emphasis on poverty alleviation 
means that the organization does not require such 
marketing campaigns which are a drain on financial 
resources. Going one step further, BMI strictly refrains 
from conducting traditional marketing or sales activities 
as it does not align with the organization’s founding 
principles. The organization’s communication efforts focus 
on efficiently conveying the powerful message of the 
importance of microfinance and how it can be utilized to 
improve the lives of the target audience.

BMI carries out its communication in line with the 
organization’s Vision of creating an empowered, 
equitable society where poverty does not exist. Emphasis 
is also placed on BMI’s Mission of ensuring that the poor 
has access to both quality microfinance and Enterprise 
Development Services (EDS) at the lowest possible cost. 
The main objective is to educate both prospective and 
existing clients about: 

• Products and services offered by BMI

• The Dos and Don’ts of how best to utilise microfinance to 
improve their lives.

Connecting with clients
In-depth research and careful planning takes place prior 
to BMI’s entry into a particular area. Once the decision 
has been made to expand into a particular region, the 
following approach is taken by the organization. 

• BMI MFOs are assigned Grama Niladari Divisions based 
on the number of families living in the particular target 
area which would generally encompass a village or a 
number of villages. All MFOs are given a reasonable 
number of families so that they can provide a timely, 
professional service to them at all times. This overall effort 
is spearheaded by the MFO together with the Branch 
Manager and Area Manager.

• Initially, BMI enters the new area by engaging respectable 
key individuals in the Division. At the same time posters, 
banners and leaflets are also used to create awareness 
among villagers after which a common awareness 
creation meeting is held prior to the formation of clusters.

• Subsequently, the BMI team, together with villagers form a 
Cluster which is the key meeting point for clients with BMI 
officers. 

• At such cluster meetings, information about BMI’s products 
and services are again made available to participants. 
In addition, at each cluster meeting, information on 
upcoming Enterprise Development Services (EDS) training 
programmes is made available by the EDO or MFO. 

• Further, in order to increase participants for EDS 
programmes a special awareness programme called 
Village Awareness Programmes are organised on a 
regular basis. During the year under review, BMI conducted 
a total of 100 Village Awareness programmes connecting 
with 2,833 individuals in total.

• One new element that was brought into the process was 
the screening of a video documentary prior to disbursing 
of loans to clients. This video showed the client the services 
offered by BMI, the roles and responsibilities of both client 
and BMI as well as how they can make the most out of the 
given loan.

Recognizing Achievements
Best Cluster Awards

The effectiveness of BMI’s microfinance operations is 
mainly attributed to the ‘cluster’ approach. Accordingly, 
a cluster and moreover the leaders of these clusters play 
an important role within BMI. Cluster members themselves 
appoint a Cluster Leader to ensure the smooth and 
effective functioning of clusters. The leader also acts 
as an intermediary between BMI and other cluster 
members. Apart from this, handling of emergency loans 
for the urgent financial needs of cluster members, such as 
funerals, emergency medical needs etc. is another main 
responsibility of a BMI Cluster Leader.

Encouraging cluster members and highlighting their key 
achievements on a regular basis is one approach that 
BMI uses to keep them motivated and aiming for higher 
goals. As a result, BMI organizes the “Best Cluster Awards”, 
an event that is held every alternate year. This award 
ceremony is organized branch-wise and is well-attended 
by all Cluster Leaders. It is known to be one of the key 
highlights for BMI clients. Useful training programmes are 
also conducted during this event while it is also utilized to 
obtain their feedback on BMI’s products and services.

Best Entrepreneur Awards 
Similarly, every two years, the EDS section also conducts 
“Best Entrepreneur Awards” where the best of the BMI 
entrepreneurs who have made significant progress using 
BMI’s support are recognized and serve as an inspiration 
for all other entrepreneurs. 
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The 2015 edition of these awards were held on 27th 
November 2015 at MAS Fabric Park Auditorium, 
Thulhiriya. 5 national level winners and 20 regional 
level winners were presented with cash prizes, plaques 
and certificates recognizing their achievement. 
Additionally, a special recognition entrepreneur award 
was presented along with these awards while 3 BMI “Best 
Staff” contributors were awarded for their outstanding 
contribution towards the development of entrepreneurs. 

The award ceremony selected winners under five major 
categories:

• Best small entrepreneur

• Best micro entrepreneur

• Best upcoming entrepreneur

• Best entrepreneur for agriculture 

• Best entrepreneur for animal husbandry

170 entrepreneurs from 17 branches in 6 districts 
participated in this competition for the 5 national level 
and 20 regional level awards.

Engaging with Key External Parties
BMI ensures a constant presence in key institutions and 
bodies related to microfinance, both locally and globally. 
These include:

Lanka Microfinance Practitioners’ Association (LMFPA)

BMI is a leading member of the LMFPA, a network formed 
by several Microfinance practitioners in Sri Lanka. The 
LMFPA’s main function is to enhance the ability of its 
members to provide quality financial services to grass-
root communities. The General Manager of BMI was a 
Director and the Treasurer of the LMFPA during the year.

SIYB (Start and Improve Your Business) Association of Sri 
Lanka 

BMI is also a member of this association, an International 
Labour Organization (ILO) backed organization that 
contributes to the economic development and creation 
of jobs in countries across the globe, including Sri Lanka. 
Under this, the ‘Start and Improve Your Business (SIYB)’ 
Programme, a system of practical management-skills 
training package for small-scale enterprise owners and 
managers, is carried out.

Youth Business Sri Lanka (YBSL)

During 2015, BMI entered into a partnership with YBSL 
(Youth Business Sri Lanka) in order to lend a helping hand 
to Sri Lankan youth. YBSL is a National Organization 
helping Sri Lankan Youth to start up their own businesses, 
by providing access to credit and act as a volunteer 
business mentor. The agreement was signed on 
December 2015 by both parties and the partnership 
consist of both credit and EDS components.

MIX Market

BMI is also registered with the MIX Market (www.
mixmarket.org) a global data hub where MFIs and 
supporting organizations share institutional data in order 
to broaden transparency and market insight.

Banking With The Poor Network (BWTP)

BMI is also registered the BWTP, an Asian association of a 
diverse range of microfinance stakeholders committed 
to improving the quality of life of the poor through 
promoting and facilitating their access to sustainable 
financial services.

Tools of Engagement
BMI disseminates information in a timely manner using a 
variety of tools.

• Website

• Facebook page

• Articles in LMFPA newsletter

• Articles in BWTP newsletter

• Annual Report

Additionally, key events during the calendar year, such as 
branch openings, award ceremonies and other special 
occasion, are highlighted in the print and other media 
to keep various stakeholders updated on the progress 
made by the organization.
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IT Review

BMI has always been an MFI that has clearly understood 
the power of Information Technology (IT) and its ability 
to transform the lives of clients. As an MFI that is focused 
on improving the lives of the less fortunate segments 
of society, BMI believes that the innovative use of 
technology, both within the organization and by the 
clients, can unquestionably make a positive impact in 
their lives.

BMI’s first major investment into Information Technology 
(IT) was the acquiring of a locally-developed Information 
Management System back in 2007. The solution was a 
standalone application, not one tailored towards a large 
MFI, but due to the smaller nature of the organization and 
simpler operational needs, it was more than sufficient 
for the initial phase of BMI’s growth and has served the 
organization well for the past eight years.

New ERP Solution
As the number of BMI clients continue to rise every year, 
the organization decided to invest in a new ERP solution 
in 2014 and laid the foundation to what would be a long, 
challenging process of implementing the system across all 
branches. Subsequently, after a rigorous selection process 
of international vendors, BMI selected and finalized the 
most suitable IT solution provider in 2014.

The new system is a cloud-based one in keeping with 
the latest trends in the world of IT. It has been designed 
and developed using the latest technology and is 
backed by the best practices and internal controls 
of the highest standards. As a system developed 
specifically for the Microfinance industry, it is able 
to handle the growing number of BMI microfinance 
transactions while also providing large amounts of 
timely and accurate information for management 
purposes. Due to the reduction of manual intervention 
that can understandably lead to human error, the new 
system will provide a boost to the efficiency levels of BMI 
while minimizing errors across the whole organization. 
Information security, one of the most crucial elements of 
an IT system in today’s increasingly inter-connected world, 
will be continuously monitored by the chosen software 
vendor to ensure adherence to highest standards. 
Additionally, the critical aspect of Disaster Recovery (DR) 
will also be fully managed by them through their state-
of-the-art DR Site which is on par with global industry 
standards.

During 2015, the following key milestones were achieved 
in the implementation of the new system.

• The contracting was finalized with the selected vendor. 
The process took over 3 months for finalization of price 
negotiations and legal contracting. 

• The vendor sent two consultants to BMI for a 3-month period 
to carry out a comprehensive study of BMI’s microfinance 
methodology with key members of the team. 

• The initial Scope document, the core fundamental 
document for the project, was submitted to BMI for review 
and after certain modifications it was signed off by both 
parties.

• The vendor is in the process developing & customization 
of the software.

Looking ahead, BMI plans to implement the new ERP 
system across all branches by December 2016. With 
the launch of the new system, BMI will be able to 
benefit in several ways, such as easier decision making 
by management due to up-to-date information, in-
depth data analysis, increase in staff productivity and 
efficiency as well as a sizeable reduction in duplication 
of work. Additionally, BMI intends to test out various 
add-on functions of the system in order to further 
streamline operational activities at field level where 
MFOs will be able to remotely log on to the system using 
their smartphones and immediately update the client 
transactions, issue receipts and carry out a host of similar 
field-level functions in an efficient manner.
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New Technology
Mobile Payments

The very nature of the microfinance industry brings forth 
many challenges and one of them is the vast quantity 
of payments that need to be efficiently handled on a 
daily basis. BMI is of the firm belief that mobile payments 
are the way of the future and therefore, in 2014, the 
organization looked at the possibility of introducing 
a mobile payment solution to clients by tying up with 
a reputed local mobile operator. A pilot project was 
commenced in two clusters where clients were educated 
on how to use their mobile phones to make their loan 
repayments. 

During 2015, the pilot project showed limited progress 
primarily due to fear of technology among clients, 
difficulty in changing the mind-set of the client to move 
away from physical cash to mobile cash and preference 
shown by clients to attend Cluster meetings in order to 
interact with others while making their due payments. 
BMI understands that such challenges are generally 
encountered in virtually all situations across the world 
where drastic changes to the way people carry out their 
activities, especially when it comes to matters related to 
money.

However, it must be noted that clients who do not want to 
temporarily close their business in order to attend Cluster 
meetings have shown their liking to this new technology. 
BMI is hopeful that such enthusiasm will generate interest 
among other clients as well. Meanwhile, plans are being 
made to redo the mobile payment initiative and also 
introduce specialised loan products with this feature 
while the new ERP will also have the facility to capture and 
process mobile payments.

Looking Ahead
While significant progress has been made on the IT 
front during 2015, BMI envisions 2016 to be another 
challenging year as the new ERP system is tested and 
rolled out across all branches. In the meantime, BMI will 
continue to look at new ways to introduce technologies to 
increase efficiencies and minimize overheads in its quest 
to uplift the living standards of clients.



Berendina Microfinance Institute (Guarantee) Limited
Annual Report - 2015

Berendina Microfinance Institute (Guarantee) Limited
Annual Report - 2015

58

Sustainability Review

Sustainability Policy and Framework
As an organisation with an extensive rural footprint 
catering to the poorest communities in the country, BMI 
recognises the unparalleled role that the organisation 
can play with regards to sustainability. The communities 
that BMI works with have limited or no opportunities for 
sustainable development, a situation the organisation has 
strived to rectify since inception. BMI believes that through 
its operations, the organisation has the ability to influence 
a wide group of stakeholders and communities, thereby 
having a significant sustainability impact. Therefore, 
when formulating the overall organisational strategy, 
sustainability is given due consideration.

As per international industry standard sustainability of an 
MFI generally encompasses two main aspects Operating 
Self Sufficiency (OSS) and Financial Self-Sufficiency 
(FSS). OSS is a percentage which indicates whether or 
not sufficient revenue has been made to cover the MFIs 
total costs operational expenses, loan loss provisions 
and financial costs. FSS is an important measure of 
sustainability of the lending operations where, by looking 
at this ratio the organization is able to determine the 
extent to which operations are becoming self-sustaining 
considering inflation and subsidise in to account.

The three main facets of BMI’s sustainability policy are 
Economic, Social and Environmental sustainability.

Economic sustainability
The economic dimension of sustainability concerns the 
Organisation’s impacts on the economic conditions of its 
stakeholders as well as on a local, national and global 
level. BMI’s core strategy is based on the principle of 
alleviating poverty through financial inclusion and non-
financial assistance. All operations are thus focused 
towards creating sustainable economic development 
through job creation, skills development, family asset 
building and providing access to equitable funding 
avenues. From a broader, national perspective, BMI 
contributes towards the creation of micro-enterprises, 
regional development, reduction of unemployment and 
increasing quality of life by other means such as housing, 
water, electricity, education, and food security, all of which 
are key priorities in the country’s development agenda.

Social sustainability
The social dimension of sustainability concerns the 
impacts the Organisation has on the social systems it 
operates in. BMI’s approach takes into consideration 
the broader societal aspects including impact on local 
communities as well as the human resources within the 
Organisation. From the top management to field-level 
staff members, the passion and commitment portrayed 

to serving the less fortunate communities and eradicating 
poverty is visible. Clients are given the freedom to voice 
their opinions, clarify any doubts and make suggestions 
to help the Organization improve their product offering. 
Transparency and education are two key attributes that 
are utilized to win over their trust by demonstrating that 
BMI has only their welfare in mind.

The HR practices within the Organisation are governed by 
the organisation’s HR policy and emphasises transparent 
labour practices, commitment to staff development and 
creating a work environment which is conducive to high 
performance.

Environmental sustainability
The environmental dimension of sustainability concerns 
the organisation’s impact on natural systems, including 
land, air, water and ecosystems. BMI incorporates 
environmental sustainability to day-to-day operations 
by ensuring that resource utilisation is at an optimum 
level. The Organisation also strives to create a wider 
impact on environmental sustainability through the 
communities it works with; for instance, the lending criteria 
for both business start-ups and existing businesses take into 
consideration the potential environmental impact and 
funding is denied for ventures which could have a harmful 
impact on the environment.

The Organization has also commenced work on drafting 
an Environmental Policy with a view to further drive the 
environment-centric agenda. Plans are afoot to recruit a 
dedicated team in 2016 to spearhead this vital area in 
the coming years.

Sustainability Governance Structure
BMI’s Sustainability Strategy is set by the Board of Directors 
which consists of three Executive Directors. All three 
Directors have extensive experience and expertise in 
managing development programmes and microfinance 
related activities. The Board continuously overlooks and 
monitors the Organisation’s performance against its 
sustainability objectives and policies. The performance 
of the Board with regards to economic, social and 
environmental sustainability is reviewed by BMI’s members, 
who are representatives of Berendina Stichting. (Please 
refer Corporate Governance on page 79 for further 
information).
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The primary operational responsibility for implementing 
the sustainability policies at field level is shared between 
the Organisation’s Area Managers, Branch Managers, 
EDS Officers, MFOs and finance staff, who all report to the 
two General Managers through the Operations Manager 
and Enterprise Development Manager, while the General 
Managers in return report directly to the Board of Directors 
on all sustainability matters. All BMI employees work 
cohesively to implement the Organisation’s sustainability 
strategies and they are given the opportunity to provide 
recommendations during performance meetings. These 
meetings are conducted monthly in order to evaluate 
organisational performance against the operational 
plan and are also a platform for sharing ideas and 
recommendations and providing feedback.

BMI is a member of the Lanka Microfinance Practitioners’ 
Association, which is recognised by the Central Bank 
of Sri Lanka as the coordinating body for Microfinance 
Institutions in Sri Lanka.

Stakeholder Engagement
BMI’s sustainability strategy is set taking into consideration 
the expectations of its multiple stakeholder groups. The 
key stakeholders identified are:

Vulnerable Communities
This stakeholder group consists of marginalised 
communities with little or no access to funding and 
opportunities for empowerment. This includes rural 
communities, plantation and estate sector workers as well 
as senior citizens. The communities that BMI works with 
are identified through research conducted by BMI and 
various other sources.

NGOs and Charity Organisations
The relationship with this stakeholder group is based on 
the transparency, impact and effectiveness of the co-
funded programmes. Potential partners are identified 
based on the shared priorities focusing on poverty 
alleviation and rural empowerment.

Funding Partners
This group consists of Banks and wholesale lenders to 
MFIs mainly and donors giving grants though limited. 
The relationship with this stakeholder group is based on 
timely payback, adherence to covenants and transparent 
operations. 

Employees
Employees have various expectations from the 
organization they work for. These include reasonable 
financial and non-financial remuneration policies, 
opportunities for career development, a wholesome work 
culture and equal opportunity at all times.

Industry Practitioners
This group includes other MFIs as well as industry groups 
formed by microfinance and enterprise development 
services practitioners. This stakeholder group expects a 
continuous dialogue and participatory approach that 
would enable industry peers to collectively act towards 
the betterment of the microfinance and enterprise 
development services industry.

Government
Government represents various departments and 
authorities. Adherence to laws and regulations imposed 
by them will increase the relationship with them.

Suppliers
This group includes companies that provide various 
products and services to BMI. A good relationship with 
them will help BMI achieve cost savings while receiving 
in quality products and services from them in a timely 
manner will assist BMI to carry out operational activities 
smoothly. 

General Public
The general public will have various levels of 
expectations of BMI to perform its duties responsibly in 
order to achieve its objectives of eradicating poverty. BMI 
is expected to manage all finances responsibly and be 
held accountable for all activities carried out.
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Approach to Stakeholder Engagement

Stakeholder Group Engagement Mechanism Frequency of Engagement

Vulnerable Communities • Community meetings

• Consultations

• Cluster meetings

• Cluster leader conference 

• EDS village awareness meetings

• Enterprise and skill development initiatives

• Social engagements

Ongoing

NGOs and Charity Organizations • Programme planning meetings

• Performance review of programmes

• Written communications

• Field visits

Periodic meetings upon 
requirement

Funding Partners • Programme planning meetings

• Written communications

• Field visits

Periodic meetings upon 
requirement and monthly or 
quartely reporting as required.

Employees • Staff meetings

• Written Communication (reports, circulars)

• Training programmes

• Human Resource Policy

• Grievance handling procedure

• Social entertainment and sports activities

Weekly/monthly basis

Scheduled timelines

Ongoing

Annual

As required

Scheduled timelines

Industry Practitioners • Member meetings

• Publication of data in MIX market

• Annual country industry review

Ongoing

Government • Laws and regulations

• Various meetings

• Training programmes

• Statutory payments

Ongoing

Suppliers • Written communication (emails, letters)

• Meetings

Ongoing

General Public • Press releases

• Website

• Social media

Ongoing

Sustainability Review Contd.
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Key topics and concerns arising from 
stakeholder engagement in 2015

Stakeholder topic/concern : Employee satisfaction 
and motivation
The Employee Satisfaction Survey carried out in 2013 
revealed two key areas of concern.

a. Employees’ need for permanent job

b. Employees’ need for higher salaries at entry level

In response to this, BMI revised the staff policy in 2013 
enabling employees to obtain permanency subsequent 
to completion of a specific period, subject to good 
performance. Furthermore, financial and non-financial 
incentives given to staff were also increased, making 
them more competitive and in line with the industry. In 
2014, BMI commenced a stringent process to select the 
best staff to send abroad for specialized training in order 
to further develop their knowledge and skills while also 
exposing them to foreign training. 

BMI’s Action in 2015

A group of 12 best performing staff members from 
Head Office and branches were carefully selected 
based on a pre-determined set of criteria. They were 
sent to Hyderabad, India as a reward for the excellent 
performance and to help broaden their knowledge in 
social performance and client protection methods. This 
invariably boosted their job satisfaction levels while 
motivating others to perform even better in order to 
qualify for such training in the future. BMI also paid the 
LKR 2,500 increment request made by the Government in 
2015.

Additionally, the trend of making more staff members 
permanent continued during the year. As at 31st 
December 2015, BMI’s permanent cadre percentage had 
reached 36%.

BMI’S ACTION IN 2015
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Stakeholder topic/concern : Inadequacy of IT 
System
In 2013, it was revealed that BMI’s IT system is not sufficient 
to cater to the growing needs of BMI operations in an 
efficient manner. As a result, the organization set in motion 
plans to upgrade the software by employing a consultant 
for this purpose. In 2014, BMI decided to procure an off-
the-shelf ERP Solution that was designed and developed 
for the Microfinance industry. After a rigorous process 
including visits to the shortlisted IT firms, the best IT solution 
and vendor was finalized.

BMI’s Action in 2015

The primary focus of 2015 was to ensure that the 
Vendor got a clear understanding of the entire BMI 
operational structure and mechanism, together with a 
clear view of what was required from the new system. 
Accordingly, intense sessions across all operational levels 
of the organization was carried out by the Vendor’s 
team and subsequently a Scope of Work document was 
finalized and signed off on by both parties. The Vendor 
commenced developed based on this document and 
presented to the BMI team for feedback. Additionally, BMI 
also developed the User Acceptance Testing scenario 
for each key function of the system. In 2016, both parties 
intend to commence training and testing, after which 
rollout will begin in branches.

Stakeholder topic/concern : Limitation of Funding
BMI’s access to funding is limited since the amalgamation 
of the World Bank/ADB funded National Development 
Trust Fund with Sri Lanka Savings Bank took place. 
Additionally, the bank’s inability to disburse loans without 
collateral and requesting personal guarantees of Board 
of Directors restricted BMI’s ability to obtain loans while 
BMI’s lack of a facility to accept savings from clients also 
contributed to this funding limitation. Further being a 
guarantee company, BMI is restricted in accessing foreign 
borrowings. This has meant that BMI’s impact in poverty 
alleviation is limited.

BMI’s Action in 2015

In 2014, Berendina formed a new public, not-for-profit 
company named Berendina Micro Investment Company 
Limited (BMIC) paving the way for BMI to access to foreign 
loans and boost the organization’s funding levels. During 
the year under review, BMIC was able to secure a LKR 240 
million loan from Grameen Credit Agricole Microfinance 
Foundation in Luxembourg, which in turn would mean 
that BMI will have access to a larger funding pool. BMI 
also made a concerted effort to obtain larger loans 
from banks and was successful in receiving such loans 
collateral-free.
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Stakeholder topic/concern : Multiple Borrowing by 
Clients
With the ever-increasing number of MFIs operating in 
various parts of the country, there has been a tendency 
for all clients to borrow from several MFIs without paying 
much attention to how it will impact their delicate 
financial situation. This has resulted in them acquiring 
several undesirable habits when managing their finances 
such as delaying of loan repayments, borrowing from 
several MFIs to settle older loan repayments, non-
utilization of funds for the said purpose and even non-
payment of loans knowing that certain MFIs tend to write-
off loans. Such financial indiscipline has resulted in many 
clients getting caught in a cruel debt cycle from which 
they find it nearly impossible to come out of. Additionally, 
the lack of a Credit Information Bureau (CRIB) facility 
meant it was impossible to identify the loan defaulters. All 
this negatively affects BMI’s efforts to uplift these clients.

BMI’s Action in 2015

In 2014, BMI addressed this problem in two ways. Firstly, 
as a member of Lanka Microfinance Practitioners’ 
Association, BMI actively participated in lobbying for 
the formation of a Credit Information Bureau for the 
Microfinance industry by providing financial assistance 
to hire consultants to advise on the matter. Secondly, BMI’s 
Loan Officers focused on obtaining in-depth financial 
information from a prospective client in order to analyse 
every aspect of his/her financial standing prior to 
disbursing the loan. 

In 2015, BMI took further steps to increase awareness 
amongst clients of the dangers of financial indiscipline. 
BMI initiated and produced a short video documentary 
that created awareness about the benefits of obtaining 
BMI loans and how a borrower can utilize the loan 
properly in order to get the maximum benefit. It also 
drove home the message of how a client can maximise 
the impact of the loan funds by treating it as a tool to 
overcome poverty. Additionally, it shows the importance 
of attending EDS trainings that helps improve their 
knowledge levels and teaches them skills that can benefit 
both their business venture and day-to-day lives on the 
home front. This powerful video was shown at all branches 
when clients stepped in to acquire a loan. Along with this, 
the Financial Literacy programme of BMI, which focused 
on the issue of multiple borrowings and many others, was 
able to train as many as 10,500 individuals on how to 
make sound financial decisions prior to obtaining loans.

Stakeholder concern/topic : Inadequate loan size 
and inflexible loan periods
As competition increases from other MFIs in an already-
crowded microfinance landscape, several MFIs have 
resorted to providing larger loans to prospective clients 
as their first and second loans. This has led to numerous 
requests from new and existing BMI clients for an increase 
in the initial loan amounts. Additionally, these clients 
continued to request for a flexible payment period that 
introduced 12, 24 and 36 months setlment period so that 
they can fast track the loan repayment by settling it in a 
shorter period or pay over a longer period.

BMI’s Action in 2015

BMI took the client requests into consideration and 
accordingly the initial loan sizes of certain loan products 
were increased. The loan repayment period was also 
made flexible to provide the clients with more options, 
based on their repayment capability. Accordingly, 
clients could select the loan repayment period such as 
12-months, 18-months, 24-months or even more. 

Stakeholder concern/topic : Inadequate legal 
framework in the microfinance industry
The lack of a proper legal framework for microfinance 
industry has resulted in numerous MFIs entering the market 
and carrying out their operations with a greater focus on 
profit-generation and less on helping to reduce poverty 
levels. The Microfinance Act has been under discussion for 
significant period of time but it was not passed in 2014 or 
2015 due to various reasons.

BMI’s Action in 2015

As a leading member of the Lanka Microfinance 
Practitioners’ Association, BMI was able to play a key 
role in LMFPA’s efforts to convince the Government to 
introduce the Act in 2016. Significant progress has been 
made in 2015 and the Act is expected to be passed 
in 2016. BMI was in the forefront in making significant 
changes to the bill in order so that NGOs/Not-for-profit 
initiatives are included into the regulatory framework.

Sustainability Review Contd.
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Supporting Communities
The principles on which BMI was formed underscores the 
organisation’s commitment towards creating positive 
change in the lives of the people we work with. As strong 
advocates of sustainable development, the Organisation 
firmly believes that the longer-term prosperity of the 
communities can only be achieved through sustainable 
development. Thus, BMI’s development programmes 
and other initiatives are carefully designed taking into 
consideration the economic, environmental and social 
dimensions.

The Economic dimension – BMI’s Approach

The economic focus of BMI operations is centred on the 
Organisation’s commitment towards equitable wealth 
creation and value addition to all stakeholders. All 
activities are aligned with the country’s future growth 
trajectory which emphasises inclusive growth and 
regional development. BMI’s strategy, goals and targets 
thus align the expectations of key stakeholders as well 
as the country’s economic development policy. These 
targets and goals are continuously monitored against the 
Organisation’s long-term strategic agenda. Furthermore, 
BMI’s investments are all socially-responsible, with positive 
impacts being accrued to multiple stakeholders. 

Measuring Economic Value

Economic Value Added (EVA) is utilised to measure the 
Organisation’s economic performance. Thus, total EVA 
generated during the year amounted to LKR 87.13 million. 
The following table illustrates BMI’s Economic Value in 
2015 reflecting its organisational viability.

Direct Economic Value Generated

Direct Economic Value Generated

Operational Income 456.96

Other Income 7.05 464.01

Economic Value Distributed

Operating Cost 65.11

Employee Cost 131.67

Financial Payment 139.41

Payment to Government 40.69 - 376.88

ECONOMIC VALUE RETAINED 87.13

Development Programmes
BMI carries out a range of Development Programmes 
and funding initiatives focused on improving the lives of 
specific communities throughout the year.

Funding for Programmes

BMI’s annual programmes and activities are set out in 
its operational plan for the year. The operational plan 
details the anticipated growth rate of disbursements, 
collections and other performance indicators on a 
branch-wise basis. Based on this information the Annual 
Fund Plan is prepared.

The entirety of BMI’s funds is sourced from institutions 
such as banks, MFI Lenders and NGOs. Donor funds are 
obtained for a particular purpose of lending as well as 
for general programmes. The deficit between the fund 
requirements based on the Annual Fund plan is bridged 
by borrowings. The actual performance and funding 
requirements against the operational plan are monitored 
on a weekly and monthly basis.

Process for Conducting Development Programmes

This process generally follows a sequence of activities:

1. Identifying needs of the community.

2. Design and implementation of programme on pilot 
basis.

3. Monitoring programme effectiveness and assessing 
impact.

4. Key learnings and rollout.

5. Client feedback and focus on continuous 
improvement.

STEP 01 - Identifying needs of the community

As an organisation focused on community development, 
all BMI’s programmes are carried out by engaging 
with the local community. The organization takes every 
possible step to ensure that it does not engage in any 
operations with actual and potential negative impacts 
on local communities. All employees on the front line are 
known to maintain very close ties with the communities 
that reside in that particular geographical region. This 
helps BMI to carry out comprehensive assessments of the 
needs of the families on a regular basis. This is primarily 
done by maintaining a continuous dialogue with the 
affected communities. Additionally, BMI conducts open 
meetings in these areas to identify the requirements of the 
people and to introduce the services already available 
through BMI.
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STEP 02 - Design and implementation of programme on 
pilot basis

The expectations of BMI’s key stakeholder, the vulnerable 
communities, are given due consideration during the 
design phase of a development programme. Once the 
needs of the community have been properly identified, 
numerous internal discussions are carried out to analyse 
the feedback and to reach a final decision on the 
programme. Where necessary, the organization reaches 
out to third parties for their inputs and may engage 
with its funding partners. Shared priorities and goals 
are taken into consideration when plans are set for joint 
programmes. Having taken all inputs into consideration, 
the final outline of the programme is laid out and 
communicated to the target communities. 

While some programmes are directly implemented, 
others, especially those that are being implemented 
for the very first time, are put to a pilot run. Such pilot 
programmes are carried out for a limited target group 
and are used to gauge the operational aspects of the 
programme, the response from the communities and how 
feasible the programme is in the long run. If the response 
is as per the expectations, the programme is expanded to 
other geographical areas where BMI operates in.

STEP 03 - Monitoring programme effectiveness and 
assessing impact

All programmes carried out by BMI are continuously 
monitored in order to ensure that BMI is operating 
effectively and efficiently in accordance with the 
organisation’s stated missions and the expectations of 
the stakeholders. Programme effectiveness is constantly 
monitored against the organisation’s operational plan. 
The operational plan specifies indicators such as poverty 
targeting disbursements, outstanding loans, collections, 
Portfolio at Risk, sustainability levels, as well as the number 
of EDS training programmes and the participation levels 
at these programmes. Actual performance of these 
indicators is monitored against the budget detailed in 
the operational plan. Programme effectiveness is also 
monitored directly by the Board, who visit the localities 
and perform field visits on a regular basis.

Assessing programme impact also plays a crucial role 
in BMI’s programme management process. The tools 
used in this regard allows BMI to identify critical success 
factors, areas of opportunities and risk and support the 
Organisation’s learning process. Impact assessment is 
carried out as follows;

• Measuring the Progression from Poverty - For this 
purpose BMI utilises Progress out of Poverty Index (PPI) 
which is an internationally-accepted statistical tool 
that takes into consideration a randomly selected 
sample of BMI clients from multiple regions and 
analyses the overall improvement in the poverty level 
of the families of clients subsequent to carrying out a 
development programme.

• Impact Survey and Case Studies - BMI measures 
the impact its programmes by carrying out an 
Impact Survey that measured the direct and indirect 
employment generation through BMI Development 
Programmes. In addition to the employment 
generated to the business loan borrower, the 
business ventures also usually facilitate employment 
for the borrowers’ family members, relatives and 
others also increase income, assets quality of clients.

STEP 04 – Identifying key learnings and rollout

Through the various monitoring mechanisms, the overall 
impact of programmes is measured and necessary 
changes implemented in programmes. When it comes 
to pilot programmes, they are generally carried out in 
selected geographical locations and have the potential 
for expansion across all BMI branches and geographical 
locations if they are successful. Therefore, constant 
monitoring takes place to gauge the progress of the 
programme and the response from the clients. After a 
lapse of a reasonable amount of time, if the outcomes 
are positive and the necessary resources are sufficiently 
available, the pilot programme is extended to reach a 
larger number of BMI clients or in some instances to cover 
the entire BMI client base. On rare occasions, should the 
outcome of the pilot programme be below expectations 
over a period of time, the programme is shelved and, 
based on the key learnings, the resources are allocated 
to other programmes.

Sustainability Review Contd.



Berendina Microfinance Institute (Guarantee) Limited
Annual Report - 2015

Berendina Microfinance Institute (Guarantee) Limited
Annual Report - 2015

65

STEP 05 - Client feedback and focus on continuous 
improvement

BMI lays great emphasis on obtaining feedback from 
clients about the development programmes. Clients 
are encouraged to give honest feedback, ideas for 
improvement or even make a complaint if necessary. 
Clients can reach out to the Branch Manager, Area 
Managers or the Head Office via telephone or meet in 
person in order to do so. The legitimacy of the complaint 
is assessed by the relevant Branch Manager and 
necessary action taken, if required. Regular meetings 
are held with the staff and partners in order to ensure 
that the programmes are carried out in line with its 
objectives. During the year, BMI initiated and produced a 
short video documentary that created awareness about 
the benefits of obtaining BMI loans and how a borrower 
can utilize the loan properly in order to get the maximum 
benefit. This video was shown at all branches when 
clients stepped in to acquire a loan. This has led to a 
higher level of understanding amongst clients about their 
responsibilities as borrowers and has increased the level 
of communication between BMI and clients.

Other Initiatives
In addition to the lending programmes and the EDS 
services provided by BMI and detailed in other sections 
of this Annual Report, BMI carries out a range of other 
initiatives to support its clients. These include:

Berendina Suwasahana

Berendina Suwasahana was introduced in 2013 to 
provide hospitalisation and funeral benefits to its clients. 
Under this scheme, a client and his or her child up to 
one-year-old will be given a compensation of LKR 250 
per day for hospitalization, for up to 10 days per year. 
Furthermore, funeral benefit of LKR 5,000 is provided in 
the unfortunate event of a funeral in the client’s family. 

Loan Risk Fund

This is an accumulated fund created based on a 
2% collection on loan amount at the time of loan 
disbursement. Full loan outstanding amount has been 
written off from this fund in case of client or the bread 
winner passes away and client is permanently disabled. 
This benefit was further increased in May 2015 by giving 
the blanket cover to spouse irrespective of whether he/
she is the breadwinner or not. In addition, it has been 
decided to use the interest income of this fund to cover 
the cost of Suwasahana benefits.
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Human Capital 
One of the most crucial factors in the continued success of 
BMI has been the extraordinary contribution made by the 
organization’s dedicated team. From the point of joining 
BMI, these individuals are able to grasp the vision of the 
organization and demonstrate their passion through their 
outstanding work ethic and determined approach in 
carrying out their duties.

The BMI Team
As at 31st December 2015, the BMI team comprised 
217 full-time employees in line with the expansion of the 
organization’s operations. During 2015, BMI initiated a 
plan to introduce a new staff grading system which is 
expected to be finalised in 2016. 

Since the introduction of the Employee Permanency Policy 
in January 2014, there has been a continuous increase 
in the number of permanent employees at BMI. As at 
31st Dec 2015, the number of permanent employees 
increased to 79 (36.4%) while the number of contract 
basis employees dropped to 138.

EMPLOYEE COMPOSITION - CATEGORY - WISE

(PERCENT)

GENERAL MANAGERS

SENIOR MANAGERS

MANAGERS

EXECUTIVES

NON-EXECUTIVES 11%

1% 4%

10%

74%

Recruitment Process
Recruitment of quality staff remains one of the biggest 
challenges for BMI primarily due to the extremely 
competitive nature of the Microfinance landscape where 
new entrants with greater resources attract both new and 
experienced talent and also poach trained employees 
from BMI. 

NEW HIRES - GENDER - WISE
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BMI’s recruitment and selection process has been 
tailor-made to attract self-motivated, high-performing 
employees that can easily fit into the culture of the 
organization. Since the nature of the work requires a 
strong personal commitment from the employee, the 
attitude of the prospective candidate is given special 
attention in order to gauge whether he or she would have 
the best chance of success in the BMI work environment. 
The candidate should possess the ability to grasp the 
Vision of the organization and have the passion to 
contribute meaningfully in order to uplift the lives of the 
less fortunate people in the country.

Sustainability Review Contd.
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The recruitment process generally involves three phases 
of interactions with the prospective candidate. For senior 
positions, external consultants are used to assist in the 
selection process in order to guarantee the best outcome. 
While both internal and external candidates are given 
equal priority when filling any vacancy, all external 
candidates are given ample time to properly attend to 
their responsibilities in their previous job prior to joining 
BMI. For field level positions, BMI takes extra precautions 
by requesting for Police Reports and letters from the 
Grama Sevaka Officer confirming residency.

HR Manual
During the year, BMI has identified the need for a 
comprehensive HR Manual. This manual will further 
streamline the HR systems and processes of the 
organization.

Job Descriptions and KPIs
BMI is of the belief that Job Descriptions should be made 
available for each and every position in the organization. 
Along with this, it is imperative that Key Performance 
Indicators (KPIs) are laid out for each employee at the 
beginning of the year and reviewed at the end of the 
year to measure the employee’s performance.

Induction Programme
The Induction Programme launched in 2014 was further 
finetuned during the year based on the key learnings 
achieved in 2014. The Induction Programme helps all new 
staff get an in-depth understanding of the culture of the 
organization, the importance of the work carried out by 
the team members at all levels and to provide them with 
the best possible chance to succeed at BMI. Under this 
programme, both office and field-level staff are brought 
to the Head Office where the Programme is conducted 
with a primary focus on operational aspects of the 
organization, together with other supporting services such 
as Admin, Finance, IT, HR and Internal Audit. Additionally, 
field-level staff are taken to their relevant operational 
areas and thoroughly briefed on the field level 
operations. Throughout the entire Induction Programme, 
the availability of a comprehensive checklist that requires 
sign-off from individuals conducting the various training 
sessions ensures that all new recruits get the required level 
of training and no areas are missed out.

Local Community Representation
Being an organization that is present in 17 branches 
across 6 districts of the country, BMI has always believed 
in a business model that makes every possible effort 
to recruit employees from the localities in which the 
branches operate in. From the regional-based senior 
management team, 75% is represented from the 
key areas BMI operates in - Kegalle, Nuwara Eliya, 
Anuradhapura, Trincomalee and Batticaloa. As these 
regions generally have smaller populations and close-
knit communities, such recruitments provides a solid 
platform for the organization to build on as the individuals 
concerned generally possess the ability to understand 
the positives and the negatives of the people living in the 
region. They also tend to have good relationships with the 
key individuals such as Government officials and religious 
leaders that reside in the area.

EMPLOYEE COMPOSITION - REGION - WISE
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Diversity and equal opportunity
BMI is an equal opportunity employer that does not 
discriminate between gender, age, race or religion. 
There is a conscious effort in the organization to bring 
about a good balance of different ethnicities and 
religions. Additionally, while the nature of the job at field 
level means that a majority of the employees are male, 
there continues to be a conscious effort to recruit female 
employees provided they are suitable candidates who 
can carry out the job responsibilities at a high level.
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EMPLOYEE COMPOSITION - GENDER - WISE

(PERCENT)

MALE FEMALE

28%

72%

Incentives
The Microfinance landscape that BMI operates is a 
highly-competitive one where purely profit-oriented MFIs 
with larger revenue tend to aggressively pursue the best 
microfinance talent available. Despite these challenges, 
BMI has been relatively successful in keeping employee 
turnover under control by providing a range of financial 
and non-financial incentives to its employees. 

The incentive scheme of BMI is both performance and 
loyalty based. For officer grade employees, which form 
the major portion of the team, incentives are based on a 
range of indicators including portfolio quality, case load, 
outstanding loan balance. 

Compensation
As a policy, BMI does not practice gender-based 
compensation. Compensation is strictly based on the 
level of experience, qualifications and performance. All 
BMI employees are also eligible for a wide range of other 
financial benefits.

• Health insurance, which includes outdoor medical 
claims and hospitalisation costs for employees and 
direct family members.

• Personal accident cover.

• Workman Compensation Insurance.

• Special allowances in the event of a death of a close 
family member.

• Special allowances for marriage.

• Interest-free, salary deductible loans for a variety of 
purposes including festival advances, motorcycle 
loans and during events of distress.

• Housing loans at a minimal effective interest rate of 
5% upon completion of three years of service.

The above incentive scheme underwent notable 
enhancements during the year.

• Hospitalisation benefit cost for Government hospitals 
was increased to LKR 2,750 per day

• Personal accident insurance cover was brought to a 
flat level of LKR 2 million for all employees, instead of 
the previous two-tier approach

During the year under review, a total of LKR 12.4 million 
was disbursed as staff loans.

Defined Benefit Plan

All BMI employees are entitled to Employees’ Provident 
Fund contributions in line with the country’s labour laws 
and statutes. The organisation and employees contribute 
15% and 10% of their gross emoluments respectively 
which is a higher percentage than the regulated minimum 
of 12% and 8% respectively. BMI also contributes 3% for 
ETF contributions.

Additionally, gratuity payments are made upon 
retirement of service for employees who have completed 
5 years of service. The post-employment benefit 
obligation as at end-December 2015 amounted to LKR 
7.9 million. This is assessed internally on an annual basis.

Training & Development
Training and development at BMI focuses primarily 
on two aspects – development of technical skills and 
development of general skills. The training arm of the 
Human Resource Department prepares a comprehensive 
annual training plan for the entire staff based on the 
identified skill gaps and the feedback obtained from 
annual performance appraisals of staff. Training is carried 
out using internal resources as well as external experts. 

When new staff is recruited, they undergo an Induction 
Programme that generally lasts about two weeks. After 
a period of 3 to 6 months a set of internal or external 
training programmes are arranged. After one year has 
lapsed, based on the individuals’ performances, the 
training programme is expanded to cover external 
training which puts them on the path to achieve a 
diploma, degree or postgraduate programmes.

During the year under review, several technical and non-
technical training programmes were conducted for all 
employee categories. Total investment on developing the 
BMI’s human capital amounted to LKR 3.6 million during 
the year.

Sustainability Review Contd.
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Field Operational Staff Education

As an MFI, BMI places great importance on key staff 
members learning every aspect about the complex 
microfinance industry. Such industry-specific skills are 
obtained by completing the Microfinance Diploma 
conducted by the Institute of Bankers of Sri Lanka and the 
University of Colombo as well as the Certificate of Micro 
Credit Management courses developed by the Sri Lanka 
Credit Management Institute. Every year, high-performing 
individuals are selected to follow both the Diploma and 
the Certificate course.

During the year under review 07 of BMI staff received 
scholarships for Microfinance Diploma and Credit 
Management Certificate courses. Granting of 
scholarships are based on pre-determined selection 
criteria that includes service period, level of performance 
and disciplinary issues, among many others.

Staff Training Conducted in 2015

Training Programme Number of 
Participants

Programmes conducted by Internal Staff

Senova Training 14

Viyapara Jaya TOT (Sinhala & Tamil) 58

Financial literacy TOT (Tamil & Sinhala) 58

Programmes conducted by External 
Resource Persons/Institutions
Certificate of Micro Credit Management 04

Diploma in Microfinance - IBSL 03

Training on 5S Concept 31

Business Counselling Training 13

Microsoft Office Training 2

PPI Training 107

Client Care Programme 127

Unleash Your Capacity 28

Workshop on International Financial 
Reporting Standards 

3

Soft Skill Development Training 28

Workshop on Payee Tax 3

Seminar for Effective Fund Raising 1

Workshop on Terminal Benefits 1

Leadership Skills 32

Operational & Financial Sustainability 3

Training Workshop on Product Development 3

Training Programme Number of 
Participants

SIYB TOT 5

Financial Literacy for Credit & Recovery 
Officer 

1

Motivation & Positive Attitude Development 7

City & Guilds – Trainer’s training 1

Foreign Training

Exposure Visit – BASIX Academy - India 12

TOTAL PARTICIPANTS 545

Awards & Recognition
In 2015, BMI initiated the “Best Employee” selection 
procedure for the purpose of increasing motivation and 
performance while retaining the best employees within 
the organization. 

The best national level employees in 2013 were given 
an overseas tour while cash prizes were provided for 
those who were not eligible for the tour. In addition, 
“Best Branch” was also awarded with a cash prize 
and all selected best staff has been given a letter of 
appreciation in order to recognize their achievement 
officially. 

The overseas tour to the best staff in 2013 was organized 
in September 2015. A group of 12 was selected including 
best performing staff in the Head Office and branches. 
BMI selected “BASIX Academy for Livelihoods and 
Micro-Enterprise Promotion” in Hyderabad, India as a 
facilitator for this excursion. Apart from appreciating 
performance of best staff, the programme intended to 
give an exposure to present management practices in 
neighbouring countries while also serving to develop staff 
capacity and motivation.

The whole tour was a combination of knowledge 
sharing class room sessions and field visits along with 
sightseeing and shopping. Class room sessions were 
designed to cover most important areas in microfinance 
industry such as Social Performance Management (SPM), 
Progress out of Poverty (PPI), Client Protection Principals 
(CPP) and Enterprise Development Services (EDS) with 
a combination of field visits to 4 major microfinance 
companies in India.
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Performance Management
During the year, each and every employee was clearly 
communicated on their respective Key Performance 
Indicators (KPIs) set out for the year. The KPIs were 
discussed and agreed upon between managers and 
their subordinates giving both parties the opportunity 
to voice their opinion and clarify matters. At the end 
the year, a meeting was held between a panel and the 
employee to review the individual’s performance during 
the year and openly discuss any issues that may have 
arisen, upon which increments, promotions and training 
requirements were based on.

Work-life Balance
BMI encourages a healthy work-life balance as one of 
the many ways of gaining employee loyalty in the long-
term. Employees are encouraged to work efficiently 
during office hours so that there is no necessity to work 
after office hours or weekends. They are also allowed to 
take their stipulated leaves on a regular basis without any 
hassle. Team building exercises are conducted regularly 
to improve overall team dynamics by building close-
knit teams that work well together, even under stressful 
circumstances. 

After a lapse of one year due to the tragic occurrences 
of 2014 in the BMI family, the annual staff get together 
was brought back into the calendar year bringing fun 
and laughter into the lives of BMI employees. Different 
branches and Head Office staff also arrange trips on 
their own for which BMI pays the transport cost and other 
related costs for the whole family.

Staff Retention
In recent years, the Microfinance industry has steadily 
become one of the most competitive industries due 
to the increasing number of MFIs entering the market. 
This has resulted in a high demand for microfinance 
staff, especially those with experience in the field. MFIs 
that operate purely for profit purposes have a distinct 
advantage over BMI due to their financial strength. 
Retention of staff has also been a challenge owing to 
the perception of instability within the NGO sector when 
compared to private and government sectors. 

In order to combat this problem, BMI continually reviews 
and revises its HR policies. BMI attempts to tackle the 
challenge of staff retention using a mix of financial and 
non-financial incentives. The staff grading system that has 
been put forward for discussion is expected to provide 
a boost as it will help all staff members on outlining their 
career path at BMI. While other MFIs may have a distinct 
advantage in terms of financial resources, BMI believes 
that its genuine commitment to bettering the lives of the 
less fortunate communities in Sri Lanka, together with the 
right balance of financial and non-financial incentives 
will continue to help the organization increase its staff 
retention.

TURNOVER - GENDER - WISE

(PERCENT)

MALE FEMALE

69%

31%
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Mrs. Jeevanantham Thamayanthy, aged 35, a resident 
in Puthukudiyiruppu, Thambalagamuwa, Trincomalee 
has three school-going children. Her husband, Mr. N. 
Jeevanantham, works in the Zonal Education Office as a 
clerk. The family’s sole income was Mr. Jeevanantham’s 
salary of LKR 30,000. With school and household 
expenses on the rise, the family is on a tight budget. With 
five members of extended family dependent on Mr. 
Jeevanantham’s salary, additional expenses are difficult 
to bear. Given this scenario, the family is unable to receive 
adequate medical support and the children are unable to 
attend private classes to support their education. 

Having come across the Berendina loan programme, 
Mrs. Jeevanantham proceeded with her first loan of LKR 
30,000 she purchased chicks for LKR 20,000. Following 
the success of her first loan, she took a second loan of LKR 
50,000 from which LKR 20,000 was spent on increasing 
the chicks’ farm while LKR 25,000 was spent for hen cages. 
With the purchasing of hen cages, she was able to further 
developed her poultry business. 

With business beginning to boom, Mrs. Jeevanantham 
went for a third loan of LKR 75,000, purchasing hens and 
chicks to expand on the poultry farm. With the money 
she had saved, a large cage was built for the farm. With 

an increase in business and combined with her husband’s 
income, Mrs. Jeevanantham states that they are able to 
send their children for private tuition classes and have 
increased their savings. With ten perches of land, the 
family intends to expand the poultry farm with the hope of 
becoming a successful business in the area. 

With their dedication to improving their lives and the 
thriving nature of the poultry farming business, Mrs. 
Jeevanantham was awarded “Best Entrepreneur for 
Animal Husbandry” at the “Best Entrepreneur Awards 
2015” and received LKR 10,000 as a cash prize. “I 
became popular among women in Trincomalee area 
for developing our business. I am happy I came to the 
Berendina programme. With my business, we are able to 
satisfy the needs of our children’s education, enjoy proper 
healthcare, water and electricity facilities and take care 
of other domestic work without too much burden on our 
finances. Five years ago our income was LKR 30,000. Now 
it has increased to LKR 60,000. We are happy because we 
can save up more for the future. I am thankful to Berendina 
for giving me a loan at such a low interest rate. With that 
help, I improved my business through the loan system 
and won the “Best Entrepreneur for Animal Husbandry” 
award. Also, I have been able to build a good reputation 
in the area for my business venture,” says a smiling Mrs. 
Jeevanantham

An inspirational award-winner
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Leadership skills training 

A training was organized by BMI to develop good leadership 

skills of employees that are essential for career and 

organizational success. The training was conducted by Mr 

Darshana Welikala, the CEO & Founder of Business Skills (Pvt) 

Ltd. 32 BMI management staff including both branch and head 

office was participated in this program.

Visit of Directors of Berendina Stichting, Netherlands
 

The Directors from Berendina Stichting, Netherlands, Mr. Ab Schols and 

Mr Steven Faber paid a visit to Berendina. During the visit they 

participated in the Berendina Group Annual General Meeting held on 

the 31st of March 2015 and visited several Berendina beneficiaries 

and projects in the Puttalam, Ginigathhena and Norwood areas from 

the 2nd to 4th of April 2015.

Facilitation of exposure visit for Child fund Sri Lanka
 
BMI has facilitated an exposure visit for Child Fund Sri Lanka. A group of 90 participants visited 4 branches 

which are Valachchenei, Trincomalee, Serunuwara and Thampalgamuwa. The aim of the visit was to gain 

an understanding about BMI overall operation and procedures, associated operations, and procedures 

and learn from BMI’s experience in the sector. During these three days, the group observed BMI branch 

operations by visiting a BMI cluster meeting in progress and also visited few BMI clients in the area.

Food Safety and Hygiene training in Trincomalee – Partnered with SLFPA

Berendina Micro Finance Institute (Gte) Ltd is partnered with Sri Lanka Food Processors Association (SLFPA) to 

support its entrepreneurs who are involving in the food processing businesses in order to create awareness 

on food safety and hygiene, standardize food processing practices. As an initial attempt, Berendina 

organized a Two days training workshop in Trincomalee to empower the food sector beneficiaries of its 

operational areas such as Trincomalee,Thambalagamuwa and erunuwara. Pilot training for Berendina 

beneficiaries was held on 17th and 18th of March 2015 at Kulakottan hall and this was conducted by SLFPA. 

As an outcome of this programme, micro level and small level food processing entrepreneurs built their 

knowledge and capacity about food processing with safety and hygienic manner. And workshop added 

skills to the beneficiaries to improve their food processing practices. Berendina and SLFPA are planning to 

conduct more programmes in order to empower food sector entrepreneurs in future, after experiencing the 

success of the programme,   

2015
FEBRUARY

2015
MARCH

01.

02.

03.

BMI Chairman, Mr. Dulan De Silva, represented at these events 
as a speaker

• Chief Guest and speaker at the forum ‘Doing Business though   

 innovation’ organized by the Lanka Micro Finance Practitioners  

 Network and InfrasoftTech held on 19th March 2015 at Sri Lanka  

 Foundation Institute.

• Presenter at ‘Workshop on Microfinance for Senior Citizens’

 organized by the National Secretariat for  Elders of the Ministry of  

 Social Services and Helpage Sri Lanka held on 30th March 2015  

 Urban Development Authority Auditorium, Battaramulla.

• Presenter at the 52nd open forum; ‘Debt for Development?   

 Understanding the effects of credit as a development intervention’ of  

 the Centre for Poverty Analysis (CEPA)’ held on 30th March 2015 at  

 the Lakshman Kadirgamar Institute for International Relations and  

 Strategic Studies. Topic spoken “Critiquing commercial micro finance  

 and how to exacerbate micro finance sector”.
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2015
MAY

5S Training

Dr. Premasiri Gamage has conducted a training to 

regional and corporate management teams of BMI 

to educate and share his knowledge about 5S. BMI 

organized such a training to encourage staff in 

implementing this system in the organization.
MAY

5S Training

Dr. Premasiri Gamage has conducted a training to 

regional and corporate management teams of BMI

to educate and share his knowledge about 5S. BMI 

organized such a training to encourage staff in 

implementing this system in the organization.

Annual Staff Get-together
  
The annual staff get together of 

Berendina was held on June at Long 

Beach Resort Koggala. It was a two 

day even and had a participation of 

all Berendina employees, including 

BDS and BEC (Sister companies). It 

was an event filled with entertainment  

where Berendina staff who do not 

meet regularly can get together and 

accompany each other. The first day 

agenda included appreciating of 

Berendina’s long term employees 

followed by a musical show and sport 

events were held during the second 

day.

2015
JUNE

2015
JULY

2015
JULY

Seminar for 5th grade scholarship students

(Sinhala & Tamil medium)

BMI Bulathkohupitiya branch organized a seminar for grade five scholarship students of BMI clients in the 

area. The seminar was conducted for both Sinhala and Tamil medium students. And the Sinhala seminar 

was facilitated by an experienced government teacher, Mr. Jayamini Upul while Ms M. I. Vasheera has 

conducted in the Tamil medium.

Seminar for 5th grade scholarship students (Sinhala)

BMI Ipalogama branch organized a seminar for grade five 

scholarship students of BMI clients in Kekirawa DS division. The 

seminar was conducted in Sinhala medium and it was 

facilitated by Zonal Educational Office, Kekirawa. 

Approximately 164 students have participated in this seminar.

2015
AUGUST

01.

2015
APRIL

Poverty focused client screening rolled out to all the branches

After successfully piloting of screening clients using PPI score of 39 and per head family income level of US$ 

2.5/day, BMI has introduced this method to all the branches. 

This is a very remarkable progressive action of BMI to remain poverty focused knowing that microfinance is 

easier with the clients who are not taken in but will not achieve the objectives of BMI.
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2015
SEPTEMBER

Training – “Unleash your capacity” 

In order to develop the leadership skills of staff, BMI organized a 

training program in collaboration with Mr. Hussain Buhary of 4sight 

Consulting (Pvt) Ltd. The training was designed to harness the 

leadership skills and to develop the ability of teamwork. It also 

covered organizational culture and work ethics as well as dynamics of 

communication. Human Resource personal at the head office, Branch 

Managers and AAOs from branches were participated at this 

program.

BMI team went for an exposure visit in India

 

A group of 12 employees was selected including best performed staff 

with a combination of Head Office and branches, and provided an 

overseas tour to India. BMI has selected “BASIX Academy for 

Livelihoods and Micro-Enterprise Promotion” in Hyderabad, India as a 

facilitator for this excursion. Apart from appreciating performance of 

best staff, the program intended to create relations in financial 

structure and management methods as well as to develop staff 

capacity and motivation.

2015
OCTOBER

“Viyapara Jayagrahanaya” motivational training 

programme in Nuwara Eliya region

Viyapa Jayagraganaya motivational training programme was 

conducted in Nuwara-Eliya region for over 600 clients by BMI. Dr. 

Ashoka Jinadasa - Winner of the 2015 MTC Global Outstanding 

Corporate Award for Consulting was the resource person for these 

trainings. 3 training programmes were conducted in Kotmale, 

Ginigathhena and Ragala. These energy-based training program 

helped entrepreneurs to succeed by unleashing the vast physical 

& mental power sleeping within them, and eliminating the 

negative emotions and limiting beliefs that block their success.

02.

01.

01.

2015
NOVEMBER

Best Entrepreneur Award

For the purpose of appreciating and 

motivating micro entrepreneurs who 

came out of deprivation with the 

assistance of BMI, the company 

arranged its sixth “Best Entrepreneur 

Competition” in 2015 November. The 

awarding ceremony was held in MAS 

Fabric Park Auditorium, Thulhiriya. 170 

entrepreneurs from 17 branches in 6 

districts contested in this competition for 

the 5 national level and 20 regional 

level awards.

Exposure visit to Mawanella CEB

A team of branch staff in Kegalle region including AAO, AAAO and BM made an exposure visit to observe 

the 5S implementation of Ceylon Electricity Board, Mawanella. CEB Mawanella has won the productivity 

Award in Kegalle District mainly for their implementation of 5S.

02.
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Client Care Program

A “client care” training program was initiated for branch staff in Kegalle, Nuwara Eliya and Anuradhapura 

regions. It was conducted by Mr. Mohan Palliyaguru in Life Skills Academy. The main objective of this 

training was to educate staff about the techniques and skills of handling clients and how to treat customers 

well. The initial program was conducted in Kegalle region and the two separate training programs for 

A’pura and N’Eliya regions was done in December.

03.

New Partnership with YBSL to help Sri Lankan Youth

 

BMI entered into a partnership with YBSL (Youth Business Srilanka) in order to help Sri Lankan youth. YBSL is a 

National Organization helping Sri Lankan Youth to start up their own businesses, by providing access to 

credit and act as a volunteer business mentor. The agreement was signed on December 2015 by both 

parties and the partnership consist of both credit and EDS components.

Winning of “Compliance Certificate” by BMI for Annual 

Report 2014

BMI Annual Report of 2014 has obtained a “Compliance Certificate” 

in the 51st Annual Report Awards 2015, conducted by The Institute of 

Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka. This is the first ever certificate 

received for BMI Annual Report and it will be a good start in 

achieving the excellence stake holder reporting in future.

The certificate was granted in appreciating the cohesive, clear and 

customized reporting specially in Compliance reports under the 

Not-for-profit organization including NGO category. This gives a clear 

identification of the current standard of stake holder reporting and 

BMI will target in achieving the excellence by improving the standard 

of reporting year by year.

02.

BMI clients joins hand in hand to increase scholarships for bright poor students

BMI join hands with BEC, its sister company to provide financial assistance for Bright Student Scholarships 

(BSS). The organization initiated a fund raising activity from its clients island wide. The clients have been 

given awareness at their cluster meeting about the good cause and let them contribute volunteer by way 

of EDS coupon.

A raffle drawn was held branch wise and given cash prizes for winners during the month of December 

2015, and a Pen with Berendina logo has been given to all clients who have donated their EDS coupons as 

a token of appreciation. In addition, 3 cash prizes awarded for the branches which was collected highest 

EDS coupons by way of donation. Accordingly, around 21,000 EDS coupons were donated by clients 

voluntarily to the value of LKR 5.9 Mn

03.

Exposure visit facilitation for Nepal team

For the purpose of sharing knowledge and to get an overall 

understanding about BMI operation, a team with 11 delegates 

from Self-help Development (CSD) in Nepal visited BMI on 

December 2015. CSD is an organization supports Microfinance 

Institutions by helping to create and enhance skills and knowledge 

of self-help groups and organizations at the grass root level in 

order to enhance livelihoods of poor. 
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2015
DECEMBER

Motivation and positive attitude development workshop

A workshop conducted for selected staff in head office on motivation 

and positive attitude, by Mr. Mohan Palloyaguru of Life Skills Academy. 

The workshop wrapped up the areas of Motivation & Positive Attitude 

Development (Responsibilities, turning negative attitude to positive 

attitude, working under minimum supervision). Participants were 

selected covering all major functions of the organization such as 

Finance, Administration and HR 
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Risk Management Review

The BMI understands the importance of performing risk 
assessments periodically to mitigate any risks involved 
in its overall risk management process. Therefore, BMI 
considers a comprehensive risk assessment to be a critical 
part of identifying and addressing the BMI strategy, 
operational model, external environment and financial 
concerns.

The Board of Directors bears the ultimate responsibility for 
oversight of risk management of the BMI and determines 
the risk treatments and reviews the governance structure, 
policy framework, risk management processes and other 
matters related to the effective management of risk on a 
regular basis.

RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS

1. Risk Identification

BMI is exposed to a number of risks with the potential to 
impact its ability to achieve strategic goals including 
financial performance. Identifying the different types 
of risks and their attendant consequences is vital for 
a smooth running of an organization. Having a risk 
management framework helps to maintain the balance 
between risk and reward, reduce possible unwelcome 
surprises, allow strategic planning and timely response 
permitting the BMI to make use of the scarce resources in 
an effective manner.

2. Risk Analysis

Risk assessment framework includes discussions with 
employees at all levels, departments of BMI. The 
employees are requested to recognize what they 
perceive as the key risks within their areas, while gathering 
ideas of ways to effectively address or mitigate them. 
Special attention is paid to those risks that can have a 
significant likelihood of occurrence. Mapping the risks 
based on their likelihood of occurrence and the potential 
impact if they occur, is a key part of risk analysis.

3. Risk Treatment

The history, culture, ethics, policies, ongoing compliance 
and employee intent are some factors that are taken 
into consideration, while assessing the likelihood and 
impact of the risks. Categorizing the probability of a risk 
occurrence is made using the scale minor, moderate 
or severe. Such rating has allowed BMI to protect its 
reputation aptitude and demeanor from any impediment.

4. Risk Monitoring and Review

The BMI has segregated duties regarding oversight 
of assets, reporting and payments to have sufficient 
verification and balances to protect against fraud or 
misuse of assets. The BMI pays a thoughtful consideration 
to controls over payments and having an appropriate 
reconciliation process by keeping track of inventory, 
reimbursement  of  travel expenses and similar matters. 
Whilst some risks can be managed by the organization, 
there are other, Macroeconomic risks and Macro 
prudential, regulatory and legal risks need to be 
monitored in order to assess their impact. 

A periodic risk assessment of the BMI has identified the 
following as potential risks and steps to mitigate them. 

CREDIT

RISK

MARKET

RISK

STRATEGIC

RISK

REPUTATIONAL

RISK

LIQUIDITY 

RISK

OPERATIONAL

RISK

Credit Risk 
Credit risk is simply defined as the potential that a 
borrower or counterparty will fail to meet its obligations 
in accordance with agreed terms. This comprised of 
counterparty risk, concentration risk and settlement 
risk. Management of credit risk is critical to BMI and 
our approach is to enhance value through credit risk 
management beyond mere regulatory compliance. It is 
managed through the credit risk management framework 
approved by the Board which comprises the followings:

• Strict evaluation of client’s creditworthiness with 
emphasis on payment capacity

• Special attention given to the “Credit Assessment” 
criteria in staff training curriculum, especially for 
Microfinance officers

• A comprehensive MIS which supports wide area of 
credit, EDS and other critical information analysis

• Consistent follow-up and strong recovery system that 
ensures maintaining of a lower NPL

• Conducting monthly progress review meetings

• Prioritizing build up of financial literacy of clients
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Market Risk 
Market risk is the potential of an adverse impact on the 
earnings or capital due to changes in interest rates, 
foreign exchange rates, commodity prices or equity and 
debt prices.BMI more exposed to interest rate risk due to 
loans and receivables and borrowings.

The Board regular monitored financial, economic and 
industry indicators to keep abreast of interest rate 
volatilities in order to minimize the impact on operational 
performance.

Strategic Risk
Strategic risks are typically external or affect the 
most senior management decisions. As such, they are 
often missed from many risk registers. The Board has a 
responsibility to make sure all these types of risks are 
included in their key strategic discussions.

• Two times per year the Board of Directors gathered 
and discuss particular matters on impact of the 
organization and decisions.

Reputation Risk
Reputation risk is a risk of loss resulting from damages to 
a firm’s reputation, in lost revenue, increased operating, 
capital or regulatory costs or destruction of shareholder 
value, consequent to an adverse or potentially 
criminal event even if the company is not found guilty. 
Adverse events typically associated with reputation 
risk include ethics, safety, security, sustainability, quality, 
and innovation. Reputational risk can be a matter of 
corporate trust and this type of risk can be informational 
in nature that may be difficult to realize financially. 
The Board has taken following actions to mitigate 
reputational risk:

• Monitoring and evaluating the compliance of 
statutory and legal requirement by General 
Managers and Senior Managers.

• A separate Communication Department to handle 
organizations’ corporate communication under the 
direct supervision of the BOD.

• Maintain a comprehensive complaint handling 
process overseen by senior managers at branch 
level.

Liquidity Risk 
Liquidity risk is inability to meet contractual and 
contingent financial obligations as they fall due, 
without incurring unacceptable losses which results to 
asset and liability mismatches. Therefore assess the 
need for funds to meet obligations and to ensure the 
availability of adequate funding to fulfill those needs at 
the appropriate time, both under normal and stressed 
conditions. To mitigate this risk the Board comprised the 
followings:

• Cash flows and projections are monitored  on weekly, 
monthly and annual basis

• Weekly analyze the variance in liquidity position

• Built up good relationship with funding partners

• Vigilant deposit and borrowing monitoring and 
managing process

Operational Risk
BMI is exposed to operational risk as it is inherent in all 
products and processes. Operational risk defined as the 
risk of losses stemming from inadequate or failed internal 
processes, people and systems or from external events 
such as natural disasters, social or political events as well 
as legal risk. Following actions are taken up to mitigate 
operational risk at BMI:

• A  comprehensive operational manual in place to 
maintain operational processes and procedures 
systematically

• Internal control procedures, policy documents and 
guidelines are circulated and maintained at all 
branches

• Annually review all policies and procedures by 
management team with consultation of BOD and 
made amendments if  necessary

• Internal control processes are audited  by internal 
audit  team to mainly cover the scope of the 
reliability of financial information, verify customers 
outstanding balances, safeguard assets, loan 
disbursement, recovery and documentation process
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Risk Management Review Contd. 

• Obtain monthly IT backup and regular system audits 
carried out by internal audit team. New system 
implementation process going on to mitigate 
identified current  system weaknesses

• A financial and non-financial incentive system 
properly designed based on performance and 
loyalty and made attractive provident fund 
contribution 

• Enabling a learning environment where employees 
can identify their personal potential and achieve 
them successfully by sponsoring and technical and 
soft skills trainings

• Proper grievance handling procedures and exit 
interviews to mitigate staff turnover

• The BOD and senior management continuously 
monitor the changes of statutory and regulatory 
requirements and ensure the BMI meets such 
requirements on time
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Corporate Governance

1. Internal Governance Structure
Internal governance structure of BMI is embedded 
within the organization and as a result, has an impact 
on the execution and monitoring of all governance 
related initiatives, systems and processes. The Internal 
Governance Structure encompasses;

1.1. The Board of Directors

1.2. Board Sub-Committees

1.3. Employee Empowerment

As represented in the governance framework, the above 
components are strengthened and complemented by 
internal policies, processes and procedures.

1.1. Board of Directors

BMI is highest governing body is its Board of Directors. In 
carrying out its responsibilities, the Board promotes a 
culture of openness and constructive dissent.

1.1.1.Board Responsibilities

• Formulating, implementing and monitoring of 
business strategies

Developing and implementing annual business plan, 
annual budgets and managing day-to-day operations 
are fulfilled by the corporate management team under 
the supervision of the Board of Directors. The Board 
is responsible for formulation, implementation and 
monitoring of business strategies with the participation 
of the corporate management team, with Area 
Managers and Branch Managers. The decisions are 
taken in a participatory manner. The annual schedule of 
programme is designed in line with the overall business 
strategy for the year based on the 3-year business plan. 
This schedule and financial budget is approved by the 
Board of Directors. The members of dutch nationals visit 
BMI twice a year in order to evaluate the progress of the 
programmes against the approved plan.

• Monitoring and evaluating internal control

The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring the 
adequacy and integrity of the organization’s internal 
policies, procedures and controls. Board members 
regularly conduct field visits to review the progress of the 
development programmes and they monitor whether 
the internal controls, integrity of information, and risk 
management policies are in place. The internal audit 
team is directly reporting to the Board of Directors while 
the external auditors are directly reporting to both local 
and foreign members. In addition, external consultants 

are regularly engaged to advise upon and present a 
balanced view on the organization’s key processes and 
activities:

• Compliance with laws, regulations and ethical 
standards.

• The company has been following ethical standards 
in carrying out operations while taking relevant 
measure to comply with laws and regulations 
wherever possible. 

• Consider all stakeholder interest in corporate 
decisions 

• The Board of Directors ensures minimum or no 
negative aspects towards stakeholders in the 
corporate decision making process.

• Adoption of appropriate accounting policies and 
fostering compliance with financial regulations

The Company’s Accounting Policies are prepared based 
on the Sri Lanka Accounting Standards (SLFRS and LKAS) 
and industry best practices. Further, such policies are 
reviewed annually and updated accordingly to reflect 
the true and fair financial position of the Company. 
Financial statements of the company are prepared and 
presented in compliance with the Sri Lanka Accounting 
Standards (SLFRSs and LKAS) and also comply with the 
requirements of the Companies Act No. 07 of 2007 
and the directions issued there under. The Independent 
Auditor’s Report is given on page 80 of this Report.

• Access to advice and services of the Company 
Secretary

All the Directors have access to the advice and service of 
the Company Secretary. The Secretary ensures that Board 
procedures are followed and are in compliance with the 
provisions of the Companies Act No.07 of 2007 and other 
applicable rules and regulations. The Secretary possesses 
the required qualifications as per the Companies Act and 
only the Board has the authority to change the Secretary.

1.1.2. Board Composition

The Board of Directors comprises of three Executive 
Directors including the Chairman. Other than Board of 
directors 04 individuals representing Berendina Stichting 
as members of BMI, is the principal funder which is a Trust 
registered in Netherlands and the founder of BMI  
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1.1.3. Board Skills

The Board is experience in microfinance, social 
development, livelihoods, NGO management and  
other related aspects and coupled with passion and 
commitment towards poverty alleviation.

1.1.4. Access to Independent Professional Advice

In order to preserve the independence of the Board and 
to strengthen the decision making process, the Board 
seeks independent professional advice for finance, legal, 
HR and IT when deemed necessary 

1.1.5. Board Meetings

Name of Director Status Date of Meeting

28/04/2015 26/11/2015

Mr.Dulan De Silva* Chairman √ √

Mr.Anura Atapattu Executive 
Director

√ √

Mr.Jagath 
Godakanda

Executive 
Director

√ √

√-Present  -Absent  

1.2. Board Sub committee

1.2.1. Audit Committee

The Board of Directors initiated Audit Committee in 2015. 
The role of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board in 
fulfilling its oversight responsibilities for the integrity of the 
financial statements of the company, the internal control 
and risk management systems and its compliance with 
legal and regulatory requirements, the external auditors’ 
performance, qualifications and independence, and 
the adequacy and performance of the internal audit 
function.

1.2.2. Human Resource Committee

The Human Resource Committee of BMI determines and 
agrees with the Board a framework for remuneration 
considers targets, and benchmark principles, for any 
performance related pay schemes, within terms of 
agreed framework, determine total remuneration 
package of each employee, keeping in view; 
performance, industry trends and past remuneration and 
succession planning of Key Management Personnel

HR or Management does not determine BOD 
remuneration and members decide any other related 
benefits. Basically critical HR decisions are taken as a 
team that includes relevant GMs, HR representative 
and Directors. Such as Special increments if any, Staff 
Promotions / designation changes, Issues related to 
employment which is raised by respective employees. In 
addition the committee discusses and takes decisions on 
special cases such as deciding & calculating of Cost of 
Living allowances etc. Additionally it involves as a team 
on new HR policies and developments to improve certain 
outdated circulars and procedures, staff scholarship 
circulars, Staff Grading system, for instance. Always 
looking for continuous improvement of HR processes and 
systems in most effective and efficient way in line with best 
practices in HR.

1.3. Employee Empowerment

Given the importance the BMI places on its employees 
for the growth of the organization, policies, processes 
and systems are in place to ensure effective recruitment, 
development and retention of this vital stakeholder. 
The bedrock of these policies is the BMI’s competency 
framework. 

Top management and other senior staff are mandated 
to involve, as appropriate, all levels of staff in formulating 
goals, strategies and plans, Decision rights were defined 
for each level of employment in order to instill a sense 
of ownership, reduce bureaucracy and speed-up the 
decision making process. BMI created an environment to 
put forward employees’ independent opinions at decision 
making forums and discussions through obtaining of 
operational level feedback for all new developments 
in critical aspects. Use of field level employees in all 
operational decision making process and gave high 
value to their constructive inputs as part of decision 
making process.

The BMI strongly believes that constructive disagreement 
is essential for optimal decision making. Moreover, the BMI  
provides a safe, secure and conducive environment for its 
employees, allows freedom of association and collective 
bargaining, prohibits child labour, forced or compulsory 
labour and any discrimination based on gender, race or 
religion, and promotes workplaces which are free from 
physical, verbal or sexual harassment. 
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Accounts & Admin 
Officers

Enterprise 
Development Officers 

Microfinance
Officers 

Operations
Manager

General Manager - Operations General Manager - Finance

Manager -
Fund Raising  & MIS

Senior
Accountant

Head of HR &
 Admin.

Assistant Manager ITBranch Managers Enterprise
Development

Executive

Internal Auditors

Senior IT Officer

MIS Executive Accounts Executives Admin Executive

Senior Internal
Auditor

HR Executive

Assistant Accounts &
Admin Officers 

Board of Directors

Manager Enterprise
Development

Area Managers 

ORGANIZATIONAL 
STRUCTURE

1.3.1. BMI Organizational Structure

Corporate Governance Contd.
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2. Integrated Governance

2.1. Human Resource Governance

BMI human resource governance is designed in a manner 
that enables high accessibility by any employee to 
every level of management. BMI has equal opportunity 
for all level of employees and constant dialogue and 
facilitation are also maintained ranging from work 
related issues to matters pertaining to general interest 
that could affect employees. Therefore, BMI follows an 
open door policy for its employees and this is promoted 
at all levels of the the organization.

2.1.1 Performance Management

The Performance Management System is at the heart 
of many supporting human resource management 
processes such as learning and development, career 
development, succession planning, talent management, 
rewards/recognition and compensation/benefits.

BMI conducted local and foreign exposure visits and 
special seminar sessions for employees to uplift their soft 
and hard skills. Notwithstanding that, the company select 
the “Best employee of the year” and gift cash and non 
cash benefits. BMI has a policy to prioritize internal staff 
members for job openings.

2.2. Channels to Reach All Stakeholders of the Company

2.2.1. Principal Activities

The principal activities of the company are providing 
Micro loan facilities for income generation for business 
starting, business development, asset building, agriculture 
and enterprise development services etc. Aim of BMI 
is to build sustainable micro finance organization by 
providing financial & enterprise development services 
to the poverty affected communities in an efficient and 
productive manner.

2.2.2. Financial Reporting

The Management is responsible for the preparation 
and fair presentation of the Financial Statements in 
accordance Sri Lanka Financial Reporting Standards 
(LKAS/SLFRS).

2.2.3. Auditors Report

The Auditors report on the Financial Statements of the BMI 
is given on page 92-93. 

2.2.4. Related party transactions

The BMI considers its board of directors and members 
of corporate management as the key management 
personnel. Details on Financial Statements of the BMI on 
page 118 - Note 24.

2.2.5. Internal control

“The Directors’ Statement on Internal Control” 
acknowledges their responsibility for a sound system of 
internal control on page 86 .

2.2.6. Going concern

The going concern has been adopted in the preparation 
of the Financial Statements after making necessary 
inquiries and reviews, the management is confident that 
BMI has adequate resources to continue its operational 
existence for the foreseeable future.

3. Assurance Mechanisms
The Assurance Mechanisms comprise of the various 
supervisory, monitoring and benchmarking elements of 
the BMI Corporate Governance System which are used 
to measure actual against plan with a view to signaling 
the need for quick corrective action, when necessary. 
These mechanisms also act as safety nets and internal 
checks in the governance system. The Board of Directors 
and General Managers with corporate management 
team are committed towards assuring the best corporate 
governance mechanism. 

3.1. BMI Code of Conduct

The objectives of the Code of Conduct are strongly 
affirmed by a strong set of Corporate Values which are 
well institutionalized at all levels within the BMI through 
structured communication. Adherence to the Company 
and compliance with rules and regulations applying 
in the territories that the BMI operates in. Conduct all 
business in an ethical manner at all times in keeping 
with acceptable business practices and exercise of 
professionalism and integrity in all businesses and “public” 
personal transactions. The degree of employee steadfast 
with corporate values and their degree of loyalty to the 
BMI Code of Conduct are the key elements of reward and 
recognition schemes.

The BMI strategic vision, mission and goals are disclosed 
in the the Annual Report and have been consistently 
referred to by the Chairman, Sector and Business Unit 
Heads during employee and other key stakeholder 
engagement
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4. Regulatory and Accounting Benchmarks
The Board and the members of the corporate 
management, strive to ensure that the company 
complied with the laws and regulations of the country it 
operated in.

The Board of Directors also took all reasonable steps in 
ensuring that all financial statements were prepared in 
accordance with the Sri Lanka Accounting Standards 
(SLFRS/LKAS) issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of Sri Lanka (CA Sri Lanka) . Information 
in the financial statements of the Annual Report are 
supplemented by a detailed Management Discussion 
and Analysis which explains to stakeholders the strategic, 
operational, investment, sustainability and risk related 
aspects of the company that have translated into 
the reported financial performance and are likely to 
influence future results. BMI is fully compliant with all 
the mandatory rules and regulations stipulated by the 
Companies Act No. 7 of 2007.

BMI has also given due consideration to the Best Practice 
on Corporate Governance Reporting guidelines 
jointly set out by CA Sri Lanka and the SEC (Securities & 
Exchange Commission) and embraced such practices 
voluntarily haring identified them as relevant and value 
adding.

Corporate Governance Contd.



Berendina Microfinance Institute (Guarantee) Limited
Annual Report - 2015

Berendina Microfinance Institute (Guarantee) Limited
Annual Report - 2015

85

30-year-old B.J. Reet lives in Lindula village in the Nuwara 
Eliya District Ambagamuwa District Secretariat Division. 
He is an estate worker in Battalgalla Estate. He built his 
home in 2013 where he lives with his wife, 3 children and 
parents. However, he was unable to build a toilet for his 
home due to insufficient funds. Therefore, his family has 
to use his brother’s toilet that is located 500m away from 
his home. This causes great difficulty to the whole family, 
especially during night time.

After trying unsuccessfully to find funding from the estate 
management to construct his own toilet, Mr.Reet joined 
the Berendina loan programme in February 2015 where 
he obtained his first loan of LKR 30,000 through the 
EWHCS. He was soon able to build a toilet in his home and 
thereby improve sanitory facility to the family and move 
away from all the difficulties previously faced.

Meeting the needs of every family



Berendina Microfinance Institute (Guarantee) Limited
Annual Report - 2015

Berendina Microfinance Institute (Guarantee) Limited
Annual Report - 2015

86

Requirement
The ‘Code of Best Practice on Corporate Governance 
2013’ (The Code) issued jointly by the Securities and 
Exchange Commission and The Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of Sri Lanka recommends, Board to present a 
statement on internal controls.

Responsibility
Maintaining a sound system of internal controls to 
safeguard stakeholders’ investment and the Company’s 
assets is the responsibility of the Board of Directors. The 
Board identifies significant risks on an ongoing basis and 
ensures the implementation of appropriate systems to 
evaluate and manage identified risks.

Key features of process adopted in applying and reviewing 
the design and effectiveness of the internal Control system 
on Financial Reporting

The Board established to assist on ensuring the 
effectiveness of the company’s operations and that the 
company’s operations are in accordance with corporate 
objective, strategy and annual budget, policies, business 
environment and internal operating conditions. The 
company internal audit function provides comfort on the 
efficiency and effectiveness of the Internal Control System. 
It monitors compliance with policies and procedures and 
highlights significant findings in respect of noncompliance.

The frequency of audits of branches is determined by 
the level of risk assessed. The Board reviews internal 
control issues identified by the company Internal 
Auditors, External Auditors, regulatory authorities and the 
management, and evaluates the adequacy of internal 
control system.

Confirmation Statement
The Board of Directors of Berendina Microfinance Institute 
(Guarantee) Limited confirm that the financial reporting 
system has been designed to provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting 
and that the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes has been done in accordance with 
Sri Lanka Accounting Standards (SLFRS/LKAS) and 
Companies Act No. 07 of 2007.

………………………….…..
Chairman

………………………………
Director

30 March 2016 
Colombo

Directors’ Statement on Internal Control
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Annual Report of the Board of Directors on the
Affairs of the Company
The director’s of Berendina Microfinance Institute (Gte) Ltd 
have pleasure in submitting their report together with the 
audited financial statements of the company for the year 
ended 31st December 2015.

Berendina Microfinance Institute (Gte) Ltd was 
incorporated as a company limited by a Guarantee, 
under the Companies Act No. 7 of 2007. The company 
was initially registered on 9th April 2007 under the 
Companies Act No. 17 of 1982 (Reg: No. NPBG 271) 
and later with the amendment of Companies Act, it was 
re-registered on 10th March 2008 with the registration 
number of GL 9.

Principle activities of the company and the review 
of performance during the year
The principal activities of the Company during the year 
were providing Micro Loan facilities for Asset Building, 
Business starting, Business development, Agriculture etc 
combined with Enterprise Development Services. The aim 
of the company is to build a sustainable microfinance 
organization by providing financial technical assistance 
to the most vulnerable segment of the society in an 
efficient and productive manner. 

The chairman’s review on page 12 of this report provides 
an overall assessment of the operational and financial 
performance of the company, whilst a detailed analysis 
of the operational and financial results provided in 
Management discussion and analysis Sections on pages 
33-57 of this report.

Financial Statements
The complete financial statements of the Company 
prepared in accordance with Sri Lanka Accounting 
Standards comprising Sri Lanka Financial Reporting 
Standards by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
Sri Lanka and in compliance with the requirements of 
section 51 of the Companies Act No. 07 of 2007 inclusive 
of specific disclosures, duly signed by two Directors on 
behalf of the Board and the Auditors are given on pages 
94-95.

Auditor’s Report
The Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements is 
provided in page 92-93.

Accounting policies
The financial statements of the Company have been 
prepared in accordance with Sri Lankan Financial 
Reporting standard for Small and Medium-sized Entities 
issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
Sri Lanka. The accounting policies adopted in the 
preparation of financial statements are provided in 
pages 98 to 105.

2015 2014

Total Income 464,009,754 384,175,615

Net Interest 
Income

298,597,686 240,222,846

Profit before tax 91,549,169 55,895,390

Profit after tax 76,862,867 46,006,830

Loans & Advances 1,825,502,836 1,577,808,757

Total Assets 2,018,974,620 1,774,489,550

Total Equity 427,855,625 347,925,697

Directorate
The names of the Directors who held office as at the end 
of the accounting period are given below and their brief 
profiles appear on pages 12-20.

•  Mr Dulan Ramyalal De Silva - Chairman

•  Mr Anura H. Athapattu - Director

•  Mr Jagath Chandana Godakanda – Director

There were no appointments or resignations of Directors 
during the year. 

Directors’ responsibility of financial reporting
The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the 
Financial Statements of the Company to reflect a true 
and fair view of the state of its affairs.

Auditors & tax consultants
Messrs Ernst & Young, Chartered Accountants served 
as the Auditors during the year under review whilst 
Amarasekara & Company provided non-audit/tax 
Compliance services. As far as the Directors are aware, 
the Auditors & Tax consultants do not have any other 
relationship or interest in contracts with the Company.
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Related partys’ transactions with the company
Transactions of related parties with the Company are set 
out in Note 24 to the Financial Statements.

Property plant and equipment
Details and movements of Property, Plant and Equipment 
owned by the Company are given in Note 14 to the 
Financial Statements on page 113.

Investment
Details of investments made by the Company as at 31 
December 2015 are given in Note 12 to the Financial 
Statements on page 111.

Provisions
The basis adopted for the provisioning is disclosed in the 
note number 2.2 in page 98 of the Financial statements.

Internal control and risk management
The Board has taken necessary steps to ensure 
implementation and monitoring of an effective and 
comprehensive internal control system covering 
financial, operational and compliance controls. The 
Internal Auditors are responsible to review and report 
on the efficiency of the internal control system and 
other regulations and the Company’s accounting and 
operational policies and send a report directly to the 
Board. 

A proper risk management process is in place to identify 
and manage the risks that are associated with the 
business and the operation of the company. The directors 
are time to time reviewing this process through internal 
auditors. The Risk Management Report on page 76 sets 
out the current management approach adopted by the 
Company to identify and manage the risks.

Commitment and contingencies
To the best of knowledge and information available to 
the Board, there were no material contingencies and 
commitments as at the reporting date.

Statutory payments
The Directors, to the best of their knowledge and belief, 
are satisfied that all statutory dues have been paid up 
to date, or where relevant provided for in the Financial 
Statements.

Events occurring after the reporting date
No circumstances have risen and no material event have 
occurred during the period between the balance sheet 
date and the date in which the account has been signed 
and no event is required to disclosure of adjust to the 
financial statements.

Corporate governance
The company’s corporate governance report, which 
states the compliances and the best practices adopted, 
is on page 79 of this report.

Annual General Meeting
The Annual General meeting will be held on 31st March 
2016 at 152, 1st floor,Nawala Road, Nugegoda at 11:00 
AM. The Notice of the Annual General Meeting appears 
on page 124 of the Annual Report.

This report is signed by two directors and secretary of the 
company as an acknowledgement of content.

…………….............….........
Director

……………..........…….........
Director

…………………....……......…
RNH Holdings (Pvt) Ltd. 
Secretary

Annual Report of the Board of Directors on the
Affairs of the Company Contd.
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Left alone with her children, following the sudden death 
of her beloved husband, 54-year-old H. Kamalawathie 
from Kahatagasdigiliya was free of responsibility after a 
long time since all her children were married. Following 
the death of her eldest son and the departure of his wife, 
Kamalawathie was faced with providing for their two 
children. With the responsibility of two granddaughters, 
food was obtained by harvesting their half acre of land. 
With food supplied through the harvests, Kamalawathie 
was wondering how to obtain finances for other expenses.

In 2012, with the arrival of BMI to her village, she was able 
to receive a loan of LKR 25,000 and thus began her own 
small business of sewing rugs and selling them. Following its 
initial phase, Kamalawathie wanted to further develop her 
business and obtained a second loan of LKR 50,000. With 
the increase of her monthly income, she was encouraged 
to start saving up by her involvement in another business 
venture supported by Berendina. 

Driven by the advice given by BMI officials, Kamalawathie 
purchased a cow with her third loan of LKR 75,000 from 
BMI. With her savings, she managed to build a cattle shed. 
With increasing business each day, her efforts were further 
rewarded when she was able to purchase another cow 
for her dairy business. Currently, her daily income with 
her carpet business stands at LKR 1000 and she receives  
LKR 1200 of milk from her cows which she supplies to 
vendors. 

Her cattle shed now holds five cows. In the past, the cattle 
are fed grass and produce from other gardens and areas. 
However, Kamalawathie took steps to grow grass in her 
own garden. In addition, she built two food tanks and a 
water tank for the shed. Having obtained initial training 
from the Sippukulama Animal Husbandary Organization 
on maintaining cows, she has succeeded in obtaining 
financial stability through both her business ventures 
through sheer hard work and dedication. In the future, 
Kamalawathie says that she hopes to build 3 additional 
tanks and refurbish the shed to be able to keep and 
protect the cows during the rainy season. 

With her eldest granddaughter reaching the age of 16, 
she now manages the rug business, giving Kamalawathie 
ample time to take care of the dairy cow business. 
She plans to purchase another 5 cows. Kamalawathie 
states that her children were her strength as she began 
this arduous journey and is grateful for the support she 
received from them. She also added that Berendina was 
a huge strength to her as she navigated through difficult 
times. Having not obtained loans from other companies, 
Kamalawathie intends to continue her relationship with 
Berendina. 

It is evident that her inner strength and perseverance, 
combined with an unshakeable will, provided a foundation 
for her to gain a new lease on life. She was able to give her 
granddaughters the best she could to help them succeed 
in life and did not let them feel the absence of their 
parents.

Strength in adversity
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF BERENDINA MICROFINANCE INSTITUTE (GUARANTEE) LIMITED 

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Berendina Microfinance Institute (guarantee) Limited 
(“Company”), which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2015, and the statement of 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows to(the year then ended, and a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Board’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Board of Directors (“Board”) is responsible for the preparation of these financial statements that give a true and fair 
view in accordance with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as Board determines is necessary 
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit 
in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by Board, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 31 
December 2015, and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Sri Lanka 
Accounting Standards.
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

As required by section 163 (2) of the Companies Act No. 07 of 2007, we state the following:

a) The basis of opinion and scope and limitations of the audit are as stated above.

b) In our opinion:

-  we have obtained all the information and explanations that were required for the audit and, as far as appears from our 
examination, proper accounting records have been kept by the Company, and

 -  the financial statements of the Company, comply with the requirements of section 151 of the Companies Act 07 of 2007.

........................................................
25 March 2016
Colombo
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Statement of Comprehensive Income

Notes 2015
 Rs. 

2014
 Rs. 

GROSS INCOME 4  464,009,754  384,175,615 

Interest income 5  438,009,550  362,650,867 

Less: Interest and similar expense 6  139,411,864  122,428,022 

Net Interest Income  298,597,686  240,222,846 

Fee, commission and other income 7  26,000,204  21,524,748 

Total Operating Income  324,597,890  261,747,594 

Less: Impairment charges for loans and receivables 13  3,066,002  15,171,684 

Net Operating Income  321,531,888  246,575,910 

Less:

Personnel expenses 8  131,671,959  110,925,539 

Depreciation of property, plant & equipment 14  6,854,752  6,896,772 

Amortisation of intangible assets 15  344,835  485,669 

Other operational expenses 9  65,107,462  52,120,911 

Operating profit before value added tax and national building tax on financial services  117,552,880  76,147,019 

Less: Value Added Tax and National Building Tax on financial services  26,003,710  20,251,629 

Profit for the year before income tax  91,549,169  55,895,390 

Less: Income tax expense 10  14,686,303  9,888,560 

Profit for the year  76,862,867  46,006,830 

Other comprehensive income (OCI)

Other Comprehensive Income not to be reclassified to Profit or Loss in subsequent periods

Actuarial gain on defined benefit plans  1,935,233  -   

Deferred tax (charge)/reversal on other comprehensive income  232,228  -   

Other Comprehensive Profit/Loss for the year net of tax  2,167,461  -   

Total Comprehensive Profit for the year net of tax  79,030,328  46,006,830 

The Accounting Policies and Notes to the Financial Statements from page 98 to 124 form an integral part of the Financial 
Statements.

Year ended 31 December 2015



Berendina Microfinance Institute (Guarantee) Limited
Annual Report - 2015

Berendina Microfinance Institute (Guarantee) Limited
Annual Report - 2015

95

Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2015

Notes 2015
 Rs. 

2014
 Rs. 

As at 1-Jan-14
 Rs. 

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 11  52,060,538  74,818,136  65,977,742 

Balances with banks and financial institutions 12  41,248,371  38,559,797  13,850,000 

Loan and receivables 13  1,825,502,836  1,577,808,757  1,349,255,463 

Property plant and equipments 14  12,790,288  16,821,343  14,063,240 

Intangible assets 15  125,500  470,335  956,004 

Deferred tax assets 21  550,762  160,626  -   

Other assets 16  86,696,325  65,850,556  51,565,492 

TOTAL ASSETS  2,018,974,620  1,774,489,550  1,495,667,942 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

LIABILITIES

Interest bearing borrowings 17  1,336,430,288  1,226,683,143  1,034,631,997 

Obligation under Finance Lease 18  2,686,558  4,162,631  5,381,139 

Post employment benefit obligation 19  7,931,666  6,751,303  4,562,311 

Other liabilities 20  244,070,483  188,966,776  152,831,080 

Deferred tax liability 21  -    -    616,029 

 1,591,118,995  1,426,563,853  1,198,022,556 

EQUITY

Unrestricted Fund 22  257,418,431  256,518,831  252,245,350 

Retained Earnings  170,437,194  91,406,866  45,400,036 

 427,855,625  347,925,697  297,645,387 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  2,018,974,620  1,774,489,550  1,495,667,942 

The Chief Financial Officer certifies that the Financial Statements have been prepared in compliance with the requirements of 
the Companies Act No. 7 of 2007.

 ................................................
 Chief Financial Officer

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and presentation of these Financial Statements. Signed for and on 
behalf of the Board by;

 .................................................    ......................................................
 Director      Director

The Accounting Policies and Notes to the Financial Statements from page 98 to 124 form an integral part of the Financial 
Statements.

25 March 2016
Colombo
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Statement of Changes In Equity
Year ended 31 December 2015

Retained 
Earnings 

Rs.

Total Equity 
Rs.

Balance as at 1 January 2014  45,400,036  45,400,036 

Profit for the year  46,006,830  46,006,830 

Other comprehensive income (net of tax)  -    -   

Balance as at 31 December 2014  91,406,866  91,406,866 

Profit for the year  76,862,867  76,862,867 

Other comprehensive income (net of tax)  2,167,461  2,167,461 

Balance as at 31 December 2015  170,437,194  170,437,194 

The Accounting Policies and Notes to the Financial Statements from page 98 to 124 form an integral part of the Financial 
Statements.
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Year ended 31 December 2015

2015
 Rs. 

2014
 Rs. 

Operating Activities

Profit before Tax  91,549,168  55,895,390 

Adjustments for:

       Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  7,199,587  7,382,441 

Impairment charges for loans and receivables  3,066,002  15,171,684 

Loss on fixed assets disposal/gain  971,275  (2,400,000)

Charges for defined benefit liability  3,162,472  2,251,803 

VAT and NBT on financial service charges  26,003,710  20,251,629 

Operating loss before working capital changes  131,952,213  98,552,947 

Changes in operating assets  (271,605,851)  (258,010,040)

Changes in operating liabilities  50,951,144  29,002,938 

VAT and NBT Payment  (24,459,284)  (20,751,691)

Defined benefit plan-Gratuity Payments  (46,876)  (62,812)

Income Tax Payment  (13,712,147)  (4,250,903)

Net cash  used in operating activities  (126,920,800)  (155,519,561)

Investing Activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (4,596,367)  (9,654,875)

Sale proceed on fixed assets disposal  801,396  2,400,000 

Net Investment made in fixed deposits  (2,688,574)  (24,709,797)

Net cash flows used in investing activities  (6,483,545)  (31,964,672)

Financing Activities

Proceed from borrowings  109,747,147  192,051,146 

Proceed from grants  899,600  4,273,481 

Net Cash Flows generated from financing activities  110,646,747  196,324,627 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  (22,757,598)  8,840,394 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period  74,818,136  65,977,742 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  52,060,538  74,818,136 

The Accounting Policies and Notes to the Financial Statements from page 98 to 124 form an integral part of the Financial 
Statements.

Statement of Cash Flows
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Notes to the Financial Statement

1. REPORTING ENTITY
1.1 General Information

Berendina Microfinance Institute (Guarantee) Limited 
(BMI) is a company limited by guarantee incorporated 
in and domiciled in Sri Lanka. The registered office is 
located at 1st Floor, 152, Nawala Road, Nugegoda.

1.2 Principal activities and nature of operation

The principal activities of the Company are providing 
Micro Loan facilities for Assets Building, Business starting, 
Business development, Agriculture etc. Aim of BMI is 
to build sustainable micro finance organization by 
providing financial & enterprise development services 
to the poverty affected communities in an efficient and 
productive manner.

1.3 Directors’ responsibility for Financial Statements

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation 
and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards and as 
per the provisions of the Companies Act No. 07 of 2007. 
This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and 
maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of Financial Statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; 
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; 
and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in 
the circumstances.

1.4 Date of authorization for issue

The Financial Statements of Berendina Microfinance 
Institute (Guarantee) Limited (BMI) for the year ended 31 
December 2015 was authorized for issue in accordance 
with the resolution of the Board of Directors passed on 25 
March 2016.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
2.1 Basis of Measurement

The Financial Statements of the Company presented in Sri 
Lanka Rupees have been presented on the historical cost 
basis.

2.1.1 Statement of Compliance

The Financial Statements of the Company have been 
prepared in accordance with Sri Lanka Accounting 
Standards (LKAS/SLFRS). The preparation and 
presentation of these Financial Statements are in 
compliance with the Companies Act No. 07 of 2007.

2.1.2 Going concern

The Directors have made an assessment of the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and 
they do not intend either to liquidate or to cease trading.

2.2 Significant Accounting Assumptions, Judgements And 
Estimates

In the process of applying the accounting policies, 
management is required to make judgments, apart 
from those involving estimations, which has the most 
significant effect on the amounts recognized in the 
Financial Statements. Further, management is required to 
consider key assumptions concerning the future and other 
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the statement 
of financial position date, that have a significant risk  of 
causing a material adjustments to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 
discussed below. The respective carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities are given in related notes to the 
Financial Statements. 

2.2.1 Impairment losses on loans and receivables

Loans and receivables that have been assessed 
individually and all individually insignificant receivables, 
are assessed collectively in groups of assets with similar 
risk characteristics. Such collective assessment is carried 
out so as to determine whether provision should be 
made due to incurred loss events for which there is 
objective evidence, but the effects of which are not yet 
evident. The collective assessment takes account of data 
from the receivable portfolio (such as levels of arrears, 
credit utilisation, etc.), and judgements on the effect of 
concentrations of risks and economic data (including 
levels of unemployment, real estate prices indices, 
country risk and the performance of different individual 
groups).

2.2.2 Taxes

The Company is subject to income taxes and other taxes. 
Significant judgement was required to determine the total 
provision for current, deferred and other taxes on the 
treatment of the adoption of SLFRS and transfer pricing 
in the Financial Statements and the taxable profit for the 
purpose of imposition of taxes. Uncertainties exist, with 
respect to the interpretation of the applicability of tax 
laws, at the time of the preparation of theses Financial 
Statements.

The Company recognised assets and liabilities for 
current, deferred and other taxes on estimates of whether 
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome 
of these matters is different from the amounts that were 
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initially recorded, such differences will impact the income, 
deferred and tax amounts in the period in which the 
determination is made.  

2.2.3 Post-employment benefit obligations

The post-employment benefit obligation and the related 
charge for the year are determined using projected unit 
credit method. The method valuations involve making 
assumptions about discount rates, future salary increases, 
mortality rates etc. Due to the long-term nature of such 
obligations these estimates are subject to significant 
uncertainty. All assumptions are reviewed at each 
reporting period.

2.2.4 Useful lives of property plant & equipment

The Company reviews the residual values, useful lives and 
methods of depreciation of assets as at each reporting 
date. Judgment by the management is exercised in the 
estimation of these values, rates, methods and hence they 
are subject to uncertainty.

2.2.5 Useful lives of intangible assets

The Company reviews the residual values, useful lives and 
methods of amortization of assets as at each reporting 
date. Judgment by the management is exercised in the 
estimation of these values, rates, methods and hence they 
are subject to uncertainty.

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies 

2.3.1 Taxation

Income tax expense comprises current tax. Income 
tax expense is recognized in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income except to the extent that it relates 
to items recognized directly in equity, in which case it is 
recognized in equity.

a) Current taxes

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior 
years are measured at the amount expected to be 
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The 
tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are 
those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the 
reporting date.

Accordingly, provision for taxation is based on the profit 
for the year adjusted for taxation purposes in accordance 
with the provisions of the Inland Revenue Act No. 10 of 
2006 and the amendments thereto at the rates specified 
below.

b) Deferred taxation

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary 
differences between the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the 
amounts used for taxation purposes. 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are 
expected to be applied to temporary differences when 
they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a 
legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities 
and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by 
the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on 
different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax 
liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and 
liabilities will be realized simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, 
tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to the 
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 
available against which they can be utilized. Deferred 
tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that 
the related tax benefits will be realized.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The net increase in the carrying amount of deferred 
tax liability net of deferred tax asset is recognized as 
deferred tax expense and conversely any net decrease 
is recognized as reversal to deferred tax expense, in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

c) Value added tax on Financial Services (VAT on FS)

VAT on Financial Services is calculated in accordance 
with the amended VAT Act No. 7 of 2003 and subsequent 
amendments thereto. The base for the computation of 
VAT on Financial Services is the accounting profit before 
income tax adjusted for the economic depreciation and 
emoluments of employees. VAT on financial services is 
computed on the prescribed rate of 11%.

d) Nation Building Tax (NBT) on Financial Services

NBT on financial services is calculated in accordance 
with Nation Building Tax (NBT) Act No. 09 of 2009 and 
subsequent amendment thereto with effect from 1st 
January 2014. NBT on financial services is calculated as 
2% of the value addition used for the purpose of VAT on 
financial services.
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2.3.2 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are: cash in hand; demand 
deposits; and short-term highly liquid investments readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and subject to 
insignificant risk of changes in value.

For the purpose of cash flows statement, cash and cash 
equivalents consist of cash in hand and deposits in banks 
net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Financial instruments 
with short maturities i.e. three months or less from the date 
of acquisition are also treated as cash equivalents.

2.3.3 Property, plant and equipment

Cost

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less 
any subsequent accumulated depreciation and any 
subsequent accumulated impairment losses. All items of 
property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at 
cost. 

The cost of property, plant and equipment is the cost of 
acquisition or construction together with any expenses 
incurred in bringing the asset to its condition for its 
intended use. All other repair and maintenance costs are 
recognized in the profit or loss as incurred.

Depreciation 

Depreciation is charged to Statement of Comprehensive 
Income so as to write off the cost of assets (other than 
freehold land) less their residual values over their useful 
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful 
lives, residual values and depreciation method are 
reviewed at each year-end, with the effect of any change 
in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. The 
estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment 
are as follows;

The class of tangible assets Useful life

Furniture & Fittings 5 Years 

Office Equipment 8 Years 

Computers Equipment 4 Years 

Motor Vehicle 4 Years 

De-recognition

Items of property, plant and equipment are de-
recognised upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected from its use. Gain or loss arising 
on de-recognition of an item of property, plant and 
equipment is determined as the difference between the 
sales proceed and the carrying amount of the asset and 
is recognized in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

2.3.4 Intangible assets

Basis of recognition

An Intangible Asset is recognized if it is probable that 
future economic benefits that are attributable to the 
assets will flow to the entity and the cost of the assets can 
be measured reliably.

Basis of measurement

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured 
as initial recognition at cost. Following initial 
recognition intangible assets are carried at cost less 
any accumulated amortization and any accumulated 
impairment losses. The useful life of intangible assets 
is assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible 
assets with finite useful life are amortized over the useful 
life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an 
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The 
amortization period and the method for an intangible 
asset with a finite useful life is reviewed at least at each 
financial year end. Intangible assets with indefinite useful 
lives are tested for impairment annually either individually 
or at the cash generating unit level.

Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure on intangible assets is 
capitalized only when it increases the future economic 
benefits embodied in such assets. All other expenditure is 
expensed when incurred.

De-recognition

Intangible assets are de-recognized on disposal or when 
no future economic benefits are expected from its use. 
The gain or loss arising from de-recognition of intangible 
assets are measured as difference between the net 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset.

Amortization

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be 
either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives 
are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed 
for impairment whenever there is an indication that the 
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation 
period and the amortisation method for an intangible 

Notes to the Financial Statement Contd. 
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asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at 
each financial year end. Changes in the expected useful 
life or the expected pattern of consumption of future 
economic benefits embodied in the asset is accounted 
for by changing the amortisation period or method, as 
appropriate, and treated as changes in accounting 
estimates. The amortisation expenses on intangible 
assets with finite lives are recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. 

The useful lives and the amortization methods of 
intangible assets with finite lives are as follows:

The class of the class of 
intangible assets

: Computer software

Useful life : 5 years

Amortization Method : Straight line method

2.3.5 Post-employment benefit obligations

a) Defined benefit plan – Gratuity

Gratuity is a Defined Benefit Plan. The Company annually 
measures the present value of the promised retirement 
benefits for gratuity, which is a defined benefit plan. The 
cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plans 
is determined using the projected unit credit method.

Actuarial gains and losses for defined benefit plans are 
recognised in full in the period in which they occur in other 
comprehensive income.

The gratuity liability is not externally funded or actuarially 
valued.

b) Defined contribution plans - Employees’ Provident Fund & 
Employees’ Trust Fund

Employees are eligible for Employees’ Provident Fund 
contributions and Employees’ Trust Fund contributions in 
line with respective statutes and regulations.

2.3.6 Provisions 

Provisions are recognized when the company has a 
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result 
of  a past event, where it is probable that an outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits will be required 
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation. 

2.3.7 Other non-financial assets

All other non-financial assets are valued net of specific 
provision, where necessary, so as to reduce the carrying 
value of such assets to their estimated realizable value.

2.3.8 Other non-financial liabilities 

Other non-financial liabilities are recognised at their 
nominal amount.

2.3.9 Impairment of non-financial assets

The Company assesses at each reporting date whether 
there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If 
any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing 
for an asset is required, the Company estimates the asset’s 
recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is 
higher of asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value 
in use. It is determined for an individual asset, unless the 
asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely 
independent of those from other assets or groups of 
assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds 
its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired 
and is written down to its recoverable amount.

2.3.10 Financial instruments – Initial recognition and subsequent 
measurement 

The Company’s financial instruments consist of loans 
and receivables and other financial liabilities, of which 
accounting policies on subsequent measurement, 
impairment and re-recognition are set out below; 

i) Financial assets

Financial assets within the scope of LKAS 39 are classified 
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, 
loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments and 
available-for-sale financial assets, as appropriate and 
determine the classification of its financial assets at initial 
recognition. All financial assets are recognized initially 
at fair value plus, in the case of assets not at fair value 
through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction 
costs.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial 
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. After initial measurement, 
such financial assets are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the Effective Interest Rate method 
(EIR), less impairment. Amortised cost is calculated 
by taking into account any discount or premium on 
acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of 
the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included in finance income 
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in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. The losses 
arising from impairment are recognised in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income. Loans and receivables are 
presented as cash in hand, balances with banks and 
financial institutions, hire purchase receivables, loan 
receivables in the Statement of Financial Position.

De-recognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a 
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial 
assets) is derecognized when:

i. The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired

ii. The Company  has transferred its rights to receive cash 
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay 
the received cash flows in full without material delay to a 
third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either

(a) The Company has transferred substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset, or 

(b) The Company has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has 
transferred control of the asset.

Impairment of financial assets

The Company assesses at each reporting date whether 
there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a 
group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or 
a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, 
and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as 
a result of one or more events that has occurred after the 
initial recognition of the asset and that loss event has an 
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial 
asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably 
estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that the 
debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing significant 
financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or 
principal payments, the probability that they will enter 
bankruptcy or other financial reorganization and where 
observable data indicate that there is a measurable 
decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as 
changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate 
with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortized cost

For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the 
Company   first assesses whether objective evidence of 
impairment exists individually for financial assets that 
are individually significant, or collectively for financial 
assets that are not individually significant. If the Company 
determines that no objective evidence of impairment 

exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether 
significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of 
financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and 
collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are 
individually assessed for impairment and for which an 
impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not 
included in a collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has 
been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the 
difference between the assets carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding 
future expected credit losses that have not yet been 
incurred). The present value of the estimated future 
cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original 
effective interest rate. 

ii) Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities within the scope of LKAS 39 are 
classified as interest bearing loans and borrowings, 
trade and other payables as appropriate. The Company 
determines the classification of its financial liabilities at 
initial recognition.

The Company classifies financial liabilities as other 
financial liabilities in accordance with the substance 
of the contractual arrangements at the definitions of 
financial liabilities. 

The Company recognises financial liabilities in the 
statement of financial position when the Company 
becomes a party to the contractual provision of the 
liability.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including bank overdraft, 
interest bearing loans and borrowings are initially 
measured at fair value less transaction cost that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the EIR method.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking in to account any 
discount or premium on the issue and costs that are an 
integral part of the EIR.

De-recognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation 
under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires. 
Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another 
from the same lender on substantially different terms, 
or the terms of the existing liability are substantially 
modified, such an exchange of modification is treated 

Notes to the Financial Statement Contd. 
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as a de-recognition of the original liability and the 
recognition of a new liability. The difference between 
the carrying value of the original financial liability and 
the consideration paid is recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income.

iii) Fair Value Measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell 
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based 
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or 
transfer the liability takes place either: 

•  In the principal market for the asset or liability or

•  In the absence of a principal market, in the most 
advantageous market for the asset or  liability 

 The principal or the most advantageous market must be 
accessible by the Company. 

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using 
the assumptions that market participants would use 
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market 
participants act in their economic best interest. 

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes 
into account a market participant’s ability to generate 
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and 
best use or by selling it to another market participant that 
would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

The Company uses valuation techniques that are 
appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient 
data are available to measure fair value, maximising the 
use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use 
of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured 
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised 
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based 
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement as a whole: 

•  Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities 

•  Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level 
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 
directly or indirectly observable 

•  Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level 
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 
unobservable for the purpose of fair value disclosures, 
the group has determined classes of assets and liabilities 
on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the 
asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as 
explained above.

The Board of Directors of the Company determines the 
policies and procedures for both recurring fair value 
measurement, such as investment property, and other 
property, plant and equipment items measured at fair 
value.

External valuation specialists are involved for valuation 
of significant assets. Involvement of external valuation 
specialists are decided upon annually by the Board 
of directors after discussion with and approval by the 
Company’s management. Selection criteria include 
market knowledge, reputation, independence and 
whether professional standards are maintained. The 
Board of Directors decides, after discussions with the 
external valuation specialists, which valuation techniques 
and inputs to use for each case. 

At each reporting date, the Board of Directors analyses 
the movements in the values of assets and liabilities 
which are required to be remeasured or re-assessed as 
per the Company’s accounting policies. For this analysis, 
the Board of Directors verifies the major inputs applied 
in the latest valuation by agreeing the information in the 
valuation computation to contracts and other relevant 
documents. 

The Board of Directors, in conjunction with the Company’s 
external valuation specialists, also compares the change 
in the fair value of each asset and liability with relevant 
external sources to determine whether the change is 
reasonable. 

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Company 
has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the 
basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset 
or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as 
explained above.

2.3.11 Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable 
that the economic benefits will flow to the Company 
and the revenue and associated costs incurred or to be 
incurred can be reliably measured, regardless of when 
the payment is being made. The following specific criteria 
are used for the purpose of recognition of revenue.
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a) Interest income and expenses

Interest income and expense are recognized in statement 
of comprehensive income using the effective interest 
method. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts the estimated future cash payments and 
receipts through the expected life of the financial assets 
or liability (or, where appropriate, a shorter period) to 
the carrying amount of the financial asset and liability. 
When calculating the effective interest rate, the Company 
estimates future cash flows considering all contractual 
terms of the financial instrument, but not future credit 
losses.

The calculation of the effective interest rate includes all 
fees and points paid or received that are an integral part 
of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs include 
incremental costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition or issue of a financial asset or liability.

b) Fee and commission income

Fee and commission income earned for the period of 
services over a period of time are accrued over that 
period.

Other fee including admission fee, service charges are 
recognized as related services are performed.

c) Grant

Grant is recognized on the income approach, under 
which grants are recognized in profit or loss on a 
systematic basis over the periods in which the company 
recognizes as expenses the related costs for which the 
grants are intended to compensate. 

d) Other Income

Non-operational interest income fees are accounted for 
on accrual basis. 

2.3.12 Expenses recognition

Expenditure is recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income on the basis of direct association 
between the cost incurred and the earning of specific 
items of income. All expenditure incurred in the running of 
the business and in maintaining the property, plant and 
equipment or investment properties in a rate of efficiency 
has been charged to income in arriving at the profit for 
the year.  

For the purpose of presentation of the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income the Directors are of the opinion 
that the nature of expense method present fairly the 
elements of the Company’s performance, and hence such 
presentation method is adopted. Repairs and renewals 
are charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
in the year in which the expenditure is incurred.

2.3.13 Statement of Cash Flows 

The cash flows statement has been prepared using the 
‘Indirect Method’ of preparing cash flows in accordance 
with the Sri Lanka Accounting Standard LKAS - 7 
‘Statement of Cash Flows.’ Cash and cash equivalents 
comprise short term, highly liquid investments that are 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and are 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash in hand 
and cash at banks and other highly liquid financial assets 
which are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash 
commitments with original maturities of less than three 
months which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in 
their fair value.

2.3.14 Related party disclosures

Transactions with related parties are conducted in the 
normal course of business. 

2.3.15 Commitments and contingencies

All discernible risks are accounted for in determining the 
amount of all known liabilities. Contingent liabilities are 
possible obligations whose existence will be confirmed 
only by uncertain future events or present obligations 
where the transfer of economic benefit is not probable 
or cannot be reliably measured. Contingent liabilities are 
not recognized in the Statement of Financial Position but 
are disclosed unless they are remote.

2.4 Effect of sri lanka accounting standards issued, but not 
yet effective

Standard issued but not yet effective up to the date of 
issuance of the Company’s Financial Statements are listed 
below. These listing of standards issued are those that 
the Company reasonably expects to have an impact 
on disclosures, financial position or performance when 
applied at a future date. The Company intends to adopt 
these standards when they become effective.

Notes to the Financial Statement Contd. 
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SLFRS 09 Financial Instruments: Classification and 
Measurement

SLFRS 9, as issued reflects the first phase of work on 
replacement of LKAS 39 and applies to classification 
and measurement of financial assets and liabilities. 
SLFRS 9 was originally effective for the financial periods 
commencing on or after 1 January 2016. However, the 
effective date has been deferred subsequently to 1 
January 2018. The adoption of the first phase of SLFRS 9 
will have an effect on the classification and measurement 
of the group’s financial assets, but will not have an impact 
on the classification and measurement of financial 
liabilities. The group will quantify the effect in conjunction 
with the other phases, when the final standard including 
all phases is issued. 

SLFRS 14 – Regulatory Deferral Accounts

The scope of this standard is limited to first-time 
adopters of SLFRS that already recognise regulatory 
deferral account balances in their Financial Statements. 
Consequently, the Financial Statements of rate regulated 
entities that already apply SLFRS, or that do not otherwise 
recognise such balances, will not be affected by this 
standard. This standard is effective for the annual periods 
beginning on or after 01 January 2016.

SLFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

SLFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for 
determining whether, how much and when revenue is 
recognised. It replaces existing revenue recognition 
guidance, including LKAS 18 Revenue, LKAS 11 
Construction Contracts and IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty 
Programmes. This standard is effective for the annual 
periods beginning on or after 01 January 2018.

None of these new standards are expected to have 
an effect on the Financial Statements of the Company, 
except for SLFRS 9 and 15. Pending the detailed review 
of such standards and interpretations, the extent of the 
impact has not been determined by the management.

3 FIRST-TIME ADOPTION OF SLFRS
The Company has adopted SLFRS effective January 
1, 2014. Prior to the adoption of SLFRS the Company 
prepared its Financial Statements in accordance with 
Sri Lanka Accounting Standard for Small and Medium-
Size Entities (SLFRS for SMEs). The Company’s Financial 
Statements for the year ended December 31, 2015 are 
the Company’s first annual financial statements prepared 
in accordance with SLFRS.

The Company has applied SLFRS 1 First-time Adoption 
of Sri Lanka Financial Reporting Standards in preparing 
these Financial Statements, with a transition date of 
January 1, 2014. In accordance with SLFRS, the Company 
has:

•  Provided comparative financial information restated from 
SLFRS for SMEs;

•  Applied the same accounting policies throughout all 
periods presented;

•  Retrospectively applied all SLFRS standards effective as 
of 31 December 2015 except for the optional exemptions 
and mandatory exceptions applicable for first-time 
adopters of SLFRS. 

The effect of Company’s transition to SLFRS, is summarized 
in this note as follows.
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3. FIRST-TIME ADOPTION OF SLFRS (Contd…)

Year ended 31 December 2015 

These Financial Statements, for the Year ended 31 December 2015, are the first the Company has prepared in accordance with 
SLFRS. For periods up to and including the year ended 31 December 2014, the Company prepared  its Financial Statements 
in accordance with  Sri Lanka Accounting Standards for Small and Medium sized Entities (SLFRS  for SMEs) Issued by the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants of  Sri Lanka. Accordingly, this note explains the principal adjustments made by the company in 
restating its  Statement of  Financial Position as at 1st January 2014 and the Financial Statements as at and for the year ended 31 
December 2014.

3.1 Reconciliation of Equity as at 1 January 2014 (Date of Transition to SLFRS)

Notes  SME
 

Rs. 

Reclassifications 
 

Rs.

Reclassifications
 

Rs.

SLFRS as at 
01.01.2014 

Rs.

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents  65,977,742  -    -    65,977,742 

Balances with banks and financial 
institutions

 13,850,000  -    -    13,850,000 

Loan and receivables B  1,392,071,332  (42,815,869)  -    1,349,255,463 

Property, plant and equipment  14,063,240  -    -    14,063,240 

Intangible assets  956,004  -    -    956,004 

Deferred tax assets  -    -    -    -   

Other assets  8,749,624  42,815,869  -    51,565,492 

TOTAL ASSETS  1,495,667,942  -    -    1,495,667,942 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

LIABILITIES

Interest bearing borrowings C  1,024,336,477  10,295,520  1,034,631,997 

Obligation under Finance Lease  5,381,139  -    -    5,381,139 

Post employment benefit obligation  4,562,311  -    -    4,562,311 

Other liabilities B/C/D  163,126,600 (10,295,520)  152,831,080 

Deferred tax liability  616,029  -    -    616,029 

 1,198,022,556  -    -    1,198,022,556 

EQUITY

Unrestricted Fund A  252,245,350  -    -    252,245,350 

Retained Earnings  45,400,036  -    -    45,400,036 

 297,645,387  -    -    297,645,387 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  1,495,667,942  -    -    1,495,667,942 

Notes to the Financial Statement Contd. 
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3. FIRST-TIME ADOPTION OF SLFRS (Contd…)

3.2 Reconciliation of Equity as at 31 December 2014

Notes  SME
 

Rs. 

Reclassifications 
 

Rs.

Reclassifications
 

Rs.

SLFRS as at 
01.01.2014 

Rs.

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents  74,818,135  -    -    74,818,135 

Balances with banks and financial 
institutions

 A  37,251,085  1,308,713  -    38,559,797 

Loan and receivables  1,631,731,019  (53,922,262)  -    1,577,808,757 

Property plant and equipments  16,821,343  -    -    16,821,343 

Intangible assets  470,335  -    -    470,335 

Deferred tax assets  160,626  -    -    160,626 

Other assets  13,237,006  52,613,549  -    65,850,555 

TOTAL ASSETS  1,774,489,549  -    -    1,774,489,549 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

LIABILITIES

Interest bearing borrowings B  1,214,494,969  12,188,174  1,226,683,143 

Obligation under Finance Lease  4,162,630  -    -    4,162,630 

Post employment benefit obligation  6,751,303  -    -    6,751,303 

Other liabilities  201,154,951  (12,188,174)  -    188,966,777 

Deferred tax liability  -    -    -    -   

 1,426,563,852  -    -    1,426,563,852 

EQUITY

Unrestricted Fund  256,518,831  -    -    256,518,831 

Retained Earnings  91,406,866  -    -    91,406,866 

 347,925,697  -    -    347,925,697 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  1,774,489,549  -    -    1,774,489,549 

A. In case of financial assets any interest receivable was presented under other receivables as per SLAS and with the transition 
to SLFRS such interest receivables will be presented together with the corresponding financial asset.

B. LKAS 39-“Financial Instrument” require recognition of all the liabilities other than the liabilities fair value through profit or loss, 
at amortized cost. Accordingly, the interest on borrowing were recognised based on effective rate (EIR) considering any 
directly attributable transaction cost.
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3.  FIRST-TIME ADOPTION OF SLFRS (Contd…)

3.3 Reconciliation of Total Comprehensive Income for the year ended 31 December 2014

Notes  SME 
Rs. 

Reclassifications  
Rs.

Reclassifications 
Rs.

SLFRS as at 
01.01.2014

Rs.

Interest income A  376,638,107  (13,987,240)  362,650,867 

Less: Interest and similar expense B  120,886,395  1,541,627  -    122,428,023 

Net Interest Income  255,751,712  (15,528,867)  240,222,845 

Fee, commission and other income A  7,537,508  13,987,240  -    21,524,748 

Total Operating Income  263,289,220  261,747,593 

Less: Impairment charges for loans and 
receivables 

 15,171,684  -    -    15,171,684 

Net Operating Income  248,117,537  -    -    246,575,909 

Less:

Personnel expenses  110,925,539  -    -    110,925,539 

Depreciation of property, plant & 
equipment

 6,896,772  -    -    6,896,772 

Amortisation of intangible assets  485,669  -    -    485,669 

Other operational expenses  53,662,538  (1,541,627)  -    52,120,911 

Operating profit before value added tax 
and national building tax on financial 
services

 76,147,018  -    -    76,147,018 

Less: Value Added Tax and National 
Building Tax on financial services

 20,251,629  -    -    20,251,629 

Profit for the year before income tax  55,895,389  55,895,389 

Less: Income tax expense  9,888,560  -    -    9,888,560 

Profit for the year  46,006,829  -    -    46,006,829 

Notes to the Financial Statement Contd. 
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3.  FIRST-TIME ADOPTION OF SLFRS (Contd…)

3.3 Reconciliation of Total Comprehensive Income for the year ended 31 December 2014

Notes  SME 
Rs. 

Reclassifications  
Rs.

Reclassifications 
Rs.

SLFRS as at 
01.01.2014

Rs.

Other Comprehensive Income (OCI)

Other Comprehensive Income not to be reclassified to Profit or Loss in subsequent periods

Actuarial gain on defined benefit plans  -    -    -    -   

Deferred tax (charge)/reversal on other 
comprehensive income

 -    -    -    -   

Other Comprehensive Profit/Loss for the year net of 
tax 

 -    -    -    -   

Total Comprehensive Profit for the year net of tax  46,006,829  -    -    46,006,829 

A. Interest income from bank deposits

B. LKAS 39-“Financial Instrument” require recognition of all the liabilities other than the liabilities fair value through profit or loss,  
at amortized cost. Accordingly the interest on borrowing were recorgnised based on effective rate (EIR) considering any 
directly attributable transaction cost.
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2015 
Rs.

2014 
Rs.

4. GROSS INCOME

Interest income (Note 5)  438,009,550  362,650,867 

Fee and commission and other income (Note 7 )  26,000,204  21,524,748 

Gross Income  464,009,754  384,175,615 

5. INTEREST INCOME

Interest From Loans and Advances   434,032,494  359,328,662 

Interest income from bank deposits  3,613,283  3,010,535 

Staff Housing Loan Interest  363,773  311,670 

 438,009,550  362,650,867 

6. INTEREST AND SIMILAR EXPENSE

Interest on long term borrowings (Note 17.1)  136,210,747  118,904,682 

Interest on Finance Lease  664,383  932,939 

Helpage Loan Interest  -    782,562 

Bank charges  1,428,374  1,358,509 

Guarantee Fee for Loans  777,407  183,119 

Interest on Staff Security Fund  330,953  266,211 

 139,411,864  122,428,022 

7. FEE, COMMISSION AND OTHER INCOME

Written-off loans recoveries  1,042,366  780,887 

Enterprise Development Service Income  22,566,250  17,309,445 

Miscellaneous Income  2,391,588  3,434,416 

 26,000,204  21,524,748 

8. PERSONNEL EXPENSES

Salaries & other benefits  116,431,132  98,142,832 

Defined contribution plan-EPF & ETF  12,078,356  10,530,905 

Defined benefit plan-Gratuity (Note 19)  3,162,472  2,251,803 

 131,671,959  110,925,539 

9. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

Office administration & establishment expenses  51,157,317  40,548,151 

EDS Service Expenses  11,108,530  9,629,375 

Professional & legal expenses  2,461,940  1,594,953 

Auditor's remuneration  379,676  348,432 

 65,107,462  52,120,911 

Notes to the Financial Statement Contd. 
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2015 
Rs.

2014 
Rs.

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Current tax  15,718,104  10,665,215 

Over Provision of Current Taxes in Respect of 2014  (873,894)  -   

Deferred Tax Income  (157,908)  (776,655)

 14,686,303  9,888,560 

10.1 Accounting Profit /(Loss) Before Tax  91,549,169  55,895,389 

Aggregated Disallowed Items  40,584,809  35,429,117 

Aggregated Allowable Items  (9,580,770)  (5,458,249)

Adjusted Profit From Trade  122,553,209  85,866,257 

Interest Income  3,613,283  3,010,535 

Total Statutory Income  126,166,492  88,876,792 

Less - Allowable Losses  -    -   

Taxable Income  126,166,492  88,876,792 

10.2 Statutory Tax Rate 12% 12%

Tax Liability for the period  15,718,104  10,665,215 

Current Income Tax Expenses  15,718,104  10,665,215 

Income tax is calculated as 12 percent and 28 percent of the assessable profit for the year.

2015 
Rs.

2014 
Rs.

As at 
01.01.2014 

Rs.

11. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Favorable Cash & Cash Equivalents

Cash in hand  2,055,177  883,341  1,651,302 

Savings account with banks  27,825,075  60,695,295  21,231,405 

Current account with banks  22,180,286  13,239,500  43,095,035 

Cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of statement of cash 
flows 

 52,060,538  74,818,136  65,977,742 

12. BALANCES WITH BANKS & FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

Investments in Fixed Deposits

Sri Lanka Savings Bank  36,595,841  34,851,085  8,850,000 

National Development Bank PLC  2,400,000  2,400,000  -   

Sampath Bank PLC  -    -    5,000,000 

Lanka Orix Finance Company PLC  300,000  -    -   

Fixed Deposits Interest Receivables  1,952,530  1,308,713 

 41,248,371  38,559,797  13,850,000 

Saving deposits represents the mandatory deposit as per the borrowing agreement made with “Sri Lanka Saving Bank” and 
“National Development Bank”, are not available for use until the loans are settled.
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2015 
Rs.

2014 
Rs.

As at 
01.01.2014 

Rs.

13. LOAN AND RECEIVABLES 

Loan receivables (Note 13.1)  1,848,660,240  1,601,885,958  1,359,099,342 

Less : Collective allowance for impairment (Note 13.2)  (23,157,404)  (24,077,201)  (9,843,879)

 1,825,502,836  1,577,808,757  1,349,255,463 

13.1 Analysis - (By Product)

Business Development Loan  1,039,946,656  845,550,091  610,254,125 

Business Starting Loan  332,569,706  367,452,746  392,238,112 

Assets Building Loan  320,123,754  289,353,034  282,945,172 

Business Expansions Loan  47,923,735  7,781,687  4,676,660 

Estate Festival Loan  30,261,542  13,781,499  7,575,480 

Dairy Loan  27,834,197  24,339,843  7,615,970 

Agriculture Loan  18,159,049  21,330,156  24,666,755 

Staff Loans  16,406,883  17,020,667  15,687,724 

Emergency Loan  13,051,267  11,735,016  9,618,668 

Sanitary Loan  2,383,452  3,541,219  3,820,677 

 1,848,660,240  1,601,885,958  1,359,099,342 

13.2 Movement in impairment charge during the year

As at 1 January  24,077,201  9,843,879  7,590,097 

Written off during the year  (3,985,799)  (938,361)  (1,046,865)

Charge for the year  3,066,002  15,171,684  3,300,646 

As at 31 December  23,157,404  24,077,201  9,843,879 

Notes to the Financial Statement Contd. 
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Office 
Equipment 

Rs.

Computers 
& Network 

Rs.

Furniture & 
Fittings 

Rs. 

Motor 
Vehicle 

Rs.

Assets On 
Finance 

Lease 
Rs.

Total 

Rs.

14. PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT  

14.1 2015 (Current Year)

Cost

Balance as at 01.01.2015  4,628,017  6,657,021  5,937,189  11,029,500  8,918,400  37,170,126 

Additions  1,636,943  739,500  2,219,924  -    -    4,596,367 

Less-Disposals  (2,168,577) (1,154,890)  (255,978)  -    -   (3,579,446)

Balance as at 31.12.2015  4,096,383  6,241,630  7,901,135  11,029,500  8,918,400  38,187,048 

Less:  Accumulated Depreciation 

Balance as at 01.01.2015  1,111,659  4,705,373  3,364,973  6,506,813  4,659,966  20,348,784 

Charge for the year  648,309  1,123,788  1,014,430  1,838,625  2,229,600  6,854,752 

Less - Accumulated depreciation 
on disposed assets

 (391,077) (1,159,720)  (255,978)  -    -   (1,806,775)

Balance as at 31.12.2015  1,368,891  4,669,440  4,123,425  8,345,438  6,889,566  25,396,760 

Net book value as at 31.12.2015  2,727,492  1,572,190  3,777,710  2,684,062  2,028,834  12,790,288 

14.2 2014 (Previous Year)

Balance as at 01.01.2014  2,270,249  5,804,822  4,221,781  9,950,000  8,918,400  31,165,252 

Additions  2,357,768  852,199  1,715,407  4,729,500  -    9,654,875 

Less-Disposals  -    -    -   (3,650,000)  -   (3,650,000)

Balance as at 31.12.2014  4,628,017  6,657,021  5,937,189  11,029,500  8,918,400  37,170,126 

Less:  Accumulated Depreciation 

Balance as at 01.01.2014  758,192  3,719,424  2,524,029  7,670,001  2,430,366  17,102,012 

Charge for the year  353,467  985,949  840,944  2,486,812  2,229,600  6,896,772 

Less - Accumulated depreciation 
on disposed assets

 -    -    -   (3,650,000)  -   (3,650,000)

Balance as at 31.12.2014  1,111,659  4,705,373  3,364,973  6,506,813  4,659,966  20,348,784 

Net book value as at  
31.12.2014

 3,516,358  1,951,648  2,572,216  4,522,687  4,258,434  16,821,343 

Net book value as at  
31.12.2013

 1,512,057  2,085,397  1,697,752  2,279,999  6,488,034  14,063,240 

14.3.  Value of fully depreciated assets is Rs. 12,041,892 (2014-Rs.4,225,007) and included in the above cost of assets.  
 Value of Rs.6,300,000 (2014-Rs.6,300,000) Motor Vehicle has been mortgaged to National Development Bank.

14.4.  During the financial year, the  company acquired Property, Plant and Equipment to the aggregate value of   
 Rs.4,596,367 for the financial year ended 31 December 2015 (2014 - Rs. 9,654,875).
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2015 
Rs.

2014 
Rs.

As at 
01.01.2014 

Rs.

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Gross Carrying Amounts

Balance as at 01.01.2015  2,195,200  2,195,200  2,195,200 

Additions/Transfers  -    -    -   

Disposals  -    -    -   

Balance as at 31.12.2015  2,195,200  2,195,200  2,195,200 

Less: Accumulated Amortization  & Impairment

Balance as at 01.01.2015  1,724,865  1,239,196  788,615 

Annual Amortization/Transfers  344,835  485,669  450,581 

Less accumulated depreciation on disposed assets  -    -    -   

Balance as at 31.12.2015  2,069,700  1,724,865  1,239,196 

Net book value as at 31.12.2015  125,500  470,335  956,004 

16. OTHER ASSETS

Other financial assets

Refundable Deposit  3,719,640  71,640  69,790 

Other receivable  74,934,975  58,886,605  44,448,668 

 78,654,615  58,958,245  44,518,458 

Other non-financial assets

Pre-Paid Expenses  4,357,236  4,050,002  3,531,455 

Other Advances and Receivable  2,115,523  2,436,355  2,856,160 

Stationary Stock  1,568,951  405,954  659,420 

 86,696,325  65,850,556  51,565,493 

17. INTEREST BEARING BORROWINGS

BDS Loan  697,184,036  651,164,586  538,732,817 

DFCC Loan  129,663,214  62,659,920  34,518,512 

SMAGL Loan  167,249,856  179,624,894  172,416,601 

HNB Loan  107,898,480  21,558,300  14,700,035 

Sri Lanka Saving Bank (NDTF)  100,165,030  168,660,579  143,184,964 

ETIMOS Loan  94,312,293  82,925,235  119,440,298 

Commercial Bank Loan  35,019,868  50,000,000  -   

NDB Loan  3,335,999  5,335,200  7,334,340 

Plan Sri Lanka Loan  1,200,000  4,754,429  4,304,429 

Chamber of Commerce Loan   401,512  -    -   

 1,336,430,288  1,226,683,143  1,034,631,996 

Notes to the Financial Statement Contd. 
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As at 
01.01.2015 

Rs.

Loan
Obtained

Rs.

Repayments

Rs.

Loan Interest
Charged

Rs.

As at 
31.12.2015

Rs.

17.1 Movement in interest bearing 

borrowings

BDS Loan  651,164,586  -    25,500,000  71,519,450  697,184,036 

DFCC Loan  62,659,920  100,000,000  40,174,266  7,177,560  129,663,214 

SMAGL Loan  179,624,894  108,000,000  138,630,106  18,255,068  167,249,856 

HNB Loan  21,558,300  106,000,000  27,873,527  8,213,707  107,898,480 

Sri Lanka Saving Bank (NDTF)  168,660,579  77,015,000  159,572,700  14,062,151  100,165,030 

ETIMOS Loan  82,925,235  -    600,000  11,987,058  94,312,293 

Commercial Bank Loan  50,000,000  -    19,466,199  4,486,067  35,019,868 

NDB Loan  5,335,200  -    2,507,374  508,173  3,335,999 

Plan Sri Lanka Loan  4,754,429  750,000  4,304,429  -    1,200,000 

Chamber of Commerce Loan   -    400,000  -    1,512  401,512 

 1,226,683,143  392,165,000  418,628,600  136,210,747  1,336,430,288 

18. OBLIGATION UNDER FINANCE LEASE

The Company  has five year finance lease for motor vehicle with an estimated useful life of five years. The future minimum lease 
payment are as follows.

2015 
Rs.

2014 
Rs.

As at 
01.01.2014 

Rs.

Amount due within one year  1,728,390  1,464,104  1,218,509 

More than one year but within five years  958,167  2,698,527  4,162,630 

 2,686,558  4,162,631  5,381,139 

19. POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATION

As at 1st  January  6,751,303  4,562,311  2,943,538 

Amount recognised in income statement (Note 19.1)  3,162,472  2,251,803  1,758,186 

Amount recognised in other comprehensive income  (1,935,233)  -    -   

Payments made during the year  (46,876)  (62,812)  (139,413)

As at 31st December  7,931,666  6,751,303  4,562,311 

19.1 Amount recognised in income statement

Current service cost  2,352,316  1,674,941  1,307,777 

Interest cost  810,156  576,862,59  450,408,62 

 3,162,472  2,251,803  1,758,186 

19.2 The principal assumptions used for compute the gratuity liability are as follows:

Rate of interest 12%

Salary increment rate 10%

Staff turnover 23%

Retirement age 55 years
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19.3 Sensitivity of Assumptions Employed in Computation

A. quantitative sensitivity analysis for significant assumption as at 31 December 2015 is as shown below:

Assumptions Discount rate Future salary

Sensitivity Level 1% increase 1% decrease 1% increase 1% decrease

Impact on Defined Benefit Liability  (347,664)  347,664  369,830  (369,830)

2015 
Rs.

2014 
Rs.

As at 
01.01.2014 

Rs.

20. OTHER LIABILITIES

Financial liabilities

Trade payables  305,850  8,800  399,517 

Other financial liabilities  228,402,529  177,329,290  145,152,284 

 228,708,379  177,338,090  145,551,801 

Non-financial liabilities

Accrued expenses  15,362,103  11,628,687  7,279,280 

 244,070,483  188,966,776  152,831,080 

 Statement of Financial Position  Income Statement  Other Comprehensive 
Income 

2015 
Rs.

2014 
Rs.

As at 
01.01.2014 

Rs.

2015 
Rs.

2014 
Rs.

2015 
Rs.

2014 
Rs.

21. DEFERRED TAXATION

Deferred tax liability

Accelerated depreciation 
allowances for tax 
purposes on property 
plant and equipment

 401,038  649,530 1,072,260  248,492  422,730  -    -   

 401,038  649,530 1,072,260  248,492  422,730  -    -   

Deferred tax assets

Post employment benefit 
obligation

 951,800  810,156  456,231  (90,584)  353,925  232,228  -   

 951,800  810,156  456,231  (90,584)  353,925  232,228  -   

Deferred Tax (Charge)/ 
Reversal

 157,908  776,655  232,228  -   

Net deferred tax assets/
(liabilities)

 550,762  160,626  (616,029)

To the best of  knowledge and information available to the Board the company does not have any significant commitments and 
contingencies as at the reporting date.

Notes to the Financial Statement Contd. 
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2015 
Rs.

2014 
Rs.

As at 
01.01.2014 

Rs.

22.  GRANTS & SUBSIDIES

Berendina Development Services (Gte) Ltd

As at 1st January  109,443,075  109,443,075  109,443,075 

Grants received during the year  -    -    -   

As at 31st December  109,443,075  109,443,075  109,443,075 

Berendina Foundation

As at 1st January  50,036,159  50,036,159  50,036,159 

Grants received during the year  -    -    -   

As at 31st December  50,036,159  50,036,159  50,036,159 

CORDAID 

As at 1st January  5,199,430  5,199,430  5,199,430 

Grants received during the year  -    -    -   

As at 31st December  5,199,430  5,199,430  5,199,430 

APT

As at 1st  January 

Grants received during the year  14,611,500  14,611,500  14,611,500 

As at 31st December  -    -    -   

 14,611,500  14,611,500  14,611,500 

Plan Sri Lanka

As at 1st January  4,075,325  2,784,406  1,324,929 

Grants received during the year  899,600  1,290,919  1,459,477 

As at 31st December  4,974,925  4,075,325  2,784,406 

GIZ

As at 1st January  3,067,464  3,067,464  3,067,464 

Grants received during the year  -    -    -   

As at 31st December  3,067,464  3,067,464  3,067,464 

Helpage Sri Lanka  9,011,772  6,029,210  -   

As at 1st January  -    2,982,562  6,029,210 

Grants received during the year  9,011,772  9,011,772  6,029,210 

As at 31st December 

Credit Agricole

As at 1st January  843,821  843,821  -   

Grants received during the year  -    -    843,821 

As at 31st December  843,821  843,821  843,821 
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2015 
Rs.

2014 
Rs.

As at 
01.01.2014 

Rs.
Berendina Stichting

As at 1st January  60,230,285  60,230,285  -   

Grants received during the year  -    -    60,230,285 

As at 31st December  60,230,285  60,230,285  60,230,285 

Balance carried forward  257,418,431  256,518,831  252,245,350 

23. EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

No circumstances have arisen and no material events have occurred during the period between the balance sheet date and 
the date in which the account has been signed and no event is required to disclosure or adjust to the Financial Statements.

24. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Details of significant related party disclosures are as follows;

24.1 Transactions with Key Management Personnel (KMP) and their Family Members

As per the Sri Lanka Accounting Standard (LKAS -24 ) - “Related Party Disclosures”, the KMPs include those who are having 
authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company. Accordingly, the Board of 
Directors and members of the Corporate Management of the Company have been classified as KMPs of the Company.

2015 
Rs.

2014 
Rs.

24.1.1 Key management personnel compensation

Short-term employment benefits

Short-term employee benefits  -    -   

 -    -   

* Further, the company has not provided any non-cash benefits to Key Management Personnel in terms of employment 
contracts with them.

** Company has not entered into any transactions, arrangements and agreements involving Key Management Personnel 
(KMPs), their Close Family Members (CFMs) and their related entities.

Notes to the Financial Statement Contd. 
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25. FAIR VALUES

For all financial instruments where fair values are determined by referring to externally quoted prices or observable pricing 
inputs to models, independent price determination or validation is obtained. In an inactive market, direct observation of a 
traded price may not be possible. In these circumstances, the Company uses alternative  market information to validate the 
financial instrument’s fair value, with greater weight given to information that is considered to be more relevant and reliable.

The Company uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by valuation 
technique:

 Level 1 : quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities     
Level 2 : other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are   
   observable, either directly or indirectly        
Level 3 : techniques which use inputs that have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are    
   not  based on observable market data

Set out below is a comparison, by class, of the caring amount and fair values of the  Company’s financial instruments that are not 
carried at fair value in the Financial Statements.

As at 31 December Fair value 
hierarchy

Carrying Value Fair Value
2015 

Rs.
2014

Rs.
2015 

Rs.
2014

Rs.

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  52,060,538  74,818,136  52,060,538  74,818,136 

Balances with banks and financial 
institutions

 41,248,371  38,559,797  41,248,371  38,559,797 

Loan and receivables Level 2  1,825,502,836  1,577,808,757  1,587,393,770  1,372,007,615 

Other financial assets  78,654,615  58,958,245  78,654,615  58,958,245 

Total  1,997,466,360  1,750,144,935  1,759,357,294  1,544,343,793 

Financial liabilities

Interest bearing borrowings Level 2  1,336,430,288  1,226,683,143  1,180,504,570  1,085,339,561 

Obligation under Finance Lease Level 2  2,686,558  4,162,631  2,420,322  3,750,118 

Other financial liabilities  228,708,379  177,338,090  228,708,379  177,338,090 

Total  1,567,825,225  1,408,183,863  1,411,633,271  1,266,427,768 

a) For financial assets and financial liabilities that have a short-term maturity (less than three months) it is assumed that the 
carrying amounts approximate their fair value. This assumption is also applied to cash in hand, balances with banks and 
financial institutions, other financial assets, bank overdraft and other financial liabilities without a specific maturity.

b) Loan receivables with fixed interest rates were fair valued using market rates at which fresh loans were granted during 
the fourth quarter of the reporting year. Conversely, interest bearing loans and borrowings with original tenors above 
one year were discounted using current market interest rates offered by lenders during the fourth quarter of the reporting 
period.
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2015 2014

" Less than  
one year" 

Rs.

 More than 
one year  

Rs.

 Total 
carrying 

value  
Rs.

" Less than  
one year"

Rs.

 More than 
one year 

Rs.

 Total 
carrying 

value
Rs. 

26.  MATURITY OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

Assets

Cash and cash 
equivalents 52,060,538  -  52,060,538  74,818,136  -  74,818,136 
Balances 
with banks 
and financial 
institutions  -  41,248,371  41,248,371  -  38,559,797  38,559,797 
Loan and 
receivables  427,660,337  1,420,999,904  1,848,660,240  415,241,364  1,186,644,594  1,601,885,958 
Property plant and 
equipment  -  12,790,288  12,790,288  -  16,821,343  16,821,343 
Intangible assets  -  125,500  125,500  -  470,335  470,335 
Deferred tax assets  -  550,762  550,762  -  160,626  160,626 
Other assets  30,826,294  55,870,031  86,696,325  24,330,414  41,520,142  65,850,556 
Total assets  510,547,169  1,531,584,855  2,042,132,024  514,389,915  1,284,176,837  1,798,566,752 

Liabilities

Interest bearing 
borrowings  1,096,575,865  239,854,425  1,336,430,290  1,073,105,120  153,578,023  1,226,683,143 
Obligation under 
Finance Lease  1,728,390  958,167  2,686,558  1,464,104  2,698,527  4,162,631 
Post employment 
benefit obligation  -    7,931,666  7,931,666  -    6,751,303  6,751,303 
Other liabilities  164,951,457  79,119,025  244,070,483  123,395,834  65,570,942  188,966,776 

 1,263,255,713  327,863,283  1,591,118,996  1,197,965,058  228,598,794  1,426,563,852 

27. RISK MANAGEMENT

27.1 Introduction

The Company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

* Credit risk

* Liquidity risk

* Market risk

This note presents information about the Company’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Company’s objectives, policies and 
processes for measuring and managing risk.

Notes to the Financial Statement Contd. 
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27.2 Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to financial instruments fails to meet its 
contractual obligations. Credit risk is mainly arising from Company’s receivables in terms of loan receivable and deposits with 
banks & financial institutions.

Credit risk is managed by evaluating the credit worthiness and by periodical review on the credit granted.

The Company establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect of receivables 
in terms of loans and receivables. The Company policy on impairment consists of allowance for a collective impairment 
established for similar receivables in term of their credit risk on product basis where the loss event has occurred but not yet 
identified. The collective impairment is determined based on the historical data of payments statistics for similar financial assets.

27.2.1 Fair value of collateral and credit enhancements held

The following table shows the fair value of collateral and credit enhancements held by the Company.

As at 31 December 2015 2015 2014

Maximum 
exposure to 

credit risk 
Rs.

Net exposure

Rs.

 Maximum 
exposure to 

credit risk  
Rs.

Net exposure

Rs.

Cash and cash equivalents 52,060,538  50,005,361 74,818,136  73,934,796 

Balances with banks and financial institutions

41,248,371 41,248,371 38,559,797 38,559,797
Loan and receivables 1,848,660,240 1,848,660,240 1,601,885,958 1,601,885,958
Other financial assets 78,654,615 78,654,615 58,958,245 58,958,245

2,020,623,764 2,018,568,587 1,774,222,137 1,773,338,796

27.2.2 Credit quality by class of financial assets.

(a). As at 31 December 2015 Neither past 
due nor 

impaired 
Rs.

Past due but 
not impaired

Rs.

 Individually 
Impaired   

Rs.

 Total

Rs.

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 52,060,538  -    -    52,060,538 

Balances with banks and financial institutions

 41,248,371  -    -    41,248,371 

Loan and receivables  1,833,355,277  15,304,964  -    1,848,660,240 

Other financial assets  78,654,615  -    -    78,654,615 

Total financial assets  2,005,318,801  15,304,964  -    2,020,623,764 

Age analysis of past due but not impaired loans by class of financial assets

Description Less than 31 
Days 

Rs.
31 to 60 Days 

Rs.
61 to 90 Days 

Rs.

More than 90 
Days 

Rs.
Total  

Rs.

Loan and receivables  1,987,579  1,110,078  542,030  11,665,276  15,304,964 

 1,987,579  1,110,078  542,030  11,665,276  15,304,964 



Berendina Microfinance Institute (Guarantee) Limited
Annual Report - 2015

Berendina Microfinance Institute (Guarantee) Limited
Annual Report - 2015

122

(b) As at 31 December 2015 Neither past 
due nor 

impaired 
Rs.

Past due but 
not impaired

Rs.

 Individually 
Impaired   

Rs.

 Total

Rs.

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  74,818,136  -    -    74,818,136 

Balances with banks and financial institutions

 38,559,797  -    -    38,559,797 

Loan and receivables  1,580,718,780  21,167,178  -    1,601,885,958 

Other financial assets  58,958,245  -    -    58,958,245 

Total financial assets  1,753,054,959  21,167,178  -    1,774,222,137 

Age analysis of past due but not impaired loans by class of financial assets 

 Description Less than 31 
Days 

Rs.
31 to 60 Days 

Rs.
61 to 90 Days 

Rs.

More than 90 
Days 

Rs.
Total  

Rs.

Loan and receivables  8,340,941  1,204,519  506,284  11,115,434  21,167,178 

 8,340,941  1,204,519  506,284  11,115,434  21,167,178 

27.3 Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities 
that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.

 The company uses the maturity analysis all the financial instruments to manage the liquidity risk.

a) Exposure to Liquidity Risk

 The Company relies on borrowing as its primary source of funding. Company actively manages this risk through 
maintaining competitive pricing and constant monitoring of market trends. 

b) Management of Liquidity Risk

 The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity 
to meet its liabilities when due without incurring unacceptable losses or risking financial position of the company while 
maintaining regulatory requirements and debt covenants agreed with the fund providers. The Group treasury manages 
the liquidity position as per the treasury policies and procedures of the Company.

27.3.1 The maturity analysis of financial liabilities based on undiscounted gross outflow is reflected below,

(a) As at 31 
December 2015

 Carrying 
amounts 

 Gross 
nominal 
outflow

"On 
 demand"

" Up to 3  
months"

 3 to 12 
months 

"More than  
1 year"

Interest bearing 
borrowings  1,336,430,288  1,564,136,454  791,496,329  174,504,652  373,528,727  224,606,746 

Obligation under 
Finance Lease 2,686,558  3,099,602  -    537,862  1,613,585  948,155 

Other financial 
liabilities  228,708,379  195,551,701  -    34,306,257  35,455,835  125,789,609 

1,567,825,225 1,762,787,757  791,496,329  209,348,771  410,598,147  351,344,510 

Notes to the Financial Statement Contd. 
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(a)  As at 31 
December 2014

 Carrying 
amounts 

 Gross 
nominal 
outflow

"On 
 demand"

" Up to 3  
months"

 3 to 12 
months 

"More than  
1 year"

Interest bearing 
borrowings  1,226,683,143  1,435,685,416  732,199,563  157,626,165  339,709,620  206,150,069 

Obligation under 
Finance Lease  4,162,631  4,787,025  -    830,549  2,489,253  1,467,223 

Other financial 
liabilities  177,338,090  94,301,964  -    14,145,295  28,290,589  51,866,080 

 1,408,183,863  1,534,774,405  732,199,563  172,602,009  370,489,462  259,483,372 

27.4 Market Risk

 Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market 
prices. Market risk of the company mainly Comprises of interest rate risk and currency risk.

 The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable   
 parameters, while optimising the return.

27.4.1 The table below analyses the Company’s interest rate risk exposure on non-trading financial assets and liabilities. The   
Company’s assets and liabilities are included at carrying amount and categorised by the earlier of contractual 
re-pricing or maturity dates.

(a)  As at 31 December 2015 "On 
 demand"

"Less than 
 3 Months"

" 4 to 12 
 Months"

" 1 to 5 
 Years"

" Total as at  
31 December 

2015"

Interest earning assets 

Cash and cash equivalents  52,060,538  -    -    -    52,060,538 
Balances with banks and 
financial institutions  -    -    -    41,248,371  41,248,371 
Loan and receivables  15,304,964  165,475,245  246,880,128  1,420,999,904  1,848,660,240 
Other financial assets  -  12,584,738  15,730,923  50,338,954  78,654,615 
Total interest earning 
assets  67,365,502  178,059,983  262,611,051  1,512,587,228  2,020,623,764 

Interest bearing liabilities 

Interest bearing borrowings  791,496,329  86,503,028  218,576,508  239,854,425  1,336,430,288 
Obligation under Finance 
Lease  -    415,426  1,312,964  958,167  2,686,558 
Other financial liabilities  -    17,727,917  35,455,835  65,002,364  118,186,117 
Total interest bearing 
liabilities  791,496,329  104,646,372  255,345,306  305,814,956  1,457,302,963 

Gap in interest earning 
assets and interest bearing 
liabilities - net assets / 
(liabilities)  (724,130,827)  73,413,612  7,265,744  1,206,772,272  563,320,801 
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(b) As at 31 December 2014 "On 
 demand"

"Less than 
 3 Months"

" 4 to 12 
 Months"

" 1 to 5 
 Years  "

" Total as at  
31 December 

2015"

Interest earning assets 

Cash and cash equivalents  74,818,136  -    -    -    74,818,136 
Balances with banks and 
financial institutions  -    -    -    38,559,797  38,559,797 
Loan and receivables  21,167,178  117,617,972  276,456,214  1,186,644,594  1,601,885,958 
Other financial assets  -    9,433,319  11,791,649  37,733,277  58,958,245 
Total interest earning 
assets  95,985,314  127,051,291  288,247,863  1,262,937,668  1,774,222,137 

Interest bearing liabilities 

Interest bearing borrowings  732,199,563  96,685,209  244,220,349  153,578,023  1,226,683,143 
Obligation under Finance 
Lease  -    350,476  1,113,628  2,698,527  4,162,631 
Other financial liabilities  -    14,145,295  28,290,589  51,866,080  177,338,090 
Total interest bearing 
liabilities  732,199,563  111,180,979  273,624,566  208,142,629  1,408,183,863 

Gap in interest earning 
assets and interest bearing 
liabilities - net assets / 
(liabilities)  (636,214,248)  15,870,312  14,623,297  1,054,795,039  366,038,274 

27.4.2 Interest Rate Sensitivity

 The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the interest rates, with all other 
variables held constant, of the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

2015 2014

Assets Increase/ 
decrease in 

Interest Rate

Effect on profit 
before tax            

Rs.

Increase/ 
decrease in 

Interest Rate

 Effect on profit 
before tax            

Rs.

Interest Rate +100  5,633,208 +100  3,660,383 
Interest Rate -100  (5,633,208) -100  (3,660,383)

Notes to the Financial Statement Contd. 
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Notice of Meeting

NOTICE is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of Berendina Microfinance Institute (Guarantee) Limited will be 
held at No: 152, 1st Floor, Nawala Road, Nugegoda on Thursday 

31st March, 2016 at 9.00 a.m. for the following purposes :

AGENDA

1. To read the notice conveying the Meeting.

2. Tabling minutes and adopting minutes, matters arising.

3. To receive Annual Progress Report.

4. To receive and consider the report of the Directors and the statement of Audited Accounts for the financial year  
ended 31st December, 2015 and the Report of the Auditors thereon.

5. Election of Directors retiring in terms of the Articles of Association of the Company.

6. To appoint Auditors for the ensuing year and to authorize the Directors to determine their remuneration.

7. Any other business 

By order of the Board,

RNH Holdings (Pvt) Ltd

Company Secretaries
Colombo.

24th February, 2016

Encl. 1. Financial Statements for the year ended 31st December, 2015.

 2. Proxy Form.

3. Minutes of the Annual General Meeting held on 31st March, 2015.

NOTE :

1) A member entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and  
vote instead of him. 

2) A proxy need not be a member of the Company. 
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Form of Proxy

BERENDINA MICROFINANCE INSTITUTE (GUARANTEE) LIMITED

PROXY FORM.

I/We…………………..………………………………..............................................................................................................................................……………………………………………..
of…………………………………………………………………………………………………….being a member/s of the above named company hereby appoint

MR. HEWA ATAPATTUGE ANURA  of Colombo, failing him

MR. JAGATH CHANDANA GODAKANDA  of Colombo, failing him

MR. JOHANNES GERHARDUS ANTONIUS DE WITTE  of the Nederland’s, failing him

MR. JAN STEVEN CLOECK FABER  of the Netherlands, failing him

MR. RUTH DOROTHEA VAN ANDEL  of the Netherlands, failing him

MR. JOS VAN  of the Netherlands, failing him

.………………………………………………………………………………………………....................................................................................................................................................

...................................................……….of………………………………………………………………………………………………............................................................................……..
as my/our proxy, to represent me/us and to vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the 
Company to be held on Thursday 31st March, 2016 at 9.00 a.m. at No: 152, 1st Floor, Nawala Road, Nugegoda and at 
any adjournment thereof and at every poll which may be taken in consequence thereof.

signed this…….....................................…………………day of……………………..............................………2016.

   .…………….............………………

   SIGNATURE AND DATE

INSTRUCTIONS AS TO COMPLETION

i) The full name and the address of the proxy and of the shareholder appointing the proxy should be entered 
legibly in the form of proxy.

ii) The complete form of proxy should be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company, No: 152, 1st Floor, 
Nawala Road, Nugegoda not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the holding of the Meeting
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NOTES



Corporate Information
Name of the Company
Berendina Microfinance Institute (Guarantee) Limited

Legal Form
A company limited by guarantee, registered under Companies
Act No. 7 of 2007

Registration Number
GL 09

Registration Office
No.152, 1st floor, Nawala Road, Nugegoda.

Date of Incorporation
9th April 2007

Principal Activities
Provision of microfinance and enterprise development services

Company Secretary
RNH Holdings (Pvt) Ltd
RNH House, 622B, Kotte Road, Kotte, Sri Lanka.

Auditors
Ernst & Young Chartered Accountants
No. 201, De Saram Place, Colombo 10, Sri Lanka.

Bankers
People’s Bank
No. 75, Chittampalam A Gardiner Mawatha, Colombo 02, Sri Lanka.

Sampath Bank
No. 111, Sir James Peiris Mawatha, Colombo 02, Sri Lanka.

Bank of Ceylon
No. 4, Bank of Ceylon Road, Colombo 01, Sri Lanka.
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